
           

FINAL AGENDA
 

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING
TUESDAY
OCTOBER 1, 2013

  COUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN AVENUE

4:00 P.M. AND 6:00 P.M.
 

4:00 P.M. MEETING
 

Individual Items on the 4:00 p.m. meeting agenda may be postponed to the 6:00 p.m.
meeting.

             

1. CALL TO ORDER
 

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
 
Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and
to the general public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may vote to go into
executive session, which will not be open to the public, for legal advice and discussion with
the City’s attorneys for legal advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to
A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).

 

2. ROLL CALL

NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other
technological means .

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER

COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER WOODSON

 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND MISSION STATEMENT

MISSION STATEMENT
 

The mission of the City of Flagstaff is to protect and enhance the quality of life of its citizens.
 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS
 

A.   Consideration and Approval of Minutes: City Council Work Session of September 10,
2013; Regular Meeting of September 17, 2013; Special Meeting (Executive Session) of
September 24, 2013; and Combined Special Meeting/Work Session of September 24, 2013.

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Amend/approve the minutes of the City Council Work Session of September 10, 2013;

Regular Meeting of September 17, 2013; Special Meeting (Executive Session) of
September 24, 2013; and Combined Special Meeting/Work Session of September 24,
2013.

 

5. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 



5. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Public Participation enables the public to address the Council about an item that is not on the
agenda (or is listed under Possible Future Agenda Items). Comments relating to items that
are on the agenda will be taken at the time that the item is discussed. If you wish to address
the Council at tonight's meeting, please complete a comment card and submit it to the
recording clerk as soon as possible. Your name will be called when it is your turn to speak.
You may address the Council up to three times throughout the meeting, including comments
made during Public Participation. Please limit your remarks to three minutes per item to allow
everyone an opportunity to speak. At the discretion of the Chair, ten or more persons present
at the meeting and wishing to speak may appoint a representative who may have no more
than fifteen minutes to speak. 

 

6. PROCLAMATIONS AND RECOGNITIONS

None 
 

7. APPOINTMENTS

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and
to the general public that the City Council may vote to go into executive session, which will not
be open to the public, for the purpose of discussing or considering employment, assignment,
appointment, promotion, demotion, dismissal, salaries, disciplining or resignation of a public
officer, appointee, or employee of any public body...., pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(1).

 

A.   Consideration of Appointments:  Personnel Board.
  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Make one appointment to term expiring October 2016.
 

B.   Consideration of Appointments:  Board of Adjustment.
  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Make one appointment to term expiring May 2016.
 

C.   Consideration of Appointments:  Beautification & Public Art Commission (BPAC).
  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Make one Art Community appointment to a term expiring June 2016.

Make two At-Large appointments to terms expiring June 2016.
 

8. LIQUOR LICENSE PUBLIC HEARINGS

None
 

9. CONSENT ITEMS
All matters under Consent Agenda are considered by the City Council to be routine and will
be enacted by one motion approving the recommendations listed on the agenda. Unless
otherwise indicated , expenditures approved by Council are budgeted items.

 

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting October 1, 2013                           2 



             

A.   Consideration and Approval of Cooperative Contract:  With Coconino County for Bulk
Unleaded Fuel, bid number 2014-04 to Pro Petroleum of Phoenix, Arizona in the amount of
$.0325 per gallon below O.P.I.S. (Oil Prices Information Services).

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Approve the Cooperative Contract for Bulk Unleaded Fuel with Pro Petroleum. 
 

B.   Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Brannen Homes AZ6-2 Re-Roofing Contract
for 22 buidings-46 dwelling units at Brannen Circle.

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Award the Re-Roofing contract to Centennial Contractors in the amount of

$114,911.91; and
2) Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.  

 

C.   Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2013-24:  A resolution adopting a new
City of Flagstaff 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan and establishing an effective date.

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Read Resolution No. 2013-24 by title only

2) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2013-24 (if approved above)
3) Adopt Resolution No. 2013-24.

 

10. ROUTINE ITEMS
 

A.   Consideration and Approval of Grant Intergovernmental Agreement Amendment #1:
Pine Knoll Drive Safe Routes to School Project. 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Approve Amendment #1 to the existing Intergovernmental Agreement/Joint Project

Agreement (IGA) between the City of Flagstaff and Arizona Department of
Transportation (ADOT) for additional grant funds in the amount of $90,897.00 for design
services and ADOT review fees. 

 

B.   Consideration of Ratifying the Grant Agreement:  between the City of Flagstaff and the
U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Aviation Administration for the Westplex Taxi
Lanes Reconstruction Project at Flagstaff Pulliam Airport.

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Ratify the Grant Agreement with the U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal

Aviation Administration (FAA) in the amount of $4,905,017 for the Westplex Taxi Lanes
Reconstruction Project.

 

C.   Consideration of Ratifying the Grant Agreement: between the City of Flagstaff and the
U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Aviation Administration for the Sustainability
Master Plan at Flagstaff Pulliam Airport.

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Ratify the Grant Agreement with the U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal

Aviation Administration (FAA) in the amount of $270,000 for the Sustainability Master
Plan.

 

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting October 1, 2013                           3 



             

D.   Presentation of Northern Arizona Public Employees Benefits Trust (NAPEBT)
Wellness Incentive Program

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Informational presentation with opportunity to ask questions and provide input regarding

the NAPEBT Wellness Incentive Program
 

RECESS 

6:00 P.M. MEETING

RECONVENE
 

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
 

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council
and to the general public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may vote to go into
executive session, which will not be open to the public, for legal advice and discussion with
the City’s attorneys for legal advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to
A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).

 

11. ROLL CALL

NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other
technological means.

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER

COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER WOODSON 

 

12. CARRY OVER ITEMS FROM THE 4:00 P.M. AGENDA
 

13. PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS

None
 

14. REGULAR AGENDA
 

A.   Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2013-25:  A resolution of the Council of
the City of Flagstaff, Arizona concerning Arizona's immigration discussion.

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Read Resolution No. 2013-25 by title only

2) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2013-25 by title only (if approved above)
3) Adopt Resolution No. 2013-25

 

15. DISCUSSION ITEMS
 

A.   Discussion of the Subsidiary Decision Points that will guide the City's
Redevelopment and Infill Policy

 

B.   Regional Plan Discussion #5 - Ch. VIII. Community Character, Prefatory Language

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting October 1, 2013                           4 



B.   Regional Plan Discussion #5 - Ch. VIII. Community Character, Prefatory Language

THIS ITEM WILL NOT BE DISCUSSED BEFORE 7:00 P.M.

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Staff will present a brief background of data, public comment input, and policies for 

Chapter VIII. Community Character of the Flagstaff Regional Plan.  Council may wish
to open the discussion for public comment at this time, followed by discussion on any
concerns regarding this chapter or policies to put on the 'Policy Parking Lot' list for
further Council discussion, debate and decision in November and December.

 

16. POSSIBLE FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS

Verbal comments from the public on any item under this section must be given during Public
Participation (#5) near the beginning of the meeting. Written comments may be submitted to
the City Clerk. After discussion and upon agreement of three members of the Council, an
item will be moved to a regularly-scheduled Council meeting.

 

A. Request by Councilmember Oravits to place on a future agenda possible financial
assistance for Flagstaff Shelter

 

B. Request by Vice Mayor Evans to hold a future Work Session on a Veterans issues
update

 

17. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
 

18. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS AND REPORTS FROM COUNCIL AND STAFF, REQUESTS
FOR FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS

 

19. ADJOURNMENT
 

CERTIFICATE OF POSTING OF NOTICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that a copy of the foregoing notice was duly posted at Flagstaff City Hall
on ______________________ , at _________ a.m./p.m. in accordance with the statement filed by the City Council with the
City Clerk.

Dated this _____ day of _________________, 2013.

____________________________________
Elizabeth A. Burke, MMC, City Clerk                                 

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting October 1, 2013                           5 



  4. A.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Elizabeth A. Burke, City Clerk

Date: 09/27/2013

Meeting Date: 10/01/2013

TITLE
Consideration and Approval of Minutes: City Council Work Session of September 10, 2013; Regular
Meeting of September 17, 2013; Special Meeting (Executive Session) of September 24, 2013; and
Combined Special Meeting/Work Session of September 24, 2013.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Amend/approve the minutes of the City Council Work Session of September 10, 2013; Regular
Meeting of September 17, 2013; Special Meeting (Executive Session) of September 24, 2013; and
Combined Special Meeting/Work Session of September 24, 2013.

INFORMATION
Attached are copies of the minutes of the City Council Work Session of September 10, 2013; Regular
Meeting of September 17, 2013; Special Meeting (Executive Session) of September 24, 2013; and
Combined Special Meeting/Work Session of September 24, 2013.

Attachments:  CCWS.09102013.Minutes
CCRM.09172013.Minutes
CCSM.09242013.Minutes
CCWS.09242013.Minutes



MINUTES 
 

WORK SESSION 
TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2013 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
211 WEST ASPEN AVENUE 

6:00 P.M. 
 
1. Call to Order. 

 
 Mayor Nabours called the Work Session of September 10, 2013, to order at 6:03 p.m. 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
 The City Council and audience recited the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
3. Roll Call 

 
Councilmembers present: Councilmembers absent: 
 
MAYOR NABOURS None 
VICE MAYOR EVANS  
COUNCILMEMBER BAROTZ  
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER  
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS 
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON 
COUNCILMEMBER WOODSON 
 

 Others present: City Manager Kevin Burke; City Attorney Michelle D’Andrea. 
 
4.       Public Participation 
  

Public Participation enables the public to address the council about items that are not on 
the prepared agenda. Public Participation appears on the agenda twice, at the beginning 
and at the end of the work session. You may speak at one or the other, but not both. 
Anyone wishing to comment at the meeting is asked to fill out a speaker card and submit 
it to the recording clerk. When the item comes up on the agenda, your name will be 
called. You may address the Council up to three times throughout the meeting, including 
comments made during Public Participation. Please limit your remarks to three minutes 
per item to allow everyone to have an opportunity to speak. At the discretion of the 
Chair, ten or more persons present at the meeting and wishing to speak may appoint a 
representative who may have no more than fifteen minutes to speak.  

 
 Roger Boone, Flagstaff, asked that the Tea Party name be removed from list of 

“Contributors” at the front of the Regional Plan book. 
 
 Mayor Nabours reported that he would be moving up the Regional Plan discussion to 

take place immediately following the presentation by Coconino Community College. 
 
 



Flagstaff City Council 
Work Session of September 10, 2013  Page 2 

5.       Preliminary Review of Draft Agenda for the September 17, 2013, City Council 
Meeting.* 

 
*Public comment on draft agenda items may be taken under “Review of Draft Agenda 
Items” later in the meeting, at the discretion of the Mayor. Citizens wishing to speak on 
agenda items not specifically called out by the City Council for discussion under the 
second Review section may submit a speaker card for their items of interest to the 
recording clerk. 

 
 Councilmember Barotz requested that the Wildlife Ordinance be moved to the 6:00 p.m. 

portion of next week’s meeting. 
 
6.         Presentation on Coconino Community College Election Issue  
 
 Jami Van Ess, Vice President of Business and Administrative Services of Coconino 

Community College, gave a PowerPoint presentation which addressed the following: 
 
 CCC IS AT THE HEART OF EDUCATION IN COCONINO COUNTY 
 CCC’S THREE CORE MISSIONS 
 CORE MISSION:  1) ARTS & SCIENCES   
 CORE MISSION:  2) CAREER & TECHNICAL EDUCATION 
 CORE MISSION:  3) WORKFORCE TRAINING 
 CCC’S FUNDING SOURCES     
 CCC’S FINANCIAL DILEMMA 
 LOWEST PROPERTY TAX RATE IN ARIZONA 
 CCC’S RESPONSE 
 TUITION & FEES 
 HIGHEST STUDENT TUITION IN ARIZONA 
 100 COST SAVING INITIATIVES 
  RAISING TUITION & COST SAVING INITIATIVES 
 THREE CORE MISSIONS – REVIEW 
 OVERRIDE ELECTION – NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
  
 Mayor Nabours asked if there would be a reduction in tuition if the issue passed in the 

election. Ms. Van Ess replied that it would be up to the Governing Board, but it would 
help reduce any increases that would normally be required during the next several 
years. 

  
 Councilmember Overton asked if the data demonstrated where they compared with 

Mohave when they added tuition and property taxes together. Ms. Van Ess said that she 
did not have that information with her, but it was available and she would get it to the 
Council members. 

 
 The following individuals spoke in favor of the bond issue on the ballot in November 

2013 for the Coconino Community College District: 
 
 Lavelle McCoy 
 Joe Donaldson 
 
 Councilmember Brewster said that she understood that as a governmental entity they 

were somewhat limited in advertising support for the ballot issue, and asked what they 



Flagstaff City Council 
Work Session of September 10, 2013  Page 3 

had planned for getting the word out. Ms. Van Ess replied that they would be making 
several presentations like the one provided this evening, and there would be mailings 
and additional meetings. Additionally, she said that they had some employees 
distributing door hangars on their own time. 

 
 Councilmember Barotz thanked Mr. Donaldson and Mr. McCoy for their leadership for 

many years. Mayor Nabours thanked Ms. Van Ess for the presentation. 
 
 Mayor Nabours said that the Regional Plan presentations will be taking place at nearly 

every meeting between now and the holidays, and in order to provide some order for the 
public to plan accordingly they would not begin the presentations until after 7:00 p.m. at 
future meetings. 

 
8.         Regional Plan Discussion #2 - Environment and Open Space Chapters  
  
 Comprehensive Planning Manager Kim Sharp said that she would like to address two 

points that have been brought up in the past. First, many people have mentioned a 
Property Maintenance Ordinance. She said that staff did remove it from the text; 
however, it is mentioned once in the Plan on Page 59 of Land Use, in the tool box that a 
future Council could use. If Council wished to remove it altogether they could do that. 

 
 Second, Mayor Nabours had previously suggested a few examples of different project 

that could come forward in the future and how it would be addressed through the Plan. 
She said that those would be related to the Land Use portion of the Plan and when Land 
Use comes before the Council they will have had an opportunity to prepare a few 
examples and will bring them forward at that time. 

 
 Mayor Nabours asked that they also address which sections of the Plan are required by 

State Statutes and which ones have been done as options. Ms. Sharp said that she 
could prepare that answer for next week’s meeting. She then began a PowerPoint 
presentation which addressed the following: 

  
 NATURAL ENVIRONMENT 
 THE REGIONAL PLAN VISION 

GUIDING PRINCIPLES 
ENVIRONMENTAL PLANNING PUBLIC PROCESS 
 
Ms. Sharp said that these two sections of the Plan probably had the most other agencies 
involved. She also noted that the biggest different between the 2001 Plan and the 
proposed 2013 Plan for the Environmental Resources Map was that in the 2001 Map it 
showed Urban Open Space and Rural Open Space. Most were steep slopes and 
floodplains and as projects were brought forward, that caused conflict. So the proposed 
map states the facts. It states what is there. 
 
WHERE ARE OUR NATURAL RESOURCES?   
CONCENTRATION OF NATURAL RESOURCES 
CONSIDERATIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT  
ENVIRONMENTAL PLANNING CHAPTER 
    GOALS: 
 Air Quality (1) 
 Climate Change (3) 



Flagstaff City Council 
Work Session of September 10, 2013  Page 4 

 Dark Skies (1) 
 Ecosystem Health (1) 
 Environmentally Sensitive Lands (1) 
 Natural Quiet (1) 
 Soils (1) 
 Wildlife (1) 
OPEN SPACE 
    GOALS: 

 Open Space (1) 
 

Ms. Sharp then reviewed the proposed calendar, noting that October 8 was the night 
scheduled to discuss Land Use, and that was when they would have sample projects.  
 
Mayor Nabours, referring to Dark Skies under 4.13, asked for clarification on the 
“restricting economic activity centers…Lighting Zone 1.” He asked if Zone 1 was 
referring to the downtown area. Mr. Eastman said that Zone 1 was a small band that 
includes a number of properties east of the Lowell Observatory and south toward 
Presidio in the Pines, and would include some of West Route 66. 
 
Ms. Sharp said that the suggestions from the astronomers was to be careful in these 
areas and give consideration to what type of activity would be going on there. It was a 
recommendation to talk to each other as development happens 
 
After further discussion, Mayor Nabours requested that the Lighting in Zone 1 
Restrictions be placed in the Parking Lot. 
 
Mayor Nabours said that he liked the disclaimer on Map 8 that read “this does not 
preclude development rights” and asked if a similar disclaimer could be included for the 
entire document. He asked that this issue be placed in the Parking Lot. 
 
Councilmember Brewster said that she had concerns with the word “policy” as when she 
thinks of that word she thinks of a written law.  
 
Councilmember Oravits said that he liked the idea of the disclaimer. He said that he, too, 
had issues with the wording and said that they could cut down on a lot of the editing if 
they were able to remove the definitive language. He said that he hears that it is the 
“vision,” but when they add in the definitive wording, it changes it. He asked if it was a 
guide or suggestion, or if it was a policy. He said that he has received some e-mails 
lately from many that see this as a tool to pressure changes to the laws. He asked that 
the Parking Lot include discussion on 1) changing the terminology overall, and 
2) whether it was a tool or policy. 
 
Mr. Cronk said that this was a discussion of the CAC and he said there were different 
levels of strength in the words. He said that they tried to not make anything required. 
 
Mayor Nabours said that Page 1.4 shows the triangle and gave definitions of policy, and 
suggested they revisit that page. Mr. Burke said that an example is that there may be a 
goal to achieve 1990 emissions by 2015. There is no consequence if they do not reach 
it. 
 



Flagstaff City Council 
Work Session of September 10, 2013  Page 5 

Councilmember Barotz suggested that they include a definition of an ordinance, to show 
the distinction between that and a policy. Mr. Cronk said that this was why the Appendix 
was added for the strategies, because they were good ideas, but did not have the force 
of a policy. He added that the current Regional Plan included strategies but they were 
removed from the proposed Plan, and included as an Appendix. 
 
Councilmember Woodson cautioned the use of words such as “all.” He said that he liked 
the way that they had indicated those policies that were County, such as with the soils. 
He asked that they add to the Parking Lot the enforcement of existing ordinances. 
 
Vice Mayor Evans said that it would be good to discuss the issue of enforcement of 
existing ordinances. In reference to Pages 4-15 in the box, she asked that they add the 
wording “buy and build” to the Parking Lot. 
 
Mr. Burke said that he did not see a definition for Conservation Land System. Ms. Sharp 
said that they started with the Natural Environment Maps, establishing what was in the 
community that was important to the ecosystem health, and then they would determine a 
plan of action to protect it. She said that it was more of a nature conservancy. She said 
that there was a group starting on it. She agreed that there needed to be a definition, 
and they were looking at multijurisdictional stakeholder to do it, not government. She 
said that the discussion was that the City would have a seat at it. 
 
The following individuals spoke about the Regional Plan: 
 
Bill McCullough, resident 
Sat Best, resident and member of County Planning and Zoning Commission 
Moran Henn, representing Friends of Flagstaff’s Future 
Carol Kendall 
Carol Kendall (read a letter from Cindy Sherman) 
Susan Bean, resident and member of the CAC 
 
Comments made by the public included: 
 
They came to Flagstaff for the vision laid out in the sections. Was not is disagreement 
with them and they certainly want to capture them and keep them, but wording is critical. 
Saw the Regional Plan as a “values document,” not an ordinance. They elect wise 
people to balance the values, such as economic opportunity, private property, 
transportation, affordable housing. Appreciated the strong language. Did not see it as 
legal language, but rather values language. 
Supported the environment planning and conservation. The document gives direction 
to the government as to what the community wants rather than the government telling 
them what they need to do. They must show a commitment to the vision. 
Concerned about the current wording of the Plan. 
Agreed with many who had already spoken. The Regional Plan is not a set of 
regulations, but rather a document required by the State to inform everyone about 
infrastructure and a compilation of information that a developer or citizen may find 
helpful. The CAC worked hard to be respectful of private property rights. Would 
appreciate it if it provides enough information to be helpful, but also clarify that it is was 
not intended as regulatory. 
 



Flagstaff City Council 
Work Session of September 10, 2013  Page 6 

Councilmember Oravits said that one of the problems is that many get conflicted from 
the wording, such as in the Open Space section where it states, “contain and direct 
growth.” He said that the word “contain” sounds specific to him. Ms. Bean said that she 
believed that some of the Councilmembers were present during the CAC meetings—
they were dense, heaving, long and confusing. She thought that the document was 
spectacular, but it was a draft and every time she looks at it she has different questions. 
It was valuable to have the Council’s insight, but they want it to be something that is 
inclusive of everyone’s ideas. Councilmember Oravits thanked Ms. Bean for her service 
on the CAC. 
 
A short break was taken from 7:34 p.m. to 7:43 p.m. 
 
Continued public input was received from the following individuals: 
 
Tom Martin, resident 
Tish Bogan-Ozmur 
Joy Staveley 
Lance Diskan, member of the Dark Skies Coalition 
Gabor Kovacs 
Angela Horvath 
Roger Boone 
Janice Spritzer 
Richard Miller, member of the Open Space Commission 
Alicyn Gitlin 
Gaylord Staveley 
Luis Anderson 
Judy Sall (comments read by Luis Anderson) 
 
Comments from the public included: 
 
The Council was thanked for their service.  
It was the sense of “community” that had them all interested in the vision for tomorrow. 
Between dark skies and air quality, as a few examples, the Plan is important to the entire 
community and he would encourage them to make it a stronger document for the 
preservation of their children. 
Concern was voiced re word “policy”, noting that it has been used in the current 
Regional Plan as well, and would suggest that they continue using it as it has been 
used. 
Voiced concern with wording in the Plan suggesting that the statement, “open space be 
preserved, regardless of ownership” is why it was so important that they have no policy 
that disrespects ownership. 
Supported the section of protection of the dark skies.  
Thanked the members of the community that served on the CAC for their recognition in 
the document on the importance of dark skies.  
The Regional Plan was not an issue of economics versus environment. 
Environmental Section of the Plan was the most politically-charged section. Glad to see 
many had concerns with the verbiage and it was one of the tactics frequently used to 
force future regulations. 
A lot of the policies focus on their values and she would like to add the value of health, 
not only the lack of disease but also its prevention.  



Flagstaff City Council 
Work Session of September 10, 2013  Page 7 

Plan should be renamed a dream. The Plan was too big, too broad, too encompassing, 
and too restrictive. 
Commended the Council on the discussion, even though they were difficult issues to 
discuss. 
Flagstaff should go back to being a logging community and being stewards. Forest land 
has been mismanaged. That resource has burned, and is worthless now.  
Founding Fathers would have never agreed to this Plan. 
Has lived here more than 15 years and just moved to downtown, to a higher density 
area.  
Appreciated that the City has invested in things like trails and watchable wildlife. 
Plan did not address consequences in a balanced method. 
 
Mayor Nabours said that his concern was that they adopt a Plan and then have 
unintended consequences. 
 
Councilmember Brewster said that she appreciated the work that had gone into the Plan. 
She said that it did focus on environment more than specific things. She said that it was 
a massive document and if they thought that people were going to be able to read it 
before they vote on it that would not happen. 
 
It was suggested that the following issues be added to the Parking Lot: 
 
Under Environmental Planning, Vision for the Future, adding, “while preserving private 
property rights.” 
Disclaimer present on some of the maps being added to each page of the maps. 
Descriptions, guidelines would be more appropriate in an appendix or in the back. 
Air quality – general discussion on aspect of wood burning. 
Debate high density 
Dark Skies – restricting activity centers 
Existing signs and property values 
Conflict is they start naming certain nonprofit organizations 
 
Councilmember Overton said that he listened last week, and again tonight, and while he 
had some concerns with parts of the document, he disagreed 100%. He sees the Plan 
as a policy and he would encourage everyone to look at how they define policy and their 
leadership role. He said that there have been a lot of issues put on the Parking Lot and 
he can ensure them that these issues have been vetted. If the voters do not care for the 
plan, they will not support it. He suggested that everyone review the explanation given at 
the beginning by Kevin Burke and Michelle D’Andrea about the purpose of the Regional 
Plan. 
 
After further discussion it was agreed that before moving forward with review of the Plan, 
the Council would discuss the language used within the Regional Plan. It was also noted 
that they wanted to adopt a Plan that the voters would approve. 
 
A break was taken between 8:58 p.m. and 9:08 p.m. 

 
 
 
 



Flagstaff City Council 
Work Session of September 10, 2013  Page 8 

7.         Discussion of the Subsidiary Decision Points that will guide the City's 
Redevelopment and Infill Policy.   

 
 Mayor Nabours said that this was a lengthy staff summary and it was a very involved 

process. With the lateness of the hour, Council was requesting that the item be moved to 
another agenda that would allow them at least two hours or more to discussion. 

 
9.      Review of Draft Agenda Items for the September 17, 2013, City Council Meeting.* 

  
 * Public comment on draft agenda items will be taken at this time, at the discretion of the 

Mayor. 
 
 None. 
 
10.       Public Participation  
 
 None 
 
11.       Informational Items To/From Mayor, Council, and City Manager. 
 
 Vice Mayor Evans reported that on Saturday from 2 p.m. to 7 p.m. they would be holding 

the 10th Annual Gem of Sunnyside Independence Celebration. 
 
 Councilmember Overton said that during the Public Participation, and during the 

Regional Plan, they should not be allowing members of the public to read statements for 
someone else. Mr. Burke noted that it was a protocol issue. They could have three 
minutes total—if they could make their statement and read the other statement within the 
three minutes, that would be permitted, but they should not be permitted three minutes 
for each. 

 
 Mayor Nabours asked that a Possible Future Agenda Item include a short-term waiver of 

all or partial sales tax on vehicles to promote buying locally in the Flagstaff area. 
 
12.       Adjournment  

     
 The Work Session of the Flagstaff City Council held September 10, 2013, adjourned at 

9:13 p.m. 
 
 

 
             
      _________________________________________ 
      MAYOR 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_________________________________  
CITY CLERK 

 



MINUTES 
 

                  REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
            TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 17, 2013 

            COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
            211 WEST ASPEN AVENUE 

4:00 P.M. AND 6:00 P.M. 
 
 
 
1.       CALL TO ORDER 
  
 Mayor Nabours called the meeting to order at 4:03 p.m. 
 

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION 
  

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City 
Council and to the general public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may vote 
to go into executive session, which will not be open to the public, for legal advice and 
discussion with the City’s attorneys for legal advice on any item listed on the following 
agenda, pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3). 

 
2.     ROLL CALL 
 

NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other 
technological means. 

 
Present: 
 
MAYOR NABOURS 
VICE MAYOR EVANS 
COUNCILMEMBER BAROTZ 
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER  
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS 
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON 
COUNCILMEMBER WOODSON 

Absent: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 Others present: City Manager Kevin Burke; City Attorney Michelle D’Andrea. 
 
3.       PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND MISSION STATEMENT 

 
 The City Council and audience recited the Pledge of Allegiance and Mayor Nabours 

read the City’s Mission Statement. 
 

MISSION STATEMENT 
  
 The mission of the City of Flagstaff is to protect and enhance the quality of life of its 

citizens. 
 
 



Flagstaff City Council 
Regular Meeting of September 17, 2013  Page 2 
 
4.       APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS  

 
A.      Consideration and Approval of Minutes: City Council Regular Meeting of 

September 3, 2013; the Joint Work Session with Coconino County Board of 
Supervisors of September 9, 2013; and the Special Meeting (Executive Session) 
of September 10, 2013.  

 
 Mayor Nabours noted one correction that he had previously given to the City 

Clerk, on page 12 of the September 3, 2013, minutes, to remove “from interest” 
regarding the Community Banking Program. 

 
 Councilmember Overton moved to approve the minutes [City Council 

Regular Meeting of September 3, 2013; the Joint Work Session with 
Coconino County Board of Supervisors of September 9, 2013; and the 
Special Meeting (Executive Session) of September 10, 2013] as amended; 
seconded; passed unanimously. 

 
5.      PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  

 
Public Participation enables the public to address the Council about an item that is not 
on the agenda (or is listed under Possible Future Agenda Items). Comments relating to 
items that are on the agenda will be taken at the time that the item is discussed. If you 
wish to address the Council at tonight's meeting, please complete a comment card and 
submit it to the recording clerk as soon as possible. Your name will be called when it is 
your turn to speak. You may address the Council up to three times throughout the 
meeting, including comments made during Public Participation. Please limit your 
remarks to three minutes per item to allow everyone an opportunity to speak. At the 
discretion of the Chair, ten or more persons present at the meeting and wishing to speak 
may appoint a representative who may have no more than fifteen minutes to speak.   

 
 None 
 
6.       PROCLAMATIONS AND RECOGNITIONS 
 
 None 
 
7.       APPOINTMENTS 

 
Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City 
Council and to the general public that the City Council may vote to go into executive 
session, which will not be open to the public, for the purpose of discussing or 
considering employment, assignment, appointment, promotion, demotion, dismissal, 
salaries, disciplining or resignation of a public officer, appointee, or employee of any 
public body...., pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(1). 
 
None  
 

8.       LIQUOR LICENSE PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
 None  



Flagstaff City Council 
Regular Meeting of September 17, 2013  Page 3 
 
 
9.       CONSENT ITEMS 

 
All matters under Consent Agenda are considered by the City Council to be routine and 
will be enacted by one motion approving the recommendations listed on the agenda. 
Unless otherwise indicated, expenditures approved by Council are budgeted items. 

 
A.         Emergency Purchase of a 700 HP Variable Frequency Drive(VFD) Motor 

Control for the Shop Well  
      
 Councilmember Overton moved to approve [the purchase from Applied 

Ingenuity, LLC in the amount of $94,797.00; seconded; passed 
unanimously]; seconded; passed unanimously. 

 
10.       ROUTINE ITEMS  
 

A. Consideration of Amendment No. Two regarding the Intergovernmental 
Agreement (IGA)/Joint Project Agreement (JPA):  #11-096I between the City 
of Flagstaff (City) and the Arizona Department of Transportation (ADOT) for the 
FY 2013 Highway Safety Improvement Program (HSIP), Transverse Pavement 
Marking Improvement Program. 
 
Randy Whitaker, Project Manager for Traffic, reviewed the project, noting that 
the Arizona Department of Transportation (ADOT) was actually administering the 
grant program, while the City reviews and consents to the scope of work. 
 
Mayor Nabours said that it was 100% federally funded, but in the middle of Page 
2 of the agreement there was wording that the City was responsible for any costs 
in excess of the contract. Mr. Whitaker said that at this time there was very little 
risk since the contract has been bid. If there was a cost overrun the City could 
always request for additional federal funding, or reduce the scope of work. 
 
Councilmember Overton moved to Approve Amendment No. Two 
[regarding the IGA/JPA between the City of Flagstaff and Arizona 
Department of Transportation]; seconded; passed unanimously. 
 

B.   Consideration and Adoption of Ordinance No.  2013-06:  An Ordinance 
amending Flagstaff City Code Title 2, Boards and Commissions, Chapter 2-12, 
Transportation Commission, for the purpose of changing the membership of the 
Transportation Commission, and removing the Commission's appellate authority.  

 
 Councilmember Overton moved to read Ordinance No. 2013-06 by title only 

for the final time; seconded; passed unanimously. 
 
 AN ORDINANCE AMENDING FLAGSTAFF CITY CODE TITLE 2, BOARDS 

AND COMMISSIONS, CHAPTER 2-12, TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION, 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF CHANGING THE MEMBERSHIP OF THE 
FLAGSTAFF TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION, AND REMOVING THE 
COMMISSION’S APPELLATE AUTHORITY  

 



Flagstaff City Council 
Regular Meeting of September 17, 2013  Page 4 
 

 Councilmember Oravits moved to adopt Ordinance No. 2013-06; seconded; 
passed unanimously.  

 
C.    Consideration and Approval of Miscellaneous Receivable Account Write-

offs: Delinquent and uncollectable accounts for Fiscal Year 2013.  
      

Mayor Nabours said that they would discuss all three of the next items together. 
 
  Revenue Director Andy Wagemaker reviewed the steps their department works 

through on the various types of late accounts before getting to the stage of 
writing them off. He said that are able to collect on these when a piece of 
property is paid off, and if a customer comes in later for service they are required 
to pay it off before new service is provided. 

 
 Mayor Nabours noted that although the numbers are high, they are made up of 

many small accounts, with only a handful over $500. Additionally, he said that 
with sales tax gross receives at $15 million, writing off $100,000 was a small 
amount. 

 
 Mayor Nabours moved to approve the accounts receivable write-offs as 

recommended in the areas of miscellaneous revenue ($3,831.73), 
transaction privilege tax ($100,866.05) and utility accounts ($121,300.64); 
seconded; passed unanimously. 

  
D.       Consideration and Approval of Transaction Privilege (Sales) Tax Account 

Write-offs: Delinquent and uncollectable accounts for Fiscal Year 2013. 
 
E.       Consideration and Approval of Utility Account Write-offs: Delinquent and 

uncollectable accounts for Fiscal Year 2013.  
      
F.      Consideration and Approval of an Intergovernmental Agreement with 

Northern Arizona Council of Governments (NACOG) to continue operation of 
their Head Start programs at five city-owned facilities.    

      
 Assistant to the City Manager – Real Estate David McIntire said that the 

proposed Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) brings together five existing leases 
for Head Start into one document. He said that the federal funding requires a 
local match, but the buildings provide that match for the City. He said that it 
provides for 400 children and 90 different jobs in the community. He added that 
this program has been in Flagstaff for over 30 years, working out of these five 
locations. 

 
 Mr. McIntire noted that Head Start provides maintenance and insurance, 

although sometimes assistance with maintenance is provided through the City. 
 
 Councilmember Overton moved to approve the intergovernmental 

agreement to allow NACOG to continue operating Head Start programs 
at the five locations where they currently are operating; seconded; passed 
unanimously. 

 



Flagstaff City Council 
Regular Meeting of September 17, 2013  Page 5 
 

G.        City Manager Excellence Awards.  
 
 City Manager Kevin Burke came forward and presented the following awards to 

City employees and Council congratulated each: 
 
 Fremont (Teamwork)  Patrick Brown 
 Fremont (Quality)  James Duval 
 Fremont (Accountability) William “Rod” Liebe 
 Fremont (Communication) Corp. Charles Hernandez II 
 Fremont (Leadership)  Officer Dave Saurer 
 

Agassiz (Teamwork)  Andy Wagemaker, Ranbir Cheema, Wayne 
Anderson, Carrie Teich, Chad Stiller, Rick Tadder, 
Dolores Ramirez, Jenylyn Bills, Sue Miller, Sharon 
Gonzales, and Robin Mosness  

Agassiz (Communication) Chris Monteverde 
Agassiz (Quality) Nicole Woodman 
Agassiz (Accountability) Detective Casey Rucker 
Agassiz (Leadership) Glorice Pavey 
 
Humphreys Kimberly Sharp  

 
RECESS  
 
The Regular Meeting of the Flagstaff City Council held Tuesday, September 17, 2013, recessed 
at 4:51 p.m. at which time a reception was held for the award recipients. 

 
 

6:00 P.M. MEETING 
 
RECONVENE 
     
Mayor Nabours reconvened the Regular Meeting of the Flagstaff City Council held 
September 17, 2013, to order at 6:05 p.m. 
  

              NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION 
  

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City 
Council and to the general public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may 
vote to go into executive session, which will not be open to the public, for legal 
advice and discussion with the City’s attorneys for legal advice on any item listed on 
the following agenda, pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Flagstaff City Council 
Regular Meeting of September 17, 2013  Page 6 
 
11.       ROLL CALL 
 

NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other 
technological means. 

 
Present: 
 
MAYOR NABOURS 
VICE MAYOR EVANS 
COUNCILMEMBER BAROTZ 
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER  
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS 
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON 
COUNCILMEMBER WOODSON 

Absent: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 Others present: City Manager Kevin Burke; City Attorney Michelle D’Andrea. 
 
 Mayor Nabours opened up Public Participation for anyone wishing to address the 

Council on an item not on the agenda. 
 
 Jeff Knorr, representing Flagstaff Shelter Services, addressed the Council requesting 

assistance with funding to allow their services to remain open. 
 
12.       CARRY OVER ITEMS FROM THE 4:00 P.M. AGENDA 
 
 None 
 
13.       PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS 
 
 None  
 
14.       REGULAR AGENDA 
 

A.     Consideration of Ordinance No. 2013-20: An Ordinance adopting the 
prohibition of intentionally, knowingly or recklessly feeding wildlife.  

 
 Deputy Police Chief Walt Miller addressed the Council, briefly reviewing the 

proposed ordinance. 
 
 The following individuals spoke against the wildlife feeding ordinance: 
 
 Joe Farnsworth 
 Joe Ray 
  
 Comments from those opposed to the ordinance included: 
 
 The Mayor said it would not cost the City a dime, but if the City takes it on, it 

also takes on the liability 
 In the last four years Game & Fish has received 15 calls in the City limits 

regarding wildlife, two were for mountain lions. 



Flagstaff City Council 
Regular Meeting of September 17, 2013  Page 7 
 

 The following individual spoke in favor of the proposed ordinance: 
  
 Nancy 
 
 Councilmember Barotz said that over the weekend she spent time rewriting the 

“whereas” clauses to better reflect the wishes of the citizens. 
 
 Brief discussion was held on whether the exceptions would address such things 

as feeding bread to the ducks at the lake. Mr. Phoenix with Game & Fish said 
that it was not the intent, nor the purpose, of the ordinance. 

 
 Councilmember Oravits said that he was happy they addressed the issue of 

gardens, and if they would include wording to address the duck feeding he would 
be okay with it. 

 
 Mayor Nabours moved to read Ordinance No. 2013-23 by title only for the 

final time with the following amendments: 1) include the new whereas 
clauses; 2) Option 2 to be selected under Section 5; 3) add an exception 
that it does not apply to hand feeding of ducks or water fowl on a lake or 
pond; seconded. 

 
 Brief discussion was held on the need for the other exception. Mayor Nabours 

said that he was trying to get away from someone getting around the ordinance 
and leaving bread for the ducks and/or wildlife. 

 
 Vice Mayor Evans said that she appreciated the openness and candidness of 

those speaking, and she said that she went door to door to speak to residents in 
the Country Club area. She said that not one individual had anything negative to 
say about the deer. The majority that knew about the issue said that it was a feud 
between two neighbors. She said that the deer can stand on their hind legs and 
reach bird feeders. 

  
 Councilmember Barotz said that it was hard to find solutions when they cannot 

agree on the problem. As she has looked at it, when she first heard about it she 
was inclined to not consider it. She did a lot of research and spoke to many 
around the City. She said that there are supporters and opponents to the 
ordinance, but the feeding of wildlife hurts them more than it helps them and it 
could cause public health problems. 

 
 Deputy Chief Miller said that if complaints were received after hours the Police 

Department would respond and help out however they could. He said that they 
will do in-house training with their officers so everyone is clear. 

 
 Mayor Nabours noted that other mountain forest counties and communities, such 

as Navajo County, Show Low, Pinetop-Lakeside, have adopted similar 
ordinances, and Maricopa, Pima, and Pinal are subject to it as well. 

 
 Councilmember Brewster said that it would not affect 90% of the citizens but she 

thought that with the exceptions and amendments it was a good ordinance. 
 



Flagstaff City Council 
Regular Meeting of September 17, 2013  Page 8 
 

 Motion carried 6-1 with Vice Mayor Evans casting the dissenting vote. 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 6, POLICE REGULATIONS, 
CHAPTER 6-01, GENERAL OFFENSES, BY ADDING SECTION 6-01-
001-0023, PROHIBITING THE FEEDING OF WILDLIFE WITHIN 
FLAGSTAFF CITY LIMITS; PROVIDING FOR PENALTIES, REPEAL OF 
CONFLICTING ORDINANCES, SEVERABILITY, AUTHORITY FOR 
CLERICAL CORRECTIONS, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

 
 Councilmember Overton moved to adopt Ordinance No. 2013-20; 

seconded; passed 6-1 with Vice Mayor Evans casting the dissenting vote. 
 
B.        Consideration and Approval of Preliminary Plat: True Life Communities PS 

AZ for The Estates at Pine Canyon, Unit 5 subdivision, a forty-seven lot, single-
family, detached residential subdivision. The site is 29.946 acres in size and is 
located at 3851 South Clubhouse Circle in the Pine Canyon Development.  The 
site is zoned R1, Single-Family Residential Zone.   

 
 Planning Development Manager Neil Gullickson reviewed the preliminary plat for 

the Estates at Pine Canyon, Unit 5, noting that the Planning and Zoning 
Commission had recommended approval. 

 
 Councilmember Woodson moved to approve the Preliminary Plat for the 

Estates at Pine Canyon, Unit 5; seconded. 
 
 Ken Ostenfeller of Mogollon Engineering said that it had been approved by 

previous Council, but was delayed due to the economic downturn. 
 
 Councilmember Barotz asked Mr. Ostenfeller how many months it had taken to 

get through the process. Mr. Ostenfeller replied that they started in January of 
2013, but there was no rezoning involved and the construction plans had been 
submitted and approved previously. It went fairly quickly. 

  
 Motion passed unanimously. 
 
B. Consideration and Approval of a Preliminary Plat: for Miramonte Homes, 

Tract B of Presidio in the Pines, a subdivision of 14 single-family, residential 
townhomes on approximately 1.65 acres located at 2700 S Presidio Drive South, 
within the Highway Commercial (HC) Zone.  
 
Planning Development Manager Brian Kulina reviewed the application, noting 
that the change was permitted through the conditional use permit process and 
they were recommending approval with the conditions outlined in the CUP. 
 
Mr. Kulina explained that the original plan was to have neighborhood commercial 
within the residential subdivision, but they have found that the smaller 
commercial nodes within a development were not viable unless heavily 
subsidized by the development, so they were proposing to move the commercial 
to the outer perimeter of the development. 



Flagstaff City Council 
Regular Meeting of September 17, 2013  Page 9 
 

Vice Mayor Evans said that she knows of some traditional development where it 
was still working with commercial within the development. She suggested that 
perhaps it was the type of commercial that had been attempted. Mr. Kulina said 
that oftentimes those development areas have grown over time. 
 
Mr.Ostenfeller said that they started this project three or four months before the 
Pine Canyon, but there have been a lot of issues involved with it. He said that 
the applicant was okay with the conditions. 
 
Councilmember Overton moved to approve the Preliminary Plat [of Tract B 
of Presidio in the Pines] subject to the conditions listed in the Conditional 
Use Permit; seconded; passed unanimously. 

 
C. Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2013-23: A 

resolution of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, ordering and 
calling the 2014 Primary/General Elections; and providing for and giving notice of 
said election(s).  
 
City Attorney Michelle D’Andrea said that this had been placed on the agenda so 
the City could move forward with a 2014 spring election, but the State of Arizona 
has appealed the decision of the lower court so there may not be a final answer 
in the near future. She said that she would like to discuss the issue further with 
Council in an upcoming Executive Session. 
 
She said that Flagstaff was in the same situation as Tempe, Douglas and 
Winslow, in that their charters called for spring elections. She said that Tempe 
would be discussing their direction within the next few days. 
 
Mayor Nabours moved to postpone action for two weeks to allow Council 
time to get legal advice, and see what the other cities were doing; 
seconded. 
 
Councilmember Barotz noted that many people do not know the City was 
discussing this issue. As far as they were concerned they thought the election 
would be in November of next year. 
 
Mayor Nabours then gave a brief review of how the charter called for spring 
elections but the State Legislature had passed legislation requiring that cities and 
towns hold their elections in fall of even-numbered years. There had been a 
challenge to the legislation and it was overturned in the lower court, but it has 
now been appealed to the Court of Appeals. 
 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 

15.     DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 

B.        Discussion of the City's Materials Testing Program.  
   
City Engineer Rick Barrett gave a PowerPoint presentation on the City’s 
Materials Testing Program (MTP) which addressed: 



Flagstaff City Council 
Regular Meeting of September 17, 2013  Page 10 
 

    
  COUNCIL’S GUIDING PRINCIPLES 
  MTP: BACKGROUND/HISTORY 
  MTP: Request for Information 
  MTP: Pricing 
  OPTIONS 
      #1: Maintain City Materials Testing Program 
      #2: Eliminate City Materials Testing Program and hire Private Sector Service 
   Provider 
      #3: Continue hybrid staff/on-call work group 
     #4: Eliminate City Materials Testing Program and transfer testing responsibility 
   to private sector 

 
 After some discussion, Council directed staff to move forward with Option 2 
 
 Councilmember Overton suggested that if the City ultimately went with Option 2, 

perhaps NACET would be interested in the City’s testing equipment. 
 
 Councilmember Woodson asked what other communities do. Mr. Barrett replied 

that they have done some benchmarking and for a community of Flagstaff’s size, 
it was rare for them to have their own lab.  

 
 Councilmember Woodson asked Construction Manager Daniel Casados his 

opinion of how it had been working the past four months. Mr. Casados said that 
there had been some hiccups along the way but they have made it a full-time 
tech and treated him as part of their techs. They have been able to have him as a 
full-time tech on a particular job and another inspector on an as-needed basis. 

 
  Mr. Burke said that the context of the decision being made is very administrative 

in nature, and it normally would not be a decision to come before Council, but 
from a procurement standpoint, it was discussed during the budget process and 
they wanted to receive Council input. 

 
 Councilmember Woodson said that they need to understand that if they go down 

this path they cannot come back to it easily. 
 
  A break was held from 7:33 p.m. to 7:42 p.m. 
 

A. Regional Plan Discussion #3 – Ch. VII. Energy 
 
THIS ITEM WILL NOT BE DISCUSSED PRIOR TO 7:00 P.M. 
 
Comprehensive Planning Manager Kimberly Sharp gave a brief PowerPoint 
presentation on the chapter of Energy. She first stated that, in response to a 
previous question, there were 17 required elements within the document and 5 
optional elements. 
 
ENERGY – 4TH CHAPTER  
GUIDING PRINCIPLES 
PUBLIC PROCESS 



Flagstaff City Council 
Regular Meeting of September 17, 2013  Page 11 
 

 GOAL 1:  Increase Energy Efficiency 
 
  Education 
  Building 
  Transportation 
 
GOAL 2 – Expand Production and Use of Renewable Energy 
 
Ms. Sharp clarified that wood for home heating was encouraged in the Plan. 
 
The following individuals spoke regarding the Regional Plan: 
 
Carol Kendall 
 Angela Horvath 
 Gaylord Staveley 
 Sally Kladneck 
 Bill McCullogh 
Marilyn Weismann, Friends of Flagstaff’s Future 
Moran Henn 
Joy Staveley 
Jeff Knorr 
 
Comments received included: 
 
The Plan is a guide, not a binding document 
 Amend Plan to emphasize educating community on conservation versus 
incentivizing 
Write the Plan with health in mind 
This section of the Plan took a balanced approach with a good vision of where 
they want to be 
Would like to see words like “promote, “preserve,” and “pursue” used more 
throughout the Plan 
It is a beautiful plan and hoped the Council did not rewrite it entirely 
Energy Plans and others may be based on false assumptions re climate change 
 
Further discussion took place with regard to language used within the document 
and it was noted that this issue would be discussed further at the Council Retreat 
on Thursday, September 19, 2013. 
 
Councilmember Barotz asked, as an example (assuming the Plan had been 
approved), if someone came before Council in 2019 and wanted to have a wind 
turbine in their backyard and the Regional Plan states that the City supports the 
use of wind turbines, if they would be required to allow the turbine if the zoning 
did not permit it. Ms. D’Andrea said that there would be no legal consequence of 
deciding different than the Plan. It would just indicate that the citizens thought it 
would be a good path. 
 
Vice Mayor Evans said, on the issue of strong language versus not strong 
language, there was the concept that they all agree that the document is not 



Flagstaff City Council 
Regular Meeting of September 17, 2013  Page 12 
 

binding, so they should wordsmith it. On the flip side, she would suggest they 
leave it the way it is. 
 
Councilmember Barotz said that she wants people to understand where she was 
coming from. She believed in regional planning and does not believe there are 
ulterior motives. Because it was written by a citizens committee, it was the people 
asking the government to do what their vision was. The City used a lot of different 
outreach methods—surveys, comments solicited, public meetings, Facebook, 
printed mailers, etc. She felt badly that some people felt left out, but she does not 
feel they were intentionally left out. She concurred that this was a real good 
chapter; it was short and to the point. 
 
Mr. Cronk said that staff had prepared a paper copy of the Parking Lot to date, 
and he distributed to each of the Councilmembers. He said that staff’s goal was 
to include the Parking Lot every Friday in the packet, understanding that only 
Councilmembers were putting things on the parking lot, but they would include 
comments received from the public. 
 
Councilmember Barotz said that she understood that some people were 
frustrated because they live in the County and cannot vote on the Plan; however, 
after hearing from Bill Ring it made more sense. She said that the answer to 
those living in the County would be to address their legislators to change the law 
and allow for voting in the future. 
 

16.     POSSIBLE FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 
 
 Verbal comments from the public on any item under this section must be given during 

Public Participation (#5) near the beginning of the meeting. Written comments may be 
submitted to the City Clerk. After discussion and upon agreement of three members of 
the Council, an item will be moved to a regularly-scheduled Council meeting. 

 
 None  
 
17.     PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
 None 
 
18.      INFORMATIONAL ITEMS AND REPORTS FROM COUNCIL AND STAFF, 

REQUESTS FOR FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS  
 
 Councilmember Woodson commended City Management staff, and staff in general. He 

said that they got to see some wonderful employee recognition earlier in the evening and 
it was a great recognition. 

  
 Councilmember Oravits requested that an item be placed on Possible Future Agenda 

Items for addressing the needs of Flagstaff Shelter Services. 
 
 Vice Mayor Evans reported that she had attended the 9/11 Veterans Day Forum and she 

would like to see a Work Session held to address Veterans issues and receive an 
update from the VA representatives. 



Flagstaff City Council 
Regular Meeting of September 17, 2013  Page 13 
 
  
 Councilmember Brewster reported that she had the opportunity of utilizing the NAITPA 

Mountain Link door-to-door system with her recent surgery and it was very worthwhile 
and she could see the need for the service. 

 
 Councilmember Overton noted that in reviewing the Working Calendar they were 

stacked for Work Sessions. They were out months and they need to be cautious in 
requesting more and more items to be added to the list. 

 
 Councilmember Barotz reported that NAIPTA just received another huge grant in the 

amount of $2.9 million. 
 
 Councilmember Barotz also asked about the status of including Hunting in Section 11M 

on the Possible Future Agenda Items. 
 
 Mr. Burke reminded everyone that the Council Retreat would begin at 8:00 a.m. on 

Thursday at the Flagstaff Aquaplex. 
 
19.      ADJOURNMENT  

    
 The Regular Meeting of the Flagstaff City Council held on Tuesday, September 17, 

2013, adjourned at 8:45 p.m. 
 

 
             
      _________________________________________ 
      MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________  
CITY CLERK 

 
CERTIFICATION 

 
STATE OF ARIZONA)  
                              ss.) 
County of Coconino   ) 
 
I, ELIZABETH A. BURKE, do hereby certify that I am the City Clerk of the City of Flagstaff, 
County of Coconino, State of Arizona, and that the above Minutes are a true and correct 
summary of the meeting of the Council of the City of Flagstaff held September 17, 2013. I 
further certify that the meeting was duly called and held and that a quorum was present. 
 
Dated this 1st day of October, 2013. 

 
 
     _________________________________________  
     CITY CLERK 

 



 

 

MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING (EXECUTIVE SESSION) OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY 
COUNCIL HELD ON TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 24, 2013, IN THE STAFF CONFERENCE 
ROOM, SECOND FLOOR OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY HALL, 211 WEST ASPEN, 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA 
 
 
1. Call to Order 
 
 Mayor Nabours called the meeting to order at 5:02 p.m. 
 
2. Roll Call 

 Present:      Absent:  

MAYOR NABOURS      
COUNCILMEMBER BAROTZ  
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER    
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS 
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON 
COUNCILMEMBER WOODSON (telephonically) 

 Others present: City Manager Kevin Burke; City Attorney Michelle D’Andrea. 

3. Recess into Executive Session 

 Mayor Nabours moved to recess into Executive Session; seconded; passed 
unanimously. The Flagstaff City Council recessed into Executive Session at 5:02 p.m. 

4.       EXECUTIVE SESSION:  
 
A.       Discussion or consultation for legal advice with the attorney or attorneys of the 

public body, pursuant to ARS 38-431.03(A)(3). 
 

i. 2014 Candidate Elections  
 

5.   ADJOURNMENT  
 
The Flagstaff City Council reconvened into Open Session at 5:23 p.m. at which time the 
Special Meeting of September 24, 2013, adjourned. 
 

 
    

     _________________________________________ 
     MAYOR 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
CITY CLERK 



MINUTES 
 

COMBINED SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING / WORK SESSION 
TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 24, 2013 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
211 WEST ASPEN AVENUE 

6:00 P.M. 
 
1. Call to Order. 

 
Mayor Nabours called the Flagstaff Combined Special City Council Meeting/Work 
Session of September 24, 2013, to order at 6:04 p.m. 
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
The City Council and audience recited the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

3. Roll Call 
 
Councilmembers present: Councilmembers absent: 
 
MAYOR NABOURS 
VICE MAYOR EVANS 
COUNCILMEMBER BAROTZ 
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER 
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS 
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON 
COUNCILMEMBER WOODSON (telephonically) 
 
Others present: City Manager Kevin Burke; City Attorney Michelle D’Andrea. 
 

4. Consideration to approve Stipulation: To resolve CV13-08151-PCT-NVW: Baldwin v. 
D'Andrea regarding enforcement of loitering to beg statute. 
 
Mayor Nabours indicated that this is a state statute and there is question as to whether 
the statute is constitutional in how it is written and carried out. The City Council has 
received legal counsel about the issue. 
 
Councilmember Overton moved to approve and execute the stipulation; seconded; 
passed unanimously. 

 
5. Adjournment 

 
The Flagstaff Special City Council meeting adjourned at 6:06 p.m. 

 
WORK SESSION 

 
1. Call to Order 

 
Mayor Nabours called the Flagstaff Work Session of September 24, 2013, to order at 
6:06 p.m. 



Flagstaff City Council Combined Special Meeting/ 
Work Session of September 24, 2013  Page 2 
 

 
2. Public Participation (Non-Agenda Items Only): 

 
Public Participation enables the public to address the council about items that are not on 
the prepared agenda. Public Participation appears on the agenda twice, at the beginning 
and at the end of the work session. You may speak at one or the other, but not both. 
Anyone wishing to comment at the meeting is asked to fill out a speaker card and submit 
it to the recording clerk. When the item comes up on the agenda, your name will be 
called. You may address the Council up to three times throughout the meeting, including 
comments made during Public Participation. Please limit your remarks to three minutes 
per item to allow everyone to have an opportunity to speak. At the discretion of the 
Chair, ten or more persons present at the meeting and wishing to speak may appoint a 
representative who may have no more than fifteen minutes to speak. 
 
Kathryn Jim, President of Northern Arizona Pride Association, addressed Council to 
express her gratitude to them for passing the civil rights ordinance earlier this year. 
Ms. Jim also explained a new effort for an employment non-discrimination act. 
 
John Victora, resident, addressed Council in support of allowing the Alcoholics 
Anonymous meetings to stay at the train station. 
 

3. Preliminary Review of Draft Agenda for the October 1, 2013, City Council Meeting.* 
 
* Public comment on draft agenda items may be taken under “Review of Draft Agenda 
Items” later in the meeting, at the discretion of the Mayor. Citizens wishing to speak on 
agenda items not specifically called out by the City Council for discussion under the 
second Review section may submit a speaker card for their items of interest to the 
recording clerk. 
 
Mayor Nabours requested additional information on item 9A with regards to how the City 
gets a better price with a cooperative agreement and if the City has attempted an RFP 
for this purchase. 
 
Councilmember Overton requested information on item 9B regarding the City’s use of 
the Mohave contract and if there have been others used in the past. 
 

Mayor Nabours rearranged the agenda to address item 5 first. 
 

5. Discussion of Resolution re Arizona’s Immigration Issues. 
 
Vice Mayor Evans requested that the City Council consider adopting a non-binding 
resolution regarding Arizona immigration. Immigration reform is being discussed at the 
state and national levels and by adopting a resolution the City offers another tool to the 
federal leaders. 
 
Councilmember Woodson proposed changing bullet point three to say “Immigrants and 
their families in our community are productive, contributing members of society.” 
 
The following individuals addressed Council in support of the resolution. 
 



Flagstaff City Council Combined Special Meeting/ 
Work Session of September 24, 2013  Page 3 
 

• Marilyn Weissman 
• Richard Clark 
• Father Patrick Mowrer 
• Leah Mundell 
• Laura Longoria 
• Anamaria Ortiz 
• Kathryn Jim 
• Scott Deasy 
• Minesh Patel 

 
Vice Mayor Evans, Councilmembers Brewster, Barotz, and Overton stated agreement 
with the change of Councilmember Woodson and moving the resolution forward. 
 
Mayor Nabours stated that he does not support or believe in resolutions that take a 
political stance; this is not to say that he does not agree with any of the statements but 
feels that it is not the City’s job to give direction to state or federal agencies about issues 
that are in their areas. 
 
Councilmember Oravits stated that he does not have a problem with the way the 
resolution is written. It is the aspect of border security that is not addressed and he 
suggested putting language in the resolution about border security. Vice Mayor Evans 
responded that she would prefer the resolution to stay as presented with the one change 
proposed by Councilmember Woodson. 
 
With a majority of Council in support, Mayor Nabours asked Mr. Burke to include this 
resolution on a future meeting. 
 
Councilmember Woodson left the meeting at 6:40 p.m. 
 

4. Snow and Street Sweeping operational plans for the winter/spring season. 
 
Public Works Section Head Mike O’Connor presented a PowerPoint presentation on 
snow and street sweeping operational plans for the winter/spring season. 
 

� DISCUSSION ITEMS 
� SNOW PLOWING POLICY PLAN 
� OPTION ONE 
� OPTION TWO 
� OPTION THREE 
� THE CURRENT SNOW POLICY 
� CINDERING PROCEDURES 
� SWEEPING OPERATION PLAN 
� RECAP 

 
Mayor Nabours stated that there are so many variables to consider that Council direction 
may be difficult. It appears that there is a need for greater discretion on staff’s behalf to 
make decisions based on the variables. Also noted was the budget and if there is 
enough funding to operate at a good level. 
 



Flagstaff City Council Combined Special Meeting/ 
Work Session of September 24, 2013  Page 4 
 

Mr. Burke offered that the policy question comes back to the service level Council wants 
to provide. If the service level is to plow every street at every storm then no, there is not 
enough money; if the service level is one of those proposed then yes, there is enough 
money. It comes down to what is provided within the resources available. 
 
Council discussed an option that gives the Streets Section discretion to make decisions 
based on the many different variables that come with each storm. Mr. O’Connor offered 
that there would have to be a huge public outreach campaign because the operations 
would constantly be changing with the weather. Regardless, the operations try to keep 
the priority one routes open all the time during a storm; the idea is that if someone can 
get to the main road they can get around town.  
 
The citizen’s expectation of service is why this is a policy issue. There are some 
judgment calls and common sense calls but when Council starts hearing from citizens 
that it has been 36 hours and their cul-de-sac is not cleared yet it is good to have policy 
to refer to.  
 
The following individuals addressed Council in favor of increased snow operations: 

• Andy Fox 
• Michael Duggan 

 
Council inquired about the equipment needed to plow cul-de-sacs. Mr. O’Connor 
indicated that a motor grader is used in cul-de-sacs because it articulates; this is a 
different piece of equipment than what is used to plow most streets. Most graders have 
about 40 cul-de-sacs they are responsible for in addition to other routes; after the 
graders come through then the loaders have to come in behind to stack the snow. 
 
Council asked about the financing of the snow operations and whether or not it is a 
limitation to the process. Mr. O’Connor explained that the biggest limitation right now is 
traffic and manpower; the Streets Section used to have 70 temporary snow workers and 
is now down to 40. The availability of commercial drivers has reduced significantly. 
 
Council inquired about the snow service for citizens with disabilities. Mr. O’Connor stated 
that the program is still active and is handled out of the Parks Section. Citizens have to 
apply for the service that consists of removing the berm from in front of the driveway 
after the roads are plowed. Vice Mayor Evans indicated that she would like to see that 
program better advertised. 
 
Vice Mayor Evans pointed out that a major issue with snow removal is the enforcement 
of the parking ordinance during the snow time. When snow season starts there should 
be no parking on the street; this is not being enforced and the plows cannot plow when 
there are cars parked on the street. By the time the plows can plow it is a huge mess. 
One way to make the plowing more effective is to enforce the parking ordinance. 
 
Mayor Nabours offered that rather than Council give hard and fast rules they will leave it 
up to staff to decide the best courses of action. If it is a matter of money then Council 
needs to know that even if it is half way through the season. 
 



Flagstaff City Council Combined Special Meeting/ 
Work Session of September 24, 2013  Page 5 
 

Councilmember Barotz expressed frustration in not knowing how to explain what the 
policy is to citizens that call and complain about the service. It is important to have a 
unified message when dealing with the public. 
 
Mr. O’Connor suggested option one as the preferred option because it does allow for 
some discretion. It will be important to re-evaluate midyear if needed. 
 
Councilmember Barotz stated that she likes option one but still feels the need to have 
defined boundaries to give the public. 
 

A break was called from 7:28 p.m. to 7:38 p.m. 
 

6. Flagstaff Regional Plan Discussion #4 – Ch. VI. Water Resources. 
 
Comprehensive Planning Manager Kimberly Sharp provided a PowerPoint presentation 
covering Chapter VI of the Regional Plan. 
 

� REGIONAL PLAN VISION 
� GUIDING PRINCIPLES 
� PUBLIC PROCESS 
� ARS REQUIREMENTS 

 
Erin Young, Water Resources Manager, continued the presentation. 
 

� RECLAIMED WATER DELIVERED 
� 100 YEAR DESIGNATION OF ADEQUATE WATER SUPPLY 

 
Mayor Nabours asked about water loss; the report shows a 12.9% loss of water. 
 
Utilities Director Brad Hill stated that this number has been tracked for a number of years 
and the guess is that it is a meter inaccuracy. It is a difference between what is produced 
and what is used. This fiscal year Utilities is looking at 25% of the system with another 
25% over each of the next three consecutive years to make sure it is not water leaks in 
the system. 
 
Ms. Sharp continued the presentation. 
 

� WATER CONSERVATION 
 
Council inquired about the large water use per capita reduction from the mid 80s to now. 
Ms. Young offered that Continental Country Club was the only one on reclaimed water 
until 1994 when NAU and other golf courses came on to the system. The big drop in the 
90’s was due to the inverted rate structure and the conservation policy. There was a 
sharp increase in the late 90’s, the population was increasing that time but there is not a 
clear explanation for the increase. 
 
Ms. Sharp continued the presentation. 
 

� WATER SOURCES GOALS AND POLICIES 
� PLANNING TO MEET FUTURE DEMANDS 
� WATER DEMAND PROJECTIONS 



Flagstaff City Council Combined Special Meeting/ 
Work Session of September 24, 2013  Page 6 
 

� WATER SOURCES GOALS AND POLICIES 
 
Mayor Nabours inquired about the status of the aquifer well depths. Mr. Hill stated that of 
the three well fields Wood Mountain is relatively constant balancing the ground water 
pumping and recharge. The Lake Mary well field is dropping quite a bit; up to 10 feet per 
year at worst case. The local well field in town is staying static at roughly one to two feet 
per year. With all the rain received this year the inner basin is currently flowing at 
300,000 gallons per day. If the City was to use Red Gap Ranch it is expected to decline 
a foot to a foot and a half per year. 
 
Ms. Sharp continued the presentation. 
 

� WATER SOURCES GOALS AND POLICIES 
� STORMWATER AND WATERSHED MANAGEMENT 
� STORMWATER AND WATERSHED MANAGEMENT GOALS AND POLICIES 

 
There was a question about the adequate water supply graph and how the projected 
growth of 150,000 was calculated. Ms. Sharp offered that the 2001 Regional Plan was 
used looking at the existing land use and potential capacity. 
 
The following individuals spoke on the Regional Plan: 
 

• Moran Henn 
• Sallie Kaldnik 
• Jeff Knorr 
• Angela Horvath 
• Gaylord Staveley 
• Joy Staveley 

 
Comments received included: 

 
• Concerns with citing Red Gap Ranch as an option for the City’s water future; 

pursuing this would be an expensive and energy intensive endeavor. 
• City’s growth to be limited to the water capacity it can generate through 

efficiency, conservation, reuse, and rain water harvesting. 
• If there is unlimited growth, at some point is the City going to have to spend the 

money to upgrade the water recycling filtration system so recycled water can be 
drunk. 

• The conservation ordinance referenced at the bottom the table on page eight 
would be another tool to cap water use on new developments. 

• Include a vision for the intelligent use of existing resources, water reuse and new 
water sources.  

• Move back to xeriscape and encouraging the installation of dual flush toilets, 
waterless urinals, and new fixtures. 

• Catching rainwater may be robbing the aquifers of recharge. 
• Add a provision to reduce mosquito populations in heavy human use areas by 

monitoring and treating water that sits stagnant for over 48 hours.” 
• The Plan suggests the Colorado River and Western Navajo pipeline as potential 

future water sources; those are not realistic planning elements. The Colorado 



Flagstaff City Council Combined Special Meeting/ 
Work Session of September 24, 2013  Page 7 
 

River is already over allocated and it goes through a drought cycle every 30 
years. It has also become clear that a Western Navajo pipeline will not be built. 

• Concerned about the 12% water loss that is occurring. The loss would amount to 
a water supply for 5600 families. The loss should be attempted to be reduced or 
eliminated.  

• Page 6-13 wr3.2 it says “favor low water consuming businesses and industries 
over water intrusive usage“; would like to add “unless the high water user uses 
reclaimed water or recycled water.” 

• In wr3.4 it says “use reclaimed water and rainwater harvesting whenever 
appropriate,” change it to say “and practical” at the end of the sentence. 

• Representative Thorpe brought up an issue of how much water the pine trees 
use and the figure is astronomical. Forest thinning should be an element because 
less trees would help the forest thrive but also save some water in the water 
table. 

• On page 6-16, 5.2 “incorporate pedestrian access trails and watchable wildlife 
opportunities into the natural water course”; not sure that it belongs in this section 
because of cost. 

• In 5.5 it says to “give preference to regional detention facilities rather that 
numerous smaller dispersed basins.” It is suggested that smaller basins may 
have less evaporation as larger water areas have high evaporation due to being 
in the high desert. 

• In 6.3 it says to “implement best management practices”, instead it should read 
“implement effective management practices.” 

• Various typographical/format changes: 
 
Councilmember Oravits requested the following to be added to the parking lot list: 

• An additional policy that addresses identifying new water supplies outside the city 
and the transportation of that water in policy VI8. 

• On VI13 Water Demand Goals and Policies, policy wr.3 there should be 
something in this section that addresses new supplies. 

• In policy wr3.2 there is concern with the word favor; if there is a way a company 
can come into town and provide a thousand jobs the City does not want to limit or 
discourage economic development in the future based on water use. 

• Include forest thinning as a water issue. 
• In policy wr3.4, possible change of the wording to “use reclaimed water and 

rainwater harvesting wherever practical and appropriate.” 
• Page VI16 policy wr5.2 add “when practical” to the end of the sentence. 

 
Mayor Nabours noted that the Flagstaff Watershed Protection Project benefit was to 
increase water supply and perhaps a sub goal would be to maintain the forest to benefit 
the water supply. 
 
Mr. Cronk clarified with the Council that the following items should also be added to the 
parking lot list: 
 

• Mosquito control. 
• Reduction of water loss to less than 10%. 

 
Mr. Cronk also distributed a draft preamble statement for Council to review. The 
preamble statement is to make sure that it is clear that the Regional Plan is a guideline 



Flagstaff City Council Combined Special Meeting/ 
Work Session of September 24, 2013  Page 8 
 

document and to make sure that it is clear that if citizens have private property 
development rights the document does not take away those rights. 
 
If there are any comments, suggestions or redrafts please send them to Kimberly Sharp 
by the end of the week for review next Tuesday. 
 

7. Review of Draft Agenda Items for the October 1, 2013, City Council Meeting. 
 
None 
 

8. Public Participation 
 
None. 
 

9. Informational Items To/From Mayor, Council, and City Manager. 
 
Vice Mayor Evans stated that based on the public comment at the beginning of the 
meeting she would be interested in keeping the happy hour meetings at the train station. 
 
Councilmember Brewster offered that the NAIPTA event in Wheeler Park was well 
attended and a great event. NAIPTA was awarded Best Small Transit of the Year in the 
United States. 
 
Mayor Nabours noted that this award was for communities with four million riders per 
year or less, that encompasses a lot of communities. 
 
Councilmember Barotz stated that the award was given by the American Public Transit 
Association. The application was rigorous and for the first time, NAIPTA had the 
resources to submit the application. It is impressive to note that NAIPTA has secured 
over $30 million in grants. 
 
Mr. Burke reminded Council that there are two meetings next week; Monday is the 
special work session on water and Tuesday is the regular meeting. 
 
Mayor Nabours requested a possible future agenda item; the status of the Charter 
Review Committee. He requested the enacting ordinance and information on how the 
Council can begin appointing a committee. The concept was started a few years ago 
and has fallen by the wayside, it is time to look at the City Charter and bring it up to date. 
 

10. Adjournment 
 
The Flagstaff City Council Work Session of September 24, 2013, adjourned at 8:41 p.m. 

 
 
 
 
      _________________________________________  
      MAYOR 
 
 



Flagstaff City Council Combined Special Meeting/ 
Work Session of September 24, 2013  Page 9 
 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________________  
CITY CLERK 
 
 
 
 



  7. A.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Stacy Saltzburg, Deputy City Clerk

Date: 09/25/2013

Meeting Date: 10/01/2013

TITLE: 
Consideration of Appointments:  Personnel Board.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Make one appointment to term expiring October 2016.

Policy Decision or Reason for Action:
By making the above appointment, the Personnel Board will be at near full membership and will be able
to continue meeting on an as needed basis.  There is one application on file as follows:

Dietrich Sauer (current board member)
 

Mr. Sauer is a current board member whose term expires in October 2013; he is eligible for and seeking
reappointment to the Board.

Financial Impact:
These are voluntary positions and there is no budgetary impact to the City of Flagstaff.

Connection to Council Goal:
Effective governance.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
None.

Options and Alternatives:
1) Appoint one Board Member: By appointing member at this time, the Personnel Board will be at
near full membership, allowing the group to meet and provide recommendations to the City Council.

2) Table the action to allow for further discussion or expand the list of candidates.



Background/History:
The Personnel Board consists of seven members serving three-year terms. There are currently two seats
available.

The Personnel Board conducts hearings to ensure due process for regular, classified employees who are
dismissed, demoted, or suspended without pay. The Board forwards all recommendations to the City
Manager who has final authority in all personnel matters.

Key Considerations:
It is important to fill the vacancies so as to allow the Board to continue meeting on an as needed basis.

Expanded Financial Considerations:
None.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
The City's boards, commissions, and committees were created to foster public participation and input
and to encourage Flagstaff citizens to take an active role in city government. 

Community Involvement:
INFORM: The vacancies are posted on the City's website and individual recruitment and mention of the
opening by Board members and City staff has occurred, informing others of this vacancy through word of
mouth. 

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
COUNCIL INTERVIEW TEAM: Councilmember Woodson and Mayor Nabours.

Attachments:  Personnel Board Roster
Personnel Board Authority Ordinance 1116
Personnel Board Authority Ordinance 1146
Personnel Board Authority Ordinance 1198
Personnel Board Applicant Roster
Personnel Board Applications



City of Flagstaff, AZ

NAME APPOINTED TERM EXPIRES

PERSONNEL BOARD  MEMBERS

TRAINING 

COMPLETED

P.O. Box 30547

Davis, Terry

Flagstaff, AZ  86003-0547

Retired

10/16/2007 10/16 10/08/2008

Cell Phone: 602-885-5218

Term: (1st 10/07-10/12; 2nd 10/12-10/16)

1515 S. Yale, Apt. 3-5A

Hasemeier, Jonathan

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Financial Advisor/Merrill Lynch

02/19/2013 10/17 No

Cell Phone: 480-241-1101

Term: (1st 2/13 - 10/17)

1777 W. Univ. Heights Drive So.

Pizzi, John J.

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Private Investigator/Self

10/18/2011 10/15 10/08/2008

Home Phone: (928) 214-0930

Term: (1st 9/05-10/10; 2nd 10/10-10/15)

4981 S. Topaz Road

Sauer, Dietrich

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Human Resources Manager/NEBS/Deluxe Inc.

10/16/2007 10/13 10/08/2008

Work Phone: 774-5184; Ex. 474402

Term: (1st 10/07-10/13)

1619 N. Navajo Dr.

Sharp, Drew Ann

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Human Resources Manager/Motor Excellence

11/01/2011 10/15 No

Work Phone: 928-214-6800 Ext. 2032

Term: (1st 11/11-10/15)

Wednesday, August 14, 2013 Page 1 of 2



City of Flagstaff, AZ

4005 Lake Mary Rd. #13

Snow, Cathy

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Asst. Director, Human Resources/Northern 
Arizona University

11/22/2011 10/16 03/12/2013

Cell Phone: 928-853-1358

Term: (1st 11/11-10/16)

Z-VACANT, 10/16 No

Staff Representative: Shannon Anderson

As Of: August 14, 2013

Wednesday, August 14, 2013 Page 2 of 2



CITYOFFLAGSTAFFORDINANCENO1116ANORDINANCEADOPTINGPERSONNELPOLICIESOFTHECITYOFFLAGSTAFF1980REPEALINGORDINANCENOS971104110631067AND1103REDEFININGOFFICERSANDEMPLOYEESSUBJECTTOTHEPERSONNELSYSTEMPROVIDINGASTATEMENTOFPOLICYANDDECLARINGANEMERGENCYBEITORDAINEDBYTHECOUNCILOFTHECITYOFFLAGSTAFFASFOLLOWSSECTION1ThereisherebyestablishedpursuanttoArticleIVSection5oftheCharteroftheCityofFlagstaffapersonnelsystembasedontheprinciplesofmeritandfitnesstobeknownasePersonnelPoliciesoftheCityofFlagstaff1980whichpolicieareherebyadoptedbyreferencepursuanttoArticleVIISection13oftCharteroftheCityofFlagstaffandthesameareherebydesignatedddeclaredtobeapublicrecordoftheCityofFlagstaffSECTION2Thatthree3copiesofthePersonnelPoliciesoftheCityofFlagstaff1980shallbefiledintheofficeoftheCityClerkoftheCityofFlagstaffArizonaandthereretainedavailablefortheuseandinspectionbyanyinterestedpersonduringnormalbusinesshoursTheaforesaidrulesandregulationsshallbeplacedonfilewiththeCityClerkimmediatelyfollowingtheadoptionandapprovalofthisOrdinanceSECTION3OrdinancesNos971104110631067and1103andanyotherordinancesorpartsofordinancesinconflictwiththeprovisionsofthisOrdinanceareherebyrepealedSECTION4ThattheCityManagerorsuchotherofficeroremploy@eashemaydesignateshallbethePersonnelDirectoroftheCityandshallbechargedwiththeproperandefficientadministrationandoperationoftheCityofFlagstaffPersonnelSystemSECTION5NothinginthepersonnelrulesorpoliciesadoptedfortheirimplementationshallbeconstruedorinterpretedtoreduceorrestrictanypowersordutiesprovidedforintheCharteroftheCityofFlagstaffSECTION6TheCityofFlagstaffretainstheexclusiverightthroughtheCityManagersubjecttotheprovisionsoftheCityCharterapplicableStatelawandthepersonnelregulationstoADirectandsuperviseitsemployeesBAppointpromoteclassifytransferassignretainPsuspenddemotedischargeortakedisciplinaryactionagainstanyemployeeCRelievefromdutyanyemployeebecauseoflackoffundslackofworkreorganizationorforanyotherlegitimatereasonDMaintaintheefficiencyofitsgovernmentaloperationsEDeterminethemeansmethodsandpersonnelbywhichoperationsaretobeconductedFTakewhateveractionsmaybenecessarytocarryoutitsresponsibilitiesinsituationsofemergency



CITYOFFLAGSTAFFORDINANCENO1116Page2SECTION7ThattheimmediateoperationoftheprovisionsofthisOrdinanceisnecessaryforthepublicpeacehealthandsafetyoftheresidentsandcitizensoftheCityofFlagstaffthatanEMERGENCYisthereforedeclaredtoexistTHATTHISORDINANCESHALLBEINFULLFORCEANDEFFECTIMMEDIATELYUPONITSPASSAGEANDADOPTIONBYTHECOUNCILOFTHECITYOFFLAGSTAFFPASSEDANDADOPTEDbytheCouncilaaidapprovedbytheMayoroftheCityofFlagstaffthisIIPdayof1980@YORATTESTCITYCLERKAPPROVEDASTOFORM



CITYOFFLAGSTAFFARIZONAORDINANCENO1146ANORDINANCEAMENDINGORDINANCENO1116BYADDINGPROCEDURALITEMSTOASWELLASDEFININGANDCLARIFYINGPRESENTPORTIONSOFANDADDINGNEWMATTERONAPPOINTMENTSPROMOTIONSLAYOFFSMATERNITYLEAVESUSPENSIONSDISMISSALSANDDEMOTIONSANDAMENDINGSECTIONS105108202203204303304401405409411412502503504AND505BEITORDAINEDBYTHECOUNCILOFTH@ITYOFFLAGSTAFFASFOLLOWSSECTION1Section105ofOrdinanceNo1116isamendedtoreadSection105PERSONNELBOARDAMcBoardcreatedbyOrdinanceNo971andappointedbytheCityCouncilshallbeknownasthePersonnelBoardThePersonnelBoardisresponsiblefordeterminingthattheemployeesrightshavebeenprotectedandthatproperprocedureshavebeenfollowedinmattersconcerningthedismissaldemotionorsuspensionoftheemployee1TheCityCouncilshallappointfive5individualstoserveonthePersonnelBoardandtwo2alternateswhoshallserveintheabsenceofanyregularmembers2TheCityCouncilshallhavethepowertoremovemembersofthePersonnelBoard3NomemberofthePersonnelBoardshallholdanyotherpaidmunicipalposition4ThePersonnelDirectorandtheCityAttorneyshallbeexofficiomembersoftheBoardandshallbeprivilegedtotakepartinallactionsoftheBoardexceptformakingmotionsandvoting5Five5membersoftheBoardshallconstituteaquorumforthetransactionofbusinessBThePersonnelBoardshalldeterminetheorderofbusinessfortheconductofitsmeetings1TheBoardshallmeetoncalloftheChairmanorSecretaryoramajorityofthemembersoftheBoard2TheBoardshallhearappealssubmittedbyanypermanentemployeeintheclassifiedserviceinrelationtohisdismissaldemotionorsuspension3TheprovisionsofthisSectionshallnotapplytoreductionsinpayviareclassificationsorothermattersdescribedinSection9GrievanceProcedureCInaninvestigationorhearingconductedbytheBoarditshallhavethepowertoexaminewitnessesunderoathChangesoradditionsintextareindicatedbyunderlinedeletionsbyrikeent



CITYOFFLAGSTAFFARIZONAORDINANCENO1146Page21TheChairmanoractingChairmanofthePersonnelBoardshallhavethepowertoadministeroathstowitnessesDAnypermanentemployeeintheclassifiedservicewhohasbeendismisseddemotedorsuspendedandanZclassifiedetoloyeewhohasbeendisciplinedunderS@ections409410411and412shallbeentitledtoawrittenstatementotthereasonsTorsuchaction1Suchwrittenstatementshallbesuppliedwithinseven7calendardaysfollowingtheaction2Theemployeeshallhaveuptoseven7calendardayswithinwhichtoanswerthechargesandrequestahearingbeforethePersonnelBoard3UponthefilingofanappealthePersonnelDirectorshallsetadateandplacewithconcurrenceoftheBoardChairmanforahearingontheappealnotlessthanten10daysnormorethanthirty30daysfromthedateoffilingThePersonnelDirectorshallnotifyallinterestedpartiesofthedatetimeandplaceofhearing4TheappellantshallappearpersonallyunlessphysicallyunabletodosobeforethePersonnelBoardatthetimeandplaceofthehearingHearingsshallbeconductedbyrulessetbythePersonnelBoardandapprovedbytheCityCouncilAllsuchrulesshallbereviewedbytheCityAttorneyandforwardedtotheCouncilwithhiscomments5WhenacaseisbroughtbeforethePersonnelBoardthedepartmentheadihvolve@shallorepareandpresentt@eCityscasetoteereonnelBoardr6ThefindingsandrecommendationsofthePersonnelRoardshallbeforwardedtotheCityManagerforactionTheCityManagershallacceptinwholeorinpartorrejectsaidfindingsandrecommendationsSECTION2Section108ofOrdinanceNo1116isamendedtoreadSection108TEMPORARYANDPARTTIMESERVICEAAppointmenttoanypositionmaybedesignatedaspermanentparttimeortemporary1Atemporaryappointmentshallbefornomorethansix6monthsdurationAftersix@6monthstheemployeeshallbeterminatedandthepositionmaybereopened2Employeesavailableforintermittentemergencyworkarenottobelimitedtoatemporaryappointmentofsix6months3Apermanentparttimeappointmentshallrequireanormalworkweekof20hoursormoreChangesoradditionsintextareindicatedbyunderlinedeletionsbystrikeelt



ORDINANCENO1146CITYOFFLAGSTAFFARIZONAPage34EmployeesholdingsuchappointmentsshallbedesignatedasPermanentPartTimeorTemporaryandshallcomprisetheTemporaryandPermanentPartTimeService5TemporaryemployeesshallnotbeincludedintheClassifiedService6PermanentparttimeemployeesareincludedintheClassifiedServicePermanent@arttimeemployeesshallaccruebenefitsonaproratedbasisBEmployeesholdingtemporaryappointmentsshallreceivenofringebenefitsexceptasrequiredunderStatestatuteorcontractualagreementsCTemporaryemployeesshallhavetherighttofileformalgrievancesundertheGrievanceProcedureArticle9DTemporaryemployeesdefinedbythisSectionshallnothavetherightofappealtothePersonnelBoardasprovidedinSection105PersonnelBoardParagraphB2andSection104ClassifiedServiceParagraphFSECTION3SectionZGZofOrdinanceNo1116isamendedtoreadSection202APPROPRIATEMERITSALARYSTEPAClassifiedemployeesshallbeeligibleforconsiderationformeritpayincreasesasfollows1FromstepAtostepBuponsuccessfulcompletionoftheprebationaryperiedttwelve12monthsofcontinuousservice2TotheCstepaftertwelve12monthsofserviceintheBstep3TotheDstepaftertwelve12monthsofserviceintheCstep4TotheEstepaftertwelve12monthsofserviceintheDstepBAnewlyhiredclassifiedemployeeshallbecompensatedattheAstepofthesalaryrangeofthejobclassforwhichhewashiredWheneconomicconditionsunusualemploymentconditionsorexceptionalqualificationsofacandidateforemploymentindicatethatahigherhiringratewouldbeintheCitysbestinteresttheCityManagermayauthorizehiringatahigherstepinthesalaryrangeuponrequestofthePersonnelDirectorandappropriatedepartmentheadTheprovisionsofthisSectionshallalsoapplytoreemployedandreinstatedclassifiedemployeesCMeritpayincreasesforclassifiedemployeesshallonlybegranteduponrecommendationoftheemployeesdepartmentheadforefficientserviceandcontinuedimprovementbyChangesoradditionsintextareindicatedbyunderlinedeletionsbystrikeellt



ORDINANCENO1146CITYOFFLAGSTAFFARIZONAPage4theemployeeintheeffectiveperformanceofthedutiesofhispositionwiththeapprovaloftheCityManager1Thecompletionofaperformanceevaluationmustaccompanyeachmeritpayincreaserecommendation2TheeffectivedateofmeritpayincreasesshallbeontheemployeesclassificationdateDSalariesandmeritreviewsfortheCityManagerCityAttorneylandCityMagistratesshallbedeterminedbytheCityCouncilIESalariesandmeritreviewsfortheremainderoftheunclassifiedemployeesshallbedeterminedbytheCityManagerorbyresponsibledepartmentheadsandapprovedbytheCityManagerFUpwardsalaryadjustmentsWhenanemployeespositionisreclassifiedtoahigherlevelclassificationorwhenaclassificationisassignedtoahighersalaryrangethefollowingrulesshalldeterminetheaffectedemployeessalary1Inallcaseseveryaffectedemployeeshallbeassignedtooneofthestepsspecifiedinthenewsalaryrange2Innocasewillanemployeereceiveadecreaseasaresultofasalaryadjustmenttoahighersalaryrange3Employeesassignedtoahigherpayrangethatoverlapswiththeirpresentrangeshallbeplacedintheloweststepinthenewrangethatwillresultinanincreaseinpay4AffectedemployeesshallretaintheirclassificationdatesforpurposesofperformanceevaluationandmeritincreasesGDownwardsalaryadjustmentsThesalaryofanemployeewhosepositionisreclassifiedtoalowerclassificationorwhoseclassificationisassignedtoalowersalaryrangewillbedeterminedbythefollowingprocedure1TheemployeewillbeplacedatthestepofthelowersalaryrangewhichisclosesttohiscurrentrateofpayandwhichdoesnotresultinanincreaseHPromotionPromotionsshallbemadeasprovidedinArticle4Section401EmployeespromotedtoapayrangethatoverlapstheirpresentpayrangeshallbeplacedintheloweststepinthenewrangethatwillresultinanincreaseinpayIDemotionforcauseAnemployeewhoisdemotedforcauseshallbeplacedinthestepofthelowersalaryrangethatwillprovideareductioninpayofnotlessthan5TheemployeeshallbegivenanewanniversarydateforpurposesofmeritpayincreasesinaccordancewiththeprovisionsofSectionA14aboveChangesoradditionsintextareindicatedbyunderlinedeletionsbystrikesiLt



CITYOFFLAGSTAFFARIZONAORDINANCENO1146Page5JDisciplinarypaystepreductionAnemployeewhoisbeingpaidinasalarystephigherthantheAstepmaybereducedbyoneormorestepsonthebasisofunsatisfactoryworkperformancephysicalconditionorconductSuchactionshallrequirethespecificrecommendationoftheemployeesdepartmentheadandthePersonnelDirectorwiththeapprovaloftheCityManager1Theemployeeshallbenotifiedinwritingbyhisdepartmentheadnotlaterthantwo2calendarweekspriortotheeffectivedateoftheactionSuchnoticeshallinformtheemployeethathemayfileareplywiththedepartmentheadandPersonnelDirectornolaterthanonecalendarweekpriortotheeffectivedateoftheactionSuchreplyshallbereviewedbytheCityManagerforfinalaction2Theemployeeshallhavetheopportunitytoattachastatementtothenotice3TheemployeemaybereturnedtohisformersalarystepatsuchtimeasdeemedappropriatebyhisdepartmentheadSECTION4Section204ofOrdinanceNo1116isamendedtoreadSection203WORKINGHOURSANDPAYATheaverageregularworkweekforfulltimeclassifiedemployeesshallbeforty40hoursTheworkweekforallemployeesbeginsonSundaymorningat1201AMandendsthefollowingSaturdayatmidnightTheaverageregularworkweekforFireSuppressionemployeesshallbefiftysix56hoursperweekBAsastandardpolicyallemployeesshallbeallowedtwo2workbreaksoffifteen15minutesdurationperdayAllworkbreaksshallbescheduledbythesupervisorsothatworkareasarecoveredThisappliestoallpersonnelexceptOndutyPoliceOfficersondutyFirePersonneloperatingfieldcrewsemployeesoperatingequipmentonscheduledroutesandotherinstanceswherethenatureoftheemployeesdutiespreventorderlyschedulingofanyspecifictimeforworkbreaksCLunchperiodsshallbescheduledforallemployeesexceptthosespecificallyexcludedbytheCityManagerThelunchperiodwillordinarilylastforonehourhoweverbymutualconsentbetweenemployeeanddepartmentheadmaybereducedtoonehalfhourDEmployeesshallnotbeallowedtoaccumulateworkbreaksandorlunchperiodsforthepurposeoftakingtimeoffERegularsalariesandcompensationforallCityemployeesshallbepaidonabiweeklybasisChangesoradditionsintextareindicatedbyunderlinedeletionsbystrikest



CITYOFFLAGSTAFFARIZONAORDINANCENO1146Page6FForthepurposeofvacationsickleavefamilyleavepersonalandhol@i@learaworkingshallbeconsideredasequalto384617ofthenumberofworkingor@thoursintheestablishedworkyearforeac@employeeSECTION5Section204ofOrdinanceNo1116isamendedtoreadSection204OVERTIMEPAYAAfulL@c@sifiedempLIoeewhoperfomauthorizedworkinexcessofhisregularworkweekworkdayorshiftshallbecompensatedforsuchovertimeattherateofoneandonehalf112timeshisregularrateofpay1Overtimeshallbecalculatedtothenearestonequarter14hourofovertimeworked2AllovertimemustbeauthorizedinadvancebytheappropriatedepartmentandratifiedbytheCityManagerorhisdesignee3AllunclassifiedandcertainclassifiedjobclassesshallbeexemptfromtheaboveovertimeprovisionsuponrecommendationofthePersonnelDirectorandapprovaloftheCityManageraEmployeesintheseexemptclassesmayreceiveovertimepayintheeventofextraordinarycircumstancesoremergencyconditionsThismaybedoneonlybywrittenorderoftheCityManagerupontherecommendationofthedepartmentheadbTimeoffforworkperformedduringextraordinarycircumstancesoremergencyconditionsbyemployeesintheseexemptjobclassesmaybeauthorizedandadministeredbytheappropriatedepartmenthead4ThereshallbenoovertimecompensationfortimespentinattendingmeetingsincludingtraveltimeofanykindwhichareforthepurposeofeducationortrainingexceptwhereattendanceismademandatorybytheemployeesdivisionordepartmentheadBAllfulltimeclassifiedemployeesexceptforAepartmentheadatareauthorizedtoaccruecompensatorytimeonaonetoonebasisinlieuofovertimepayThispolicyshallbesubjecttotheapprovalofeachdepartmentheadandshallbebasedontheuniquepersonnelrequirementsofeachdepartment1Noemployeeshallbeallowedtoaccrueinexcessoftwentyfour24hoursexceptforcommissionedfirepersonnelwhoshallbeallowedtoaccruethirtysix36hoursChangesoradditionsintextareindicatedbyunderlinedeletionsbystrikeett



ORDINANCENO1146CITYOFFLAGSTAFFARIZONAPage72AllcompensatorytimeshallbereportedasitisaccruedorusedonthepayrolltimereportsubmittedtotheFinanceDivisionAccrualsshallbemarkedcandappearintheOTlineofthePayrollTimeReportCompTimeusedshallbemarkedcandappearintheREGfirstlineofthePayrollTimeReport3ThepracticeofmaintainingindividualdepartmentalrecordsofaccruedcompensatorytimeshallbediscontinuedTheofficialrecordshallbemaintainedbytheFinanceDivision4ClassifiedemployeesshalladvisetheindividualwithintheirdepartmentresponsibleforpreparingthedepartmentalpayrolltimereportbyFridaynoonpriortotheendofthepayperiodiftheydesiretohaveovertimecreditedasaccruedcompensatorytimeOtherwiseanyeligibleovertimewillbetreatedasovertimepay5Employeeswithbalancesinexcessoftwentyfour24hoursthirtysix36hoursforcommissionedfirepersonnelasofJune31980willbeallowedtoretainsaidbalancesRoweveranyandallexcesshoursmustbeusedbytheendofthelastpayrollperiodendinginDecember19816UponterminationofservicetheemployeewillbepaidforhisaccruedcompensatorytimeCTheCityManagerisauthorizedtomakeadjustmentsforcallbackandstandbypaybyadministrativememorandaSECTION6Section303ofOrdinance1116isamendedtoreadSection303EXAMINATIONAOpencompetitionwillbethemodeofselectionforemploymentwiththeCityofFlagstaffTheselectiontechniqueusedintheexaminationprocessshallbeimpartialandrelatetothosesubjectswhichintheopinionofthePersonnelDirectorandCityManagerwillmaximizereliabilityobjectivityandvaliditythroughapracticalandnormallymultipartevaluationofapplicantattributesnecessaryforsuccessfuljobperformanceandcareerdevelopment1ExaminationsshallconsistofselectiontechniqueswhichwilltestfairlythequalificationsofcandidatesSuchtestsmaybebutarenotnecessarilylimitedtowrittentestsperformancetestspersonalinterviewsphysicalagilitytestsChangesoradditionsintextareindicatedbyunderlinedeletionsbystriketut



CITYOFFLAGSTAFF9ARIZONAORDINANCENO1146Page8evaluationofworkexperienceandtrainingmedicalexaminationssuccessfulcompletionofprescribedtrainingoranycombinationoftheseorotherevaluationsTheprobationaryperiodshallbeconsideredanextensionoftheexaminationprocess2TheCityManapermayrequirethesatisfactorycompletionofamedicalandphysicalexaminationpriortopermanentappointmentincertainjobclassesasmaybedeterminedfromtimetotime3Noquestiononanytestortheapplicationofanytestshallattempttoelicitinformationconcerningracecolorancestrynationaloriginreligiouscreedpoliticalopinionsoraffiliationssexagementalorphysicalhandicappedconditionnotjobrelatedarrestrecordorchildcareortransportationarrangementsofanapplicant4ThePersonnelDirectormayathisdiscretiondesignateanypartoftheexaminationprocessasqualifyingonlyBAplieatier9ferGityitieratedaarytimeandallapplieantowillbemetifiedefthetimeandplaeegerthenextteatiiqxTJobinterestcardsforCitypositionswillbeacceptaatanytimeThePersonnelDepartmentwillnotifzinterestedpersonswhenanappropriatepositionisopenedCWhentheexaminationsofapplicantsforanyclassofemployementhavebeenevaluatedtheapplicantshallbesentnoticeoftheirrelativeattainmentexpressedintermsofpercentagepointsThosewhofailtomakeapassinggradewillalsobenotifiedDAnapplicantmayreviewhisexaminationresultsbyrequesttothePersonnelDirectorwithinten10calendardaysafterthenoticesofexaminationresultsaremailedorpostedIfthereviewshoulddiscloseanyerrorstheexaminationrecordofallthoseaffectedshallbemodifiedbythePersonnelDirectortoshowacorrectrecordApplicantsaffectedshallbenotifiedofthecorrectedrecordSECTION7Section304ofOrdinance1116isamendedtoreadSection304EMPLOYMENTELIGIBILITYLISTSANDAPPOINTMENTSATEmpleymeRtlisteTiaerdereitkeirPEi9NitYTshallbereempleymemtlistsalqdeligibilitylists7IReempleymemIistsskalleemainthenaineoefregularFlaekeffarLdserwerkTChangesoradditionsintextareindicatedbyunderlinedeletionsbystrikeeat



GTTYCIFFLAGSTAFFARIZ3NAORDINANCENO1146Page927Namesenreeinpleymentlistoskallremaiaforaperiednetteemeeedeme@lyearTAAllvacanciesintheCityofFlagstaffsclassifiedserviceshallbefilledbyoneofthefollowingthodsandbygivingpreferencetothisorderwhenallot@erqualificationsareequal1Certificationandappointmentfromlayofflists2CertificationandappointmentfromDtpartmentalPromotionallists3Certificationandappointmentfromreinstatementlists4Certificationandappointmentfromopencompetitiveeligilitylists97EligibilitylistashallineludeenlytkesemanesefeaiqdidatesferempleymemterpremetionwhoarequalifiedTAtsuehtimesasadepartmeittmamagelientevaluatienisineludedthelistskallranktkeeligibleeaRdidatesiRtkeerderefEligibiiitylistosaybeextendedbythePersenitelIireeterferaperiedmetteemeeedeRe@l@additiemalyear37Preinetionaleligibilitylistaskallremainiaeffeetferaperiedeieae@l@yearertmtildepletedTBThePersonnelDirectorshallcertifytotheCityManagerDepartmentHeaTorDivisonHeadthenamesofthosesuccessfullydemonstratingtheirEligibilityforem@poymentGTWkeRaRappeintmeiatiotebemadeteavaeameyTtkePerseamelDireeterskallaubmittetkeapprepriatedepartmentkeadtkeRameseRtkeapprepEiateexpleymentlistvAppe3tseiqtstevaeantpesitieneskallbemadebytkeapprepriatedepaEtmeatkeadTwitktkerevieweitkePeroonmelDireeterTITTkeapprepriatedepartmentkeadTwitktkereviewoftkePereeniaelDireetermayerderRamesremevedfEem2TDuetetketimeamelfuftelsexpeiqelegimdevelopingempleymeatliStSTtkeyskallbeusedprudentlybefereeameellimgpriertomermalexpirationdateTChangesoradditionsintextareindicatedbyunderlinedeletionsbystrikeat



CITYOFFLAGSTAFF9ARIZONAORDINANCENO1146Page10CWhenavacancyistobefilledandthetotalnumberofindividualsonalltheabovenamedlistsisfiveorlessteapartmentHeadmaymakeamtm@ntsfromsucheligiblesormayrequestthePersonnelDirectortoestablishanewlistWhensodirectedthePersonnelDirectorshallholdanewexaminationorinterviewandestablishanewlistThelengthofeligibilityforthelistislimitedtoS3XmonthsbutmaybeextendedtooneyearPT1TemporaryappointmentsmaybemadeatthediscretionoftheDepartmentHeadafterconsultationwiththePersonnelDirectoruponapprovaloftheCityManagerwheninternalandexternalapplicantsfailtomeettherequirementsofthevacantpositionETZEmergencyappointmentsmaybemadeby4eartmertFeadstomeettheimmediaterequirementsoftheemergencyconditionsuchasextraordinaryfirefloodearthquakeplanecrashorotherdisasterwhichthreatenspubliclifeorpropertyWhensuchneedoccurstheyshallnotifythePersonnelDirectorwhoshallmeettheirmanpowerrequirementsSECTION8Section401ofOrdinance1116isamendedtoreadARTICLE4EMPLOYEESTATUSPERSONNELACTIONSSECTION401PROMOTIONAAchangeinanemployeesworktomoreextensivedutiestogetherwithhigherminimumqualificationsandaclasswithhighermaximumpayisapromotionITTkeDepartTaezttReadsayseleetanempleyeefremtkeprometionallistereligibilitYliStOTermayreqttestamewexaminatienbegiveaandneweligibilitylistsbeestabliskedt1PromotionsasdefinedinSectionAwillbeaDep@rtmentoptioninthefilling5favacancyPromotionsw@i1onlybemaewithinthedepartment2WhenavacancyoccurswithinaDepartmenttheDepartmentHeadmayrequestthePersonnelDirectortoestablishapromotionallistofqualifiedworerstTecandidatesbeingdrawnfromthesameDepartmentastEevacancy3ThenumberofnamessubmittedonthepromotionallistshallequalthenumberofvacanciesplustwoMenevertherearefewerthanthrfequalifiein3vidualsonapromotionallisttheDepartmentHeadmaymaeaZpoLntmentstromsucheligi@esor@requestanewlistbeestablishedinaccordancewithSection304C2T4UponpromotiontoanotherclassanemployeeshallreceivearateofpayhigherthanhewasreceivingintheformerclassdisregardinganyextracompensationreceivedwithintheformerclassChangesoradditionsintextareindicatedbyunderlinedeletionsbystrikeekt



ORDINANCENO1146CITYOFFLAGSTAFFARIZONAPage113T5UponpromotiontheemployeeshallbegivenanewclassificationdateeffectiveatthetimeofappointmentandbeginservingprobationinthenewclassSECTION9Section405ofOrdinance1116isamendedtoreadSection40516AYOFFREDUCTIONINFORCEATheCityManagermaylayoffanemployeeintheclassifiedservicebecauseofmaterialchangeindutiesororganizationorshortageofworkorfundsEmployeesingoodstandingshallbeplacedonanappropriatereemploymentlistasprovidedbytheserulesBWheneverpossibletheemployeeswillbegivena2weekot2ceotpendingLayottsCTodetermineobjectivelywhicheFIloyeesaretobelaid0tefollowingfactorswillbeusedonaDepartmentalbasis1LengthofcontinuousservicefulltimewiththeCity2Employeeskillstrainingandjobknowledgeasdeterminedbyhisthreemostcurrentmeritevaluations3AnyotherfactortheDepartmentHeadandCityManagermayconsidertobeimportantDThePersonnelDepartmentandFinanceDepartmentwillmeetwiththeemployeestobelaidoftandprovidethefollowing1Estimateonthedurationoflayoff2Explanationofhowseniorityrightswillbeaffected3Explanationonhowvacationandsickleavewillbeattected4Effectsonlifehealthinsuranceandretirementbeneits5Explanationoffinalpay6Wheretos@nupforunemploymentinsurance7ExplanationofreemployementlistSECTION10Section409ofOrdinance1116isamendedtoreadSection409SUSPENSIONWITHOUTPAYAAdepartmentheadwithreviewofthePersonnelDirectormaysuspendanemployeeatanytimeforuptofive5workingdaysfordisciplinarypurposeSuspensionwithoutChangesoradditionsintextareindicatedbyunderlinedeletionsbystrikeedt



CITYOFFLAGSTAFFARIZONAORDINANCENO1146Page12payinthis2aragraphconstitutesatemporarylossofpaystatus@eviedasapenaltytoranoffensewherethecauseisnotsufficientlyseriousenoughfordemotionordismissal1UpontakingsuchactionthedepartmentheadshallfilewiththeemployeeandthePersonnelDirectorawrittennotificationcontainingastatementofthesubstantialreasonsfortheactionandtheeffectivedateoftheaction2Noclassifiedemployeeshallbesuspendedformorethanthirty30calendardaysatonetimenorshallanyemployeebepenalizedbysuspensionformorethanthirty30calendardaysinanyfiscalyear3Thesuspensionofanyemployeebeyondfive5workingdaysforeachincidentshallrequireapprovaloftheCityManagerBADepartmentHeadmaysusrendaclassifiedemployeewithoutpaywherethedepartmentheadsintentionistorecommendthattheemployeebedismissedpursuanttosection412suchsuspensionsshalloeimmediatelyreportedtotheCitZManagerAtthetimeofsuchsuspensiontheclassifiednonprobationaryemployeewhohasbeensuspendedshallreceiveawrittenstatementofthereasonstorsuchproposedactionandnotifiedthathemayhaveahearingconcerningtheproposeddismissalbeforethePersonnelBoardifrequestedwithinseven7daysfollowinsuspensionandinvoketheproceduresofSectionlw5DItnosuchhearngsrequestedwithinseven7Zaysaftersaidwrittennoticeisgiventot@eemployeetheDepartmentHeadshallforwardtotheCityManageraPersonnelActionFormwithhisrecommendationastodismissalThCityClershallacceptinwholeorinpartorrejecttherecommendationsoftheDepartmentHeadandhisdecisionshallbefinalSECTION11Section411ofOrdinance1116isamendedtoreadSection411DEMOTIONDepartmentHeadswishingtodemoteaclassified@mloyeemustforwardtotheCity@nagerandPersonnelDirectorawrittenstatementofthereasonsforsuchproposedactionaswellasgivetheemployeeacopyofthewrittenstatementoFthereasonstorsuchproposedactionandnotificationofhisright@oahearingconcerningtheproposeddemotionbefor@tHePersonnelBoardithesorejuestswithinsevenaysafterreceivingnoticeinaccordancewiththeeuresofSectionMDItnoappealisfiledwiththePersonnelBoardtheCityManagersallactuponteDepartmentHeadsrecommendationandshallacceptinwholeorinpartorrejectsaidrecommendationsTheCityManagermaydemeteinitiatethedemotionofTnyemployeewhoseabilitytoperformhisrequiredFutiesfallsbelowstandardasevidencedbytheemployeesperformanceevaluationorfordisciplinarypurposesWrittennoticeofthedemotionshallbegiventotheemployeeChangesoradditionsintextareindicatedbyunderlinedeletionsbystrikeeit



CITYOFFLAGSTAFFARIZONAORDINANCENO1146Page13beforetheeffectivedateofthedemotionandanopportunityaffordedtotheemployeetoinvoketheprovisionsofSection105DinregardtothesaiddemotionshallhesodesireSECTION12Section412ofOrdinance1116isamendedtoreadSection412DISMISSALAAnyelassifiederunclassifiedemployeeexceptthoseappointedbytheCityCouncilmaybedismissedatanytimebytheCityPrforc@eIprebatienaryexpleyeewkskasbeeRdismissedskallreeeiveawritteastatementeftkereaseitsfersuekaetienandakeariitgbefereekePersennelBeardiikereqdestoemeinwriting7IfintheCityManagersjudmentanemergencysituationexistswhichrequirestheimmediatedismissalorsuspensionforcausewithorwittalofaclassitiedeZpewithoutapreterminationhearinghemaysuspendordischargesaidempioy@egivingtheempeoyeeawrittenstatementofthereasonsforsaidactionandsaidemployeeshallhavetheri@@apostterminationhearingasprovidedinjection105DhereofBThetenureofclassifiedemployeesshallbesecureduringacceptableconductandsatisfactoryperformanceoftheirdutiesandresponsibilitiesEachofthefollowingshallconstitutegroundsfordismissalofaclassifiedemployee1Thattheemployeeisinefficientintheperformanceofhisdutiesandresponsibilities2Thattheemployeeisunsafetohimselforotheremployeesintheperformanceofhisdutiesandresponsibilities3Thattheemployeehasbeenabusiveinhisattitudelanguagebehaviororconducttowardafellowemployeeasupervisororthepublicorthathisactionhasresultedinphysicalharminjuryorfearofsametosuchpersons4Thattheemployeehasbeeninsubordinatewillfullydisobedientorhasfailedtoobeyanylawfulandreasonabledirectionfromanappropriatesupervisor5Thattheemployeehasacceptedafeegiftorothervaluableconsiderationinthecourseofperforminghisdutiesandresponsibilitieswhichisgivenandorreceivedwiththehopeorexpectationofreceivingfavoredtreatmentorotherspecialconsiderations6ThattheemployeehasbeenconvictedofafelonywhileemployedbytheCity7ThattheemployeehasfalsifiedanydocumentreportorstatementrelatingtohisemploymentwiththeCityofFlagstaffChangesoradditionsintextAreindicatedbyunderlinedeletionsbystrikeeut



ORDINANCENO1146CITYOFFLAGSTAFFARIZONAPage148Thattheemployeethroughnegligenceorwillfulmisconducthascauseddamagetopublicpropertyorwasteofpublicsupplies9Thattheemployeehasbeeninexcusablyabsenthasfailedtoreceivepriorapprovalforanypaidorunpaidabsenceorhasabandonedhisposition10Thattheemployeehasbeenguiltyofintentionaldiscriminationbecauseofracecolorreligionsexnationaloriginorage11FailuretoproperlyreportanaccidentinvolvingCitypropertyorCityliability12Thattheemployeesattendanceissuchthattheefficiencyoreffectivenessoftheprogramisimpeded13Thattheemployeehasviolatedguidelinesgoverningoutsideemployment14ThattheemployeehasstolenpublicorprivatepropertymisappropriatedcityfundsorhasbeenanaccompliceinanyoftheseactivitieswhileemployedbytheCityofFlagstaff15ThatitheemployeehasconsumedalcoholicbeveragesoranyotherintoxicantsorillicitdrugsincludingmarijuanaorothercontrolledsubstanceswithoutlawfulprescriptionduringworkingtimeorwhileonspecialassignmentwithoutpriorapprovaloftheCityManagerorthedepartmentheadorthattheemployeehasreportedtoworkinanintoxicatedconditionCItshouldbenotedthattheaforementionedlistingisnotexclusiveinnatureandisintendedonlytoindicatearangeofactionsthatareconsideredgroundsfordismissalSECTION13Section502ofOrdinance1116isamendedtoreadSection502VACATIONAThepurposeofLocation1LaiLiatoeralLeacheligibleemployeetoreturnto@workmentallyrefreshedAllregularfulltimeemployeesintheclassifiedandunclassifiedservicewithanaverageregularworkweekofforty40hoursexcepttemporaryemployeesandprobationaryemployeeswhohaveservedlessthansix6monthsintheserviceoftheCityshallreceiveannualvacationwithpayatthefollowingratesAllpermanentclassified10WorkingDaysemployeeswithlessthanfive385ofaWork5yearscontinuousserviceYearandhiredafterFebruary171976Changesoradditionsintextareindicatedbyunderlinedeletionsbystrikeiut



CITYOFFLAGSTAFFARIZONAORDINANCENO1146Page15PermanentandprobationaryclassifiedemployeeshiredpriortoFebruary171976withlessthanten10yearscontinuousserviceandafterFebruary171976allpermanentclassifiedemployeeswithmorethenfive5yearscontinuousservicePermanentclassifiedemployees15WorkingDaysthmorethanten10years577ofaWorkwicontinuousserviceandunclassiYearfiedemployeeswithlessthantwenty20yearscontinuousservicePermanentclassifiedandun20WorkingDaysclassifiedemployeeswithmore769ofaWorkthantwenty20yearsYearcontinuousservice12WorkingDays462ofaWorkYearForthepurposeofcomputingannualvacationleaveaworkingdayshallbeconsideredasequalto38461ofthenumberofworkingordutyhoursintheestablishedworkyearforeachemployeeBThetimesduringacalendaryearatwhichanemployeemaytakehisvacationshallbedeterminedbytheDepartmentHeadwithdueregardforthewishesoftheemployeeandparticularregardfortheneedsoftheserviceIftherequirementsoftheservicearesuchthatanemployeecannottakepartorallofhisannualvacationinaparticularcalendaryearsuchvacationshallbetakenduringthefollowingcalendaryearLengthofserviceshallbeusedtoresolveconflictsovervacationperiodsbetweenemployeesofthesameclassCNoemployeemayaccruemorethaneigkteen18@mamtkaefvaeatienleavecanbeearned1@eiepr111morithsofcontinuousserviceAnyemployeewithasurplusoverthemaximumaccruasallusetheexcesspriortoJanuary11981orforfeittheexcessDIntheeventoneormoremunicipalholidaysfallwithinanannualvacationleavesuchholidayshallnotbechargedasvacationleaveandthevacationleaveshallbeextendedorcreditedaccordinglyEEmployeeswhohavesatisfactorilycompletedprobationandwhoterminateemploymentshallbepaidinalumpsumforallaccruedvacationleaveearnedpriortotheeffectivedateofterminationChangesoradditionsintextareindicatedbyunderlinedeletionsbystrikedt



ORDINANCENO1146CITYOFFLAGSTAFFARIZONAPage16SECTION14Section503ofOrdinance1116isamendedtoreadSection503SICKLEAVEASickleavewithpayshallbegrantedtoallprobationaryandpermanentemployeeswithinthecompetitiveserviceTemporaryemployeeswillnotaccruesickleaveSickleaveshallnotbeconsideredasarightwhichanemployeemayuseathisdiscretionbutshallbeallowedonlyincaseofactualpersonalgieknessordependentsicknessoriniurvseedependentsickleaveSection50301InthecaseofpersonalsicknesswhereemployeesarecapableofperforminglightdutytheyshallsoadvisetheirDepartmentHeadwhowillmakethesearrangementsprovidedsuchlightdutyisavailableUnnecessaryuseofsickleaveshallbecausefordisciplinaryactionBInordertoreceivecompensationwhileabsentonsickleavetheemployeeshallnotifyhisimmediatesupervisorDivisionorDepartmentHearpriortoorwithinonehourafterthetimesetforbeginninghisdailydutiesIncaseyourimmediatesupervisorcannotbereachednoticeshallbegiventothePersonnelDirectorTheemployeemayberequiredtofileaphysicianscertificateorapersonalaffidavitwiththePersonnelDirectorstatingthecauseofabsenceCProbationaryemployeeswillbeallowedtouseuptosix6workdayssickleaveatanytimeduringtheirfirstsix6monthsofemploymentThereaftersickleaveshallbeaccumulatedtoatotalofnotmorethanonehundredthirty130workdaysUnearnedsickleaveusedshallbedeductedfromtheempfloyeealastpayCneeicDIntheeventthatanypaidholidayoccursduringaperiodwhenanemployeeisonpaidsickleavetheholidayshallnotbechargedagainsttheemployeesaccruedsickleaveTheonlysickleavehoursthatshallbechargedtoanyemployeesaccruedsickleaveshallbethosehoursthattheemployeeisregularlyscheduledtoworkEOncemaximumsickleavehasbeenaccumulatedunusedsickleaveaccruedinexcessofthemaximumshallbepaidtotheemployeeonthefirstpayperiodinDecemberandshallincludeleaveaccruedthroughthelastpayperiodinNovemberattherateofone1dayspayforeachthree3daysunusedsickleaveaccruedinexcessofthemaximumEmployeesleavingtheserviceshallbepaidforunusedsickleaveattherateofone1dayspaidforeachthree3daysofunusedsickleaveunderthefollowingconditions1EmployeesretiringfromtheC@tyewlovmevtwithaminimumoften10yearsserviceattheminimumageofsixtytwo62Changesoradditionsintextareindicatedbyunderlinedeletionsbystrikeeat



CITYOFFLAGSTAFFARIZONAORDINANCENO1146Page17ZEmployeesterminatingCityemploymentwithaminimumoftwenty20yearsserviceFAnemployeereceivingtemporarydisabilitypaymentsundertheworkmenscompensationlawsmayuseaccumulatedsickleaveinordertocontinuetomaintainhisregularincomeCityemployeesreceivingfullsalariesfromtheCitya4alladisabilitypaynentnderqorkmenscompensationmustremittotheCityanyfundsreceivedfromtheStateCompensationFundThesepaymentswillbecreditedtotheemployeessickleaveaccountThepurposeofthisregulationistoensurethatanemployeedoesnotsufferaneconomichardshipasaresultofaworkrelatedinjuryaswellastoensurethattheemployeewillnotbemakingafinancialgainasaresultofaninjuryItistheemployeesprerogativetodeterminewhetherhewishestocontinueontheCitypayrollorwhetherhewishestoacceptthedisabilitypaymentsfromtheStateCompensationFundinlieuofcontinuingontheCitypayrollGIntheeventthatanemployeebecomessickorhasanaccidentduringpaidtimeoffforvacationwithpropermedicaldocumentationthetimemaybechargedtoaccruedsickleaveSECTION15Section50304ofOrdinance1116isamendedtoreadSection50301DEPENDENTSICKLEAVEAAllclassifiedandunclassifiedpermanentemployeeswillbeallowedtoutilizeaccruedsickleaveforcareofsickorinjureddependents1InordertoreceivecompensationfordependentsickleavetheemployeeshallnotifyhisimmediatesupervisorortkePersennelDireeterDepartmentHeadpriortoorwithinonehourafterthetimesetorbeginninghisdailyroutine2Howeverallshiftpersonnelshallberequiredtomakenotificationonehourpriortothestartoftheirshift3TheDepartmentHeadmayrequiredocumentationofinjuryorsicknessoftheemployeesepenentsSECTION16Section50302ofOrdinance1116isamendedtoreadSection50302PERSONALLEAVEAAllclassifiedandunclassifiedpermanentemployeeswillbeallowedtouseone1dayofaccruedsickleavepercalendaryearformattersofpersonalbusiness1InordertoreceivecompensationforpersonalleavetheemployeeshallnotifyhisimmediatesuperviosrortkePersomitelDireeterDepartmentHeadpriortoorwithinonehourafterthetimesetforbeginninghisdailyroutineChangesoradditionsintextareindicatedbyunderlinedeletionsbyarikeout



CITYOFFLAGSTAFFARIZONAORDINANCENO1146Page18Howeverallshiftpersonnelshallberequiredtom@aenotificationonehourpriortothestarto@theirshmt2PerGnaLLeLavetbecarr@doverintoanothercalendaryear3EmployeeswillnotbeallowedtotakepersonalleaveaftersubmittinganoticeofresignationSECTION17Section504ofOrdinance1116isamendedtoreadSection504FAMILYLEAVEAFamilyleavewithpaymaybegrantedintheeventofseriousillnesswheredeathappearsimminentorthedeathofamemberoftheemployeeimmediatefamilyTheimmediatefamilyshallconsistoftheemployeesspousechildrenparentsgrandparentsgrandchildrenbrotherssistersorthespouseschildrenparentsgrandparentsgrandchildrenbrotherssistersorotherdependentsaspetitionedBForeachoccurrenceuptothree3daysoffamilyleavemaybegrantedforanimmediatefamilymembersdeathifwithinthestateofArizonaanduptofive5daysmaybegrantedifoutsideofthestateSECTION18Section505ofOrdinance1116isamendedtoreadSection505MATERNITYLEAVEAMaternityleaveshallbeunderthesameprovisionsassickleaveSection503BIftheemployeedoesnothaveenoughaccruedsickleaveshemayapplyforvacationleaveandorpersonalleavewithoutpayPASSEDANDADOPTEDbytheCouncilandapprovedbytheMayoroftheCityofFlagstaffthis3rddayofFebruary1981MAYORATTESTcCITYCLERKAPPROVEDASTOFORM7ITVRNEYChangesoradditionsintextareindicatedbyunderlinedeletionsbystrikedt



CITYOFFLAGSTAFFARIZONAORDINANCENO1198A14ORDINANCEAMENDINGORDINANCENO1116PERSONNELPOLICIESPERTAININGTOSECTION105PEISONNELBOARDIISECTION409SUSPENSIONWITHOUTPAYSECTION603NEPOTISMANDSECTION801SAFETYIFRFITORDAINEDBYT4FCOUNCILCIFTHECITYOFFLACTAFA@FOLLOWSSECTION1AmendSection105A1A2A4andA5pertainingtomembershiptheexofficiomembersofthePersonnelBoardtherequiredquorumofrespectivelytoreadasfollowsAlTheCityCouncilshallappointfive@seven7individualstoserveonthePersonneltoar@adgtwe2alternateswhoshallserveintheabsenceefartyregularmembersA2TheGityGedmeiishallhavethepewertoresevemembersefthePersommelBeardAnymemberwhomissestwoconsecutivehearingsmayteasetobedmemberofthdBoarddotangentuponCouncilactionA4ThePersonnelDirectoryahal1beanexofficiomemberoftheBoardandshallbeprivilegedtotakepartinallactionsoftheBoardexceptformakingmotionsbyvotingA5Five@membersAmajorityoftheBoardshallconstituteaquorumforthetransactionofbusinessSECTION2AmendSection105D5ofOrdinanceNo1116pertainingtothepresentationoftheCityscasetothePersonnelBoardtoreadasfollowsWhenacaseisbroughtbeforethePersonnelBoardthedepartmentheadinvolvedorthedepartmentIheadsdesiggeeshallprepareanpresenttheCityscasetothePersonnelBoardSHCTION3AmendSection409A3ofOrdinanceNo1116relatingtosuspensionofemployeeswithoutpaytoreadasfollowsExceptasprovidedinsubsectionBofthissectionthesuspensionofanyemployeebeyondfive5workingdaysforeachincidentshallrequireapprovaloftheCityManagerSECTION4AmendSection603AofOrdinanceNo1116pertainingtonepotismtoreadasfollowsRelativesshallbedefinedtoincludemotherinlawfatherinlawsisterinlawbrotherinlawdaughterinlawsoninlawhusbandwifestepchildrenstepparentsgrandchildrengrandparentsgreatgrandchildrengreatgrandparentsniecesnephewsunclesandauntsAdditionsindicatedbyunderlinedeletionsbystrikeedt



CITYOFFLAGSTAFFARIZONAORDINANCENO1198Page2SECTION5AmendSection801BofOrdinanceNo1116pertainingtosafetyandtrainingofemployeesbyaddingthefollowingprovision2CasesofvehicularaccidentsandpropertyabuseshallbereviewedbytheCityAccidentReviewBoardwhichwimakerecommendationstotheappropriatedepartmentheadPASSEDANDADOPTEDbytheCouncilandapprovedbytheMayoroftheCityofFlagstaffthis6thdayofApril19829MRATTESTCITYCLEFIKAPPROVEDASTOFORMCITUATIORNEYAdditionsindicatedbyunderlinedeletionsbystrikeedt



City of Flagstaff, AZ

NAME APPOINTED TERM EXPIRES

PERSONNEL BOARD  APPLICANTS

TRAINING 

COMPLETED

4981 S. Topaz Road

Sauer, Dietrich

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Director of Human Resources/Flagstaff Unified 
School District

10/16/2007 10/13 10/08/2008

Cell Phone: 928-221-3435

Term: (1st 10/07-10/13)

Staff Representative: Shannon Anderson

As Of: September 13, 2013

Friday, September 13, 2013 Page 1 of 1





  7. B.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Stacy Saltzburg, Deputy City Clerk

Date: 09/25/2013

Meeting Date: 10/01/2013

TITLE: 
Consideration of Appointments:  Board of Adjustment.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Make one appointment to term expiring May 2016.

Policy Decision or Reason for Action:
By making the above appointment, the Board of Adjustment will be at full membership and will be able to
continue meeting on a regular basis.  There is one application on file as follows:

Jerome Naleski (current member)
 

Mr. Naleski is a current member of the Board of Adjustment; he is eligible for and seeking reappointment.

Financial Impact:
These are voluntary positions and there is no budgetary impact to the City of Flagstaff.

Connection to Council Goal:
Effective governance.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
None.

Options and Alternatives:
1) Appoint one member: By appointing a member at this time, the Board of Adjustment will be at full
membership, allowing the group to meet and provide recommendations to the City Council.

2) Table the action to allow for further discussion or expand the list of candidates.



Background/History:
The Board of Adjustment is made up of five citizens. There is currently one seat available.

The Board of Adjustment holds hearings on requests for variances and appeals of decisions by the
Zoning Administrator. The board does not have the authority to change zoning law.

Key Considerations:
It is important to fill the vacancies so as to allow the Board to continue meeting on a regular basis.

Expanded Financial Considerations:
None.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
The City's boards, commissions, and committees were created to foster public participation and input
and to encourage Flagstaff citizens to take an active role in city government. 

Community Involvement:
INFORM: The vacancies are posted on the City's website and individual recruitment and mention of the
opening by Board members and City staff has occurred, informing others of this vacancy through word of
mouth. 

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
COUNCIL INTERVIEW TEAM: Vice Mayor Evans and Councilmember Barotz.

Attachments:  Board of Adjustment Roster
Board of Adjustment Authority
Board of Adjustment Applicant Roster
Board of Adjustment Applications



City of Flagstaff, AZ

NAME APPOINTED TERM EXPIRES

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT  MEMBERS

TRAINING 

COMPLETED

712 W. Old Territory Trail

Andersen, Dan

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Landscape Division Manager/Warner's Nursery 
& Landscape Co.

09/18/2012 05/15 03/18/2010

Work Phone: 774-5911 x26

Term: (1st 3/10 - 5/12; 2nd 5/12 - 5/15)

1823 W. Heavenly Court

Dorsett, Stephen

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

President/Architect/Shapes & Forms Architects, 
Inc.

06/06/2012 Indefinite 10/20/2011

Work Phone: 928-213-9626

PLANNING AND ZONING REPRESENTATIVE

530 E. Charles

Henry, Don

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

President/Northland Windows & Doors, Inc.

11/04/2008 05/14 04/24/2008

Work Phone: 779-5779

Term: (1st 10/07 - 5/08; 2nd 5/08 - 5/11; 3rd 
5/11-5/14)

717 W. Riordan

Naleski, Jerome

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Realtor/Re/Max Peak Properties

08/07/2007 05/13 10/17/2007

Cell Phone: 225-9225

Term: (1st 8/07 - 5/10; 2nd 5/10 - 5/13)

Wednesday, August 14, 2013 Page 1 of 2



City of Flagstaff, AZ

4853 S. Bright Angel Trail

Scandura, Philip

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Staff Engineer/Honeywell

09/18/2012 05/15 03/18/2010

Home Phone: 214-8194

Term: (1st 3/10 - 5/12; 2nd 5/12 - 5/15)

AT LARGE

Staff Representative: Roger Eastman

As Of: August 14, 2013

Wednesday, August 14, 2013 Page 2 of 2



 

TITLE 2 - PAGE 19 

CHAPTER 2-10 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENTS 

 

 

Sections: 

 

2-10-001-0001 Establishment of the Board  

2-10-001-0002 Membership 

2-10-001-0003 Meetings 

2-10-001-0004 Powers and Duties 

2-10-001-0005 Appeals 

2-10-001-0006 Restrictions 

2-10-001-0007 City Council Authorized to Act as Board 

2-10-001-0008 Hearing Officer 

2-10-001-0009 Appeal from the Board of Adjustment. 

 

 

Section 2-10-001-0001 Establishment of the Board 

 

There is hereby created a Board of Adjustment (the “Board”). 

 

Section 2-10-001-0002 Membership 

 

The Board of Adjustment shall be composed of five (5) voting members. 

 

A. Four (4) members shall be appointed by the Mayor and City Council from 

the citizens of the City of Flagstaff.   

 

B. One (1) member shall be appointed by the City Council from the 

membership of the Planning and Zoning Commission. 

 

C. Terms shall be for three (3) years for members. 

 

D. The Board shall elect from its voting members a chairperson and a vice 

chairperson who shall serve for a term of one (1) year.  The 

chairperson shall have the power to administer oaths and take 

evidence.   

 

Section 2-10-001-0003 Meetings 

 

The meetings of the Board of Adjustment shall be open to the public and 

held at the time and place adopted for the regular monthly meetings of 

the Board.  Meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the Board and 

Commission Members’ Handbook adopted by resolution of the Flagstaff City 

Council, and in compliance with all other local, state, and federal 

laws. The minutes of its proceedings, showing the vote of each member 

and records of its examinations and other official actions shall be kept 

by the City Clerk as a public record.  

 

A quorum shall be one more than half the voting membership of the Board 

of Adjustment.   

 



 

TITLE 2 - PAGE 20 

Section 2-10-001-0004 Powers and Duties 

 

The Board of Adjustment (“Board”) is a quasi-judicial administrative 

body established by the City Council that functions on the level between 

enforcement officers and the Courts.  The Board interprets the meaning 

and spirit of City Code Title 10 (Zoning Code) as enacted by the City 

Council; it does not have authority to make or change zoning law.  The 

Board of Adjustment shall have the powers and duties per A.R.S. § 

9-462.06 to:  

 

 

A. Hear and decide appeals in which it is alleged there is an error in an 

order, requirement, or decision made by an administrative official in 

the enforcement of City Code Title 10 (Zoning Code). 

 

B. Hear and decide appeals for variances from the terms of the Zoning 

Code only if, because of special circumstances applicable to the 

property, including its size, shape, topography, location, or 

surroundings, the strict application of the Zoning Code will deprive 

such property of privileges enjoyed by other property of the same 

classification in the same zoning district.  Any variance is subject 

to such conditions as will ensure that the adjustment authorized shall 

not constitute a grant of special privileges inconsistent with the 

limitations upon other properties in the vicinity and zone in which 

such property is located.   

 

C. Reverse or affirm, wholly or in part, or modify the order, 

requirement, or decision of an administrative officer appealed from, 

and make such order, requirement, decision, or determination as 

necessary. 

 

D. Adopt such rules of procedure necessary for the administration of 

responsibilities consistent with these regulations. 

 

Section 2-10-001-0005 Appeals 

 

Any person aggrieved by a decision of the Board of Adjustment may, at 

any time within thirty (30) days after the Board has rendered its 

decision, file a complaint for special action in the superior court to 

review the Board’s decision. Filing the complaint does not stay 

proceedings on the decision sought to be reviewed, but the court may, on 

application, grant a stay and on final hearing may affirm or reverse, in 

whole or in part, or modify the decision reviewed. 

 

Section 2-10-001-0006 Restrictions 

 

The Board of Adjustment may not: 

 

A. Make any changes in the uses permitted in any zoning classification or 

zoning district, or make any changes in the terms of the Zoning Code 

provided the restriction in this paragraph shall not affect the 



 

TITLE 2 - PAGE 21 

authority to grant variances pursuant to this Chapter and Division 10-

20-70 (Variances).   

 

B. Grant a variance if the special circumstances applicable to the 

property are self-imposed by the property owner. 

 

C. Grant a variance on an appeal for any of the following: 

 

1. Conditions or stipulations of a Zoning Map amendment. 

 

2. Conditions of a Subdivision Plat recommended for approval by the 

Planning and Zoning Commission or as approved by the City Council, 

or of a Land Split Map. 

 

3. Conditions of a Development Agreement. 

 

4. Conditions of an Annexation Agreement or ordinance. 

 

5. Conditions of a Conditional Use Permit. 

 

6. Conditions of a Resource Mitigation Case. 

 

7. Illegal or Prohibited Uses in any zoning district. 

 

8. Illegal or Prohibited Signs, as listed in Division 10-50.90 (Sign 

Regulations), in any district. 

 

9. Determination of a requirement for a General Plan Amendment by the 

Planning Director. 

 

D. Applications for any of the above-listed items shall not be 

accepted or processed, nor will the Board of Adjustment schedule or 

conduct meetings regarding the same. 

 

2-10-001-0007 City Council Authorized to Act as Board of Adjustment 

 

When a quorum of the Board of Adjustment cannot be achieved due to 

absence or disqualification, upon majority vote the City Council may act 

as the Board of Adjustment.  (Amended, Ord. No. 2011-23, 09/06/2011) 

 

2-10-001-0008 Hearing Officer 

 

Pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-462.08, the City has the authority to establish 

administrative hearing officers and, pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-462.06, may 

delegate to a hearing officer the authority to hear and decide on 

matters within the jurisdiction of the Board of Adjustment.  

 

A. Appointment. The Hearing Officer shall be appointed by the City 

Manager on the basis of training and experience which qualifies him 

or her to conduct hearings and make findings and conclusions of the 

matters heard.  

 



 

TITLE 2 - PAGE 22 

B. Powers and Duties. The Hearing Officer shall have all the powers and 

duties granted to the Board of Adjustment pursuant to this Section 

and prescribed by law. 

 

C. Procedure. Public hearings conducted by the Hearing Officer shall be 

open to the public and conducted in accordance with the Rules of 

Procedure for the Board of Adjustment. 

 

D. Appeal. Any person aggrieved by a decision of the Hearing Officer 

may file an appeal to the Board of Adjustment within fifteen (15) 

calendar days after the Hearing Officer has rendered a decision. 

Appeals of the decisions of the Hearing Officer shall be heard by 

the Board of Adjustment or, if a quorum of the Board of Adjustment 

cannot be achieved, by the City Council acting as the Board of 

Adjustment, as applicable. If the Board of Adjustment, or the City 

Council acting as the Board of Adjustment pursuant to Section 10-09-

004-0001.E.7., is unable to achieve a quorum due to absence or 

disqualification, the aggrieved party may file a complaint for 

special action directly in the Superior Court within thirty (30) 

days after the Board of Adjustment, or the City Council acting as 

the Board of Adjustment, issues an order declaring its inability to 

hear the appeal. 

 

(Amended Ord. No. 2011-27, 11/18/2011) 

 

Section 2-10-001-0009 Appeal from the Board of Adjustment. 

 

Any person aggrieved by a decision of the Board of Adjustment may appeal 

the decision directly to the Superior Court by filing a complaint for 

special action within thirty (30) days after the Board has rendered its 

decision.  

 

(Amended Ord. No. 2011-27, 11/18/2011) 

 

(Adopted, 1978 Code; Amended, Ord. No. 2010-35, 11/16/2010; Amended, 

Ord. No. 2011-23, 09/06/2011; Amended Ord. No. 2011-27, 11/18/2011) 

 



City of Flagstaff, AZ

NAME APPOINTED TERM EXPIRES

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT  APPLICANTS

TRAINING 

COMPLETED

2019 N. Crescent Dr.

Naleski, Jerome

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Realtor/Re/Max Peak Properties

08/07/2007 10/17/2007

Cell Phone: 928-225-9225

Term: (1st 8/07 - 5/10; 2nd 5/10 - 5/13)

Staff Representative: Roger Eastman

As Of: September 13, 2013

Friday, September 13, 2013 Page 1 of 1



1

Stacy Saltzburg

From: noreply@civicplus.com
Sent: Tuesday, August 06, 2013 9:59 AM
To: Elizabeth Burke; Stacy Saltzburg
Subject: Online Form Submittal: Board/Commission Application

If you are having problems viewing this HTML email, click to view a Text version. 

 

 

Board/Commission Application  

 
 
 

Important Notice:  

The City Council may consider appointments to boards and commissions in executive sessions which are closed to 

the public, and then make the appointments in a public meeting. You have the right, however, to have your 

application considered in a public meeting by providing a written request to the City Clerk.  

Application to Serve on a Board/Commission  

Please note that this information is a public record.  

Date:*  8/6/13  

Board/Commission you wish to serve on:*  board of adjustments  

If applicable, type of seat for which you are qualified:  general  

Your Information  
 

Name:*  Jerome Naleski  Home Phone:*  9282259225  
 

Home Address:*  2019 n Crescent Dr  Zip:*  86001  
 

Mailing Address (If different from above):   

Employer:*  Re/Max Peak Properties  Job Title:*  Realtor  
 

Business Phone:   Cell:  9282259225  
 

E-mail:*  jeromenaleski@gmail.com  

Indicate preferred telephone:*  ( ) Home 

( ) Work 
 

(X) Cell 
 

 

Background Information  
 

Please explain how your community activities and other relevant experience/interests are applicable to this board or 

commission.*  

re-applying for this board I have been on for a while. Past president of the Northern Arizona Association of Realtors 

and current member for the citizens advisory committee to the Regional Plan  

 

Why do you want to serve on the board or commission you listed?*  

As a public service and to gain awareness in my community   
By submitting this electronic form, I acknowledge that any information provided above is a public record, and I 

certify that I meet the City Charter requirement of living within the Flagstaff City limits and have read and 

understand the right to have my application considered in a public meeting.  
 

  
 

* indicates required fields.  
 

 

 

 

The following form was submitted via your website: Board/Commission Application 

 

Date:: 8/6/13 

 

Board/Commission you wish to serve on:: board of adjustments 

 

If applicable, type of seat for which you are qualified:: general 

 

Name:: Jerome Naleski 



2

 

Home Phone:: 9282259225 

 

Home Address:: 2019 n Crescent Dr 

 

Zip:: 86001 

 

Mailing Address (If different from above)::  

 

Employer:: Re/Max Peak Properties 

 

Job Title:: Realtor 

 

Business Phone::  

 

Cell:: 9282259225 

 

E-mail:: jeromenaleski@gmail.com 

 

Indicate preferred telephone:: Cell 

 

Please explain how your community activities and other relevant experience/interests are applicable to this 

board or commission.: re-applying for this board I have been on for a while. Past president of the Northern 

Arizona Association of Realtors and current member for the citizens advisory committee to the Regional Plan 

 

Why do you want to serve on the board or commission you listed?: As a public service and to gain awareness in 

my community  

 

 

 

 

Additional Information: 
Form submitted on: 8/6/2013 9:58:33 AM 
Submitted from IP Address: 75.160.24.218 
Referrer Page: http://www.flagstaff.az.gov/index.aspx?nid=1883 
Form Address: http://az-flagstaff3.civicplus.com/Forms.aspx?FID=166  



  7. C.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Stacy Saltzburg, Deputy City Clerk

Date: 09/25/2013

Meeting Date: 10/01/2013

TITLE: 
Consideration of Appointments:  Beautification & Public Art Commission (BPAC).

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Make one Art Community appointment to a term expiring June 2016.
Make two At-Large appointments to terms expiring June 2016.

Policy Decision or Reason for Action:
By making the above appointments, the Beautification & Public Art Commission will be at full
membership and will be able to continue meeting on a regular basis. There are four applications on file
as follows:

Emma Gardner (current commissioner)
Jason Hansenbank (new applicant)
Jeff Knorr (new applicant)
Ann Mead Soper (new applicant)

Ms. Emma Gardner is a current commissioner; she is eligible for and seeking reappointment. Please
review attached matrix for applicants and their qualifications.

Financial Impact:
These are voluntary positions and there is no budgetary impact to the City of Flagstaff.

Connection to Council Goal:
Diversity of arts, culture and educational opportunities.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
None.

Options and Alternatives:
1) Appoint three Commissioners: By appointing members at this time, the Beautification & Public Arts
Commission will be at full membership, allowing the group to meet and provide recommendations to the
City Council.

2) Table the action to allow for further discussion or expand the list of candidates.



Background/History:
The Beautification & Public Art Commission consists of nine citizens serving three-year terms.  One of
the positions represents the hospitality industry, two positions represent members of the arts community,
one position represents the design professional industry, and five are at-large seats.  There is currently
one arts community seat and two at-large seats available.

The Beautification and Public Art Commission recommends expenditures from the BBB beautification
fund and public art portion of the BBB arts and science fund. It studies and recommends community
beautification projects ranging from landscaping and irrigation, signs and billboards, buildings, facilities,
streetscapes, gateways, the purchase and installation of public art projects within beautification projects,
property acquisition for beautification and/or public art projects, and neighborhood-initiated projects, to
mention a few.

Key Considerations:
It is important to fill the vacancies so as to allow the Commission to continue meeting on a regular basis.

Expanded Financial Considerations:
The City's boards, commissions, and committees were created to foster public participation and input
and to encourage Flagstaff citizens to take an active role in city government.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
INFORM:  The vacancies are also posted on the City's website and individual recruitment and mention of
the opening by Board members and City staff has occurred, informing others of this vacancy through
word of mouth.  

Community Involvement:
COUNCIL INTERVIEW TEAM:  Councilmember Brewster and Councilmember Oravits

Attachments:  BPAC Roster
BPAC Authority
BPAC Applicant Roster
BPAC Applicant Matrix
BPAC Applications



City of Flagstaff, AZ

NAME APPOINTED TERM EXPIRES

BEAUTIFICATION AND PUBLIC ART COMMISSION  MEMBERS

TRAINING 

COMPLETED

1401 N. 4th Street, #159

Aiken, Bruce

Flagstaff, AZ  86004

Self-Employed

08/01/2011 06/14 02/16/2012

Work Phone: 226-2882

Term: (1st 4/07 - 6/08; 2nd 6/8 - 6/11; 3rd 
6/11 - 6/14)

ARTS COMMUNITY

103 N. Bonito #1

Chambers, Robert

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Illustrator/Designer/Self

12/04/2012 06/15 No

Term: (1st 12/12-6/15)

DESIGN PROFESSIONAL

113 N. San Francisco St. Apt. 201

Doyle, Anne

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Heritage Program Manager/Museum of 
Northern Arizona

05/17/2011 06/14 10/20/2011

Cell Phone: 928-607-2066

Term: (1st 6/11 - 6/14)

AT LARGE

2415 N. Kramer Street

Foster, Vicky

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Instructor/Central AZ College

12/04/2012 06/15 10/20/2011

Cell Phone: 928-607-5298

Term: (1st 6/09 - 6/12; 2nd 6/12-6/15)

AT LARGE

Wednesday, August 14, 2013 Page 1 of 3



City of Flagstaff, AZ

216 S. Beaver St.

Gardner, Emma

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Artist/Self

12/04/2012 06/13 03/12/2013

Home Phone: 928-607-5039

Term: (1st 12/12-6/13)

AT LARGE

420 W. Havasupai Rd.

Giesecke, Linda

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Staff Nurse/Lake Powell Medical Center

08/18/2010 06/13 No

Home Phone: 779-5419

Term: (1st 6/06-6/07; 2nd 6/07-6/10; 3rd 6/10-
6/13)

AT-LARGE

1450 W. Kaibab Ln. #180

Hunt, Dan

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Sales Manager/Southwest Hospitality-Fairfield 
Inn

12/04/2012 06/15 No

Cell Phone: 928-607-8967

Term: (1st 8/11 - 6/12; 2nd 6/12-6/15)

HOSPITALITY

517 N. Agassiz St.

Kelly, Laura

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Executive Director/Flagstaff Symphony 
Orchestra

05/17/2011 06/14 No

Cell Phone: 928-853-9226

Term: (1st 6/11 - 6/14)

AT LARGE

780 East Cherry Ave.

Malloy, Heather

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

03/06/2012 06/13 No

Cell Phone: 928-254-1635

Term: (1st 3/12 - 6/13)

ARTS COMMUNITY

Wednesday, August 14, 2013 Page 2 of 3



City of Flagstaff, AZ

Staff Representative: Karl Eberhard

As Of: August 14, 2013

Wednesday, August 14, 2013 Page 3 of 3



 

TITLE 2 - PAGE 32 

CHAPTER 2-14 

BEAUTIFICATION AND PUBLIC ART COMMISSION 

 

SECTIONS: 

 

2-14-001-0001 CREATION OF COMMISSION: 

2-14-001-0002 COMPOSITION AND TERM OF OFFICE: 

2-14-001-0003 COMPENSATION OF COMMISSION MEMBERS: 

2-14-001-0004 ORGANIZATION: 

2-14-001-0005 MEETINGS: 

2-14-001-0006 DUTIES: 

 

 

SECTION 2-14-001-0001 CREATION OF COMMISSION: 

 

There is hereby established a City Beautification and Public Art 

Commission.  There shall be nine (9) voting members of said Commission 

who shall meet as hereinafter provided to consider and recommend 

programs for the expenditure of the portions of the Bed, Board and Booze 

Tax as designated by City Code, Title 3, Chapter 6, Section 3-06-001-

0004. 

 

(Ord. No. 1580, Enacted, 08/02/88; Ord. No. 2006-15, Amended, 

05/16/2006; Ord. No. 2007-07, Amended, 02/06/2007)) 

 

SECTION 2-14-001-0002 COMPOSITION AND TERM OF OFFICE: 

 

The composition of the membership shall consist of:  

 

A. A Councilmember designated by the City Council to serve, as a non-

voting, ex officio Council liaison, during the Councilmember's term of 

office.  (Ord. 1674, 9-18-90); (Ord. 2006-15, 05/16/2006) 

 

B. One (1) member to be from the hospitality industry, appointed by the 

City Council.  Said member shall serve a three (3) year term. 

 

C. Two voting members from the arts community, including, but not 

limited to artists, craftsmen, gallery owners, arts educator, art 

historian, art curator, art administrator. 

 

D. One voting member who is a design professional, including, but not 

limited to, architects, landscape architect, urban planner, or graphic 

designer. 

 

E. Five (5) additional members appointed by the City Council.  (Ord. 

No. 2006-15, (05/16/2006); (Ord. No. 2007-04, Amended 02/06/07) 

 

Each member shall serve three-year terms, on a staggered basis.  A 

member's term in office shall commence with the first regular Commission 

meeting following the appointment and terminate with the regular 

Commission meeting at which the successor takes office.  No voting 



 

TITLE 2 - PAGE 33 

member of the Commission may be appointed to more than two (2) full 

consecutive terms. 

 

(Ord. No. 1580, Enacted, 08/02/88; Ord. No. 1674, Amended, 09/18/90; 

Ord. No. 2006-15, Amended 05/16/2006); (Ord. No. 2007-04, Amended 

02/06/07) 

 

SECTION 2-14-001-0003 COMPENSATION OF COMMISSION MEMBERS: 

 

Members of the Commission shall serve without compensation. 

 

(Ord. No. 1580, Enacted, 08/02/88) 

 

SECTION 2-14-001-0004 ORGANIZATION: 

 

The Commission shall elect a Chairperson from among its members.  The 

term of the Chairperson shall be one year with eligibility for 

reelection.  Commission members may not serve more than two (2) 

consecutive terms as Chairperson.  The Council representative shall not 

be eligible for the Chair.  

 

(Ord. No. 1580, Enacted, 08/02/88) 

 

SECTION 2-14-001-0005 MEETINGS: 

 

A. The Commission shall hold at least one regular meeting per month, 

which shall at all times be open to the public, the time and place of 

said meeting shall be posted in accordance with the applicable Arizona 

State Statutes. 

 

B. A quorum consisting of a minimum of five (5) voting members shall be 

required to conduct business. 

 

(Ord. No. 1580, Enacted, 08/02/88; Ord. No. 2006-15, Amended 05/16/2006) 

 

SECTION 2-14-001-0006 DUTIES: 

 

The duties of the Commission shall be to:  

 

A. The Commission shall be responsible for preparing a Five (5) Year 

Plan.  The Five Year Plan shall be used as a guideline for future 

programs.  Said Plan shall be presented to the Council prior to April 1 

of each year. 

 

B. Develop and present to City Council an Annual Plan outlining the 

Commission's program recommendations for the upcoming fiscal year.  Said 

plan shall be presented to the Council prior to April 1 of each year. 

 

C. Make recommendations to the City Council concerning the annual 

budgetary allocation of the beautification and public art portions of 

the Bed, Board and Booze Tax and other monies as deemed appropriate by 



 

TITLE 2 - PAGE 34 

the City Council, as outlined in City Code, Section 3-06-001-0004, to 

include, but not be limited to: 

 

1. Purchase, installation or modification of landscaping and 

irrigation systems; 

 

2. Purchase, removal or modification of billboards and 

nonconforming signs; 

 

3. Beautification of buildings and facilities, streetscapes and 

gateways; 

 

4. Purchase and installation of public art projects; 

 

5. Purchase or lease of easements or property necessary for 

beautification projects. 

 

D. Make recommendations to the City Council for public art projects by: 

 

1. Reviewing and defining potential public art projects and 

writing project descriptions. 

 

2. Determining the artist selection method and writing the call to 

artists for public art projects. 

 

3. Evaluating public art proposals for recommendation to the City 

Council. 

 

4. Facilitating display of local art in public facilities. 

 

  Oed. No. 2006-15, Amended, 05/16/2006) 

 

E. Perform any additional duties as determined by the City Council, 

related to beautification and public art activities.  (Ord.1580, 8-2-88) 

 

(Ord. No. 1580, Enacted, 08/02/88; Ordinance No. 2006-15, Amended, 

05/16/2006) 

 

 



City of Flagstaff, AZ

NAME APPOINTED TERM EXPIRES

BEAUTIFICATION AND PUBLIC ART COMMISSION  APPLICANTS

TRAINING 

COMPLETED

216 S. Beaver St.

Gardner, Emma

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Artist/Self

12/04/2012 03/12/2013

Home Phone: 928-607-5039

Term: (1st 12/12-6/13)

ARTIST

816 N. Kendrick Sr.

Hasenbank, Jason

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Owner/Off The Wall Entertainment

No

Home Phone: 928-607-3001

6744 Anazazi

Knorr, Jeff

Flagstaff, AZ  86004

President/JKC Inc General Contractor

No

Home Phone: 928-606-4378

1111 W. Lower Coconino Ave., Unit B

Mead Soper, Anne

Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Architect/UPDESIGN Studio

No

Cell Phone: 520-780-8746

DESIGN PROFESSIONAL

Staff Representative: Karl Eberhard

As Of: September 27, 2013

Friday, September 27, 2013 Page 1 of 1



A
T

-L
A

R
G

E

Ju
n

-1
6

A
T

-L
A

R
G

E

Ju
n

-1
6

A
R

T
S

 C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y

Ju
n

-1
6

Emma Gardner X

Jason Hasenbank

Jeff Knorr

Ann Mead Soper

  Indicates positions that the City Council can appoint the Applicant.

  Indicates that Applicant is not eligible for this position.

######

###### ###### ###### ###### ###### ###### ###### ###### ######

###### ######

###### ###### ###### ###### ###### ###### ###### ######

###### ###### ######

############ ###### ###### ###### ###### ######

###### ###### ######

###### ###### ###### ###### ###### ######

###### ###### ###### ###### ###### ######

######

###### ###### ###### ###### ###### ###### ######

###### ######

###### ###### ###### ###### ###### ######

###### ###### ######

###### ###### ###### ######

Applications                       

Received                                          

From: In
cu

m
b

e
n

t

Positions and Terms to be Filled

###### ###### ######





















  9. A.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Richard McGaugh, Public Works Manager - Fleet

Date: 09/25/2013

Meeting Date: 10/01/2013

TITLE: 
Consideration and Approval of Cooperative Contract:  With Coconino County for Bulk Unleaded
Fuel, bid number 2014-04 to Pro Petroleum of Phoenix, Arizona in the amount of $.0325 per gallon below
O.P.I.S. (Oil Prices Information Services).

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the Cooperative Contract for Bulk Unleaded Fuel with Pro Petroleum. 

Policy Decision or Reason for Action:
This cooperative contract will ensure the City of Flagstaff will purchase unleaded fuel that is readily
available and at a cost efficient price.  A joint bid was secured by Coconino County for this service 
product.  The City of Flagstaff, Flagstaff Unified School District and Northern Arizona University all
participated in the bidding process.  We combined all participants’ annual fuel quantity (in gallons) to
leverage the purchase, increase our buying power and increase our overall cost savings.

Financial Impact:
City fleet unleaded fuel is charged through Fleet Services into the Divisions and Sections to their fleet
maintenance fuel accounts.  This cooperative contract with its combined buying power will produce a
savings of $.065 per gallon from the previous contract, with an annual estimated savings of $8,400.

Connection to Council Goal:
Repair, replace and maintain quality infrastructure. 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
Yes, in August 2008

Options and Alternatives:
1.  Do not participate in the cooperative bid.
2   Conduct our own City formal bid process.



Background/History:
This bid will supply the City of Flagstaff and Coconino County fleet with unleaded fuel at the City of
Flagstaff Public Works yard and Coconino facility at a cost of $.0325 per gallon below OPIS . The expired
unleaded gasoline contract was awarded August 5th, 2008 and was extended four consecutive times.
The last unleaded contract was bid at a cost of $.0325 per gallon above OPIS.  Since 1999, the City has
been involved in joint bidding for unleaded fuel.  We did that because of the cost savings over bidding
separately.

The City will also pay a fuel surcharge for delivery which is the same as previously bid; the formula will be
added to each invoice and is not part of the bid price per gallon. The formula used to calculate the fuel
surcharge is based on the U.S. Government Energy Information Administration’s “Weekly Retail
On-Highway Diesel Prices, Low and Ultra-Low Sulfur, West Coast Region”.
 
The cost per gallon will change weekly based on the Oil Prices Information Service (OPIS) index, for the
Phoenix Wholesale Pricing.
 
OPIS is an Oil Price Information Service which tracks wholesale prices for major distributors in over
50,000 cities.  The contract prices for all gasoline based on a margin price in cents, to be added to or
subtracted from the average rack price published by the OPIS for the type of fuel required in order to
determine the actual purchase price.
 
The average price published by OPIS each Thursday shall be in effect for purchases from Monday
through Saturday of the following week.  If OPIS does not publish a price for the type of fuel required in
the current week, the most recent published price shall prevail.

Key Considerations:
The combined government entities utilizing this cooperative contract increase our buying power; it
provides $.065 per gallon of unleaded fuel savings to the City of Flagstaff.
Reduce overall operation costs to fleet unleaded users.
The existing unleaded fuel contract has expired with no remaining extensions available.
Bidding the bulk unleaded fuel on our own would not gain the buying power we have attained with
the cooperative bid.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Provides a method for fueling City vehicles in a timely manner at an established price.

Attachments:  Unleaded bid link 













































  9. B.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Mike Gouhin, FHA Director

Date: 09/25/2013

Meeting Date: 10/01/2013

TITLE: 
Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Brannen Homes AZ6-2 Re-Roofing Contract for 22
buidings-46 dwelling units at Brannen Circle.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Award the Re-Roofing contract to Centennial Contractors in the amount of $114,911.91; and
2) Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.  

Policy Decision or Reason for Action:
Subsidiary Decisions Points: Provide contractor services to re-roof 22 buildings, 46 dwelling units, at
Brannen Homes. The roofing is necessary to keep the units in decent, safe and habitable condition in
accordance with Housing and Urban Development's (HUD's) Capital Fund Program.

Financial Impact:
There is no negative financial impact as the re-roofing is being funded by HUD as part of Capital Fund
Program AZ20P00650112.

Connection to Council Goal:
Effective governance.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
Yes. The Capital Fund Program budget including the re-roofing was included in the FY2012 City of
Flagstaff Housing Authority Annual Plan approved by the City Council on April 3, 2012.

Options and Alternatives:
1) Approve the award of the roofing contract and authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary
documents.
2) Reject the proposal and reprogram the funds for another use. 

Community Involvement:
Inform



Inform
A Public Hearing was held on March 7, 2012 to obtain resident input on the PHA Annual Plan and the
Capital Fund Program items which included the Brannen Homes roof replacement.

Written comments were also received from the Siler Resident Management Corporation, who represents
all 265 public housing residents, supporting the Capital Fund Program which included the Brannen
Homes roof replacement.

Attachments:  Brannen Roofs
Building Numbers
PO 3242



Centen i I 
cont ractors enterprises, inc. 

PROPOSAL 
CCE Mohave Contract #: 09D-CENT-0902 

Date: August 20, 2013 CCE# 71862-0184 

Title: FHA Brannen Homes 6-2 Roofing Project 

Location: Flagstaff, AZ 

Burdened Means Cost: 
Non-Prepriced: 
Design Services: 
Bond: 
Sales Tax @ 5.49% 

$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

108,040.34 

891.33 
5,980.24 

Total Proposal Cost: $ 114,911.91 

Proposal Data Calculation: 

Total Means Cost 
Flagstaff Q3 2013 
Mohave \\Ion-Standard 
Burdened Means Cost 

0.918 
0.92 

$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

127,925.00 
10,489.85 

9,394.81 
108,040.34 

Proposal Data for Design Services: 
Hours Rate 

Architect o $125.00 $0 .00 
Landscape Architect o $109.00 $0.00 
Civil (Structural) Engineer o $125.00 $0.00 
Electrical Engineer o $141.00 $0 .00 
Mechanical (Fire Protection) o $129.00 $0 .00 
Civil Engineering Technician o $88.00 $0 .00 
Mechanical Engineering Tech o $90.00 $0.00 
Electrical Engineering Tech o $96.00 $0 .00 
Clerical o $68.00 $0 .00 

$0.00 

Total Performance Time required: 30 Calendar Days after notice to proceed. 

o	 Progress Payments shall apply to this proposal for work in place and stored materials. 
CENTENNIAL CONTR CTORS ENTERPRISES, Inc.

\...~_..=:s:.:?/:.-:' . .:-/ )---/ 
c . -= -'---=:'- "' ?-/ / c--::;

Larry Bangle 
Project Manager 

Proposal price is valid for 30 days from date of issu ance. 

.1 x 7 7 N 7 '" S treet S ui le! 9i1 Phoen ix AI 8 :5 0 !4 www.ccc-m c.co m 

O f'Ciec (' 02 23 0 .99X 7 t'il x W2 2-10.2521 



Preliminary Estimate, by estimates 
Lorena Villarreal 

Centennial Contractors Enterprises, Inc. Centennial 
contractors enterprises. inc. 09D-CENT-0902 - 2009 Mohave South - Phoenix JOC 

FHA Brannen Homes 6-2 Roofing Project - 71862-0184 
Lorena Villarreal 

Estimator: Lorena Villarreal . Roofing 

Division Summary (MF04) 
01 - General Requirements 
il2 - Existing Condi"'ti.:;.on"'s'-- _ 
03 - Concrete 
.04 - Masonry _ 
05 - Metals 
06 - Wood, Plastics, and Composites
 
07 - Thermal and Moisture Protection ~ ,~' "
 
08 - Openings _
 
09 - Finishes
 
10 - Specialties 
11 - Equipment 
12 - Furnishings
JJ -Special Co"'n-,-st:-ru-,-cC7ti"'o-n- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

.) 4 - Conveying Equipment 
21 - Fire Suppression 
22 - Plumbing 
_23 - Heating, Ventilating, and Air-Conditioning (HVAC) 

Totalling Components 

26 - Electrical 
27 - Communications 
28 - Electronic Saf"e"-ty'-"'anc::d"-'='S":-ec~u~r"_ity _'_ 

31 - Earthwork 
32 - Exterior Improvements 
33 - Utilities 
34 - Trans(J"'o.::.rt""a~tio~,._,___=_--_,__,.,_--------------------;::;n
35 - Waterway and Marine Transportation 
41 - Material Processing and Handling Equipment 
44 - Pollution Control Equipment 
46 - Water and Wastewater Equipment 
48 - Electric Power Generation 
Alternates 
Trades 
Assemblies 
FMR 
MF04 Total (Without totalling components) $127,925.00 

Priced Line Items $127,925.00 RSMeans FLAGSTAFF, AZ Quarterly CCI2013 Q3 91.8% (-8.2000%) $(10A89.85) 
Nonpriced L..::.in.::.e..:;ems 2009 Mohave South JOC Nonstandard (-8.0000%) $(9,394.81) lt.;::;.::..::. _ 

Material, Labor, and Equipment Totals (No Totalling Components) Priced/Non-Priced 

Material: $65,218.78 Total Priced Items: 3 $127,925.00
 
Labor: $62,706.22
 Total Non-Priced Items: o $0.00 0.00%
Equipment: $0.00
 
Other: $0.00 3 $127,925.00
 
Laborhours: 914.31
 
Green Line Items:O $0.00
 

Grand Total $108,040.34 

Printed 20 AUG 2013 8:52AM v2.616 Page 1 of 2 FHA Brannen Homes 6-2 Roofing Project - 71862-0184 



- --------- - - - - - - - - - - ------ -------------------- - ---------------- - - ----

2 

Preliminary Estimate, by estimates 

Estimator: Lorena Villarreal Roofing
 

Item Description UM Quantity Unit Cost Total Book
 

07 - Thermal and Moisture Protection 
1 07-31-13-10-0300 Asphalt roof shingles , standard , laminated multi-layered shingles, class A, 240 to Sq. 

260 Ibs per square 
Provide and install roof shingles. 

463.0000 $233.00 $107,879.00 RSM13FAC 
M, L, O&P 

- - -

P 

07-31-13-10-0800 Asphalt roof shingles , #15 felt underlayment Sq. 324.0000 $14.25 $4,617,00 RSM13FAC P 
M, L, O&P 

Provide and install underlayment for roofing. 
-

3 07-31-13-10-0850 Asphalt roof shingles, self adhering polyethylene and rubberized asphalt Sq. 139.0000 $111 .00 $15,429.00 RSM13FAC P 
M, L, O&P underlayment
 

Ice and Water Shield
 

07 - Thermal and Moisture Protection Total $127,925.00 

Estimate Grand Total 108,040.34 

Printed 20 AUG 2013 8:52AM v2.616 Page 2 of 2 FHA Brannen Homes 6-2 Roofing Project - 71862-0184 



CENTENNIAL CONTRACTORS ENTERPRISES, INC.
 
JOC CONTRACT NO. 9D-CENT-0902
 

DELIVERY ORDER PROPOSAL
 
AND
 

WORK PLAN
 

Project: FHA 6-2 Brannen Homes Roofing Project Date: 8-20-13 

CCE#: 71862-0184 Location: Flagstaff, AZ 

Estimated Construction Duration: Calendar Days Owner Rep: Jesse Dominguez 
(Excluding . Weather) 

Description of Delivery Order: Install New Asphalt Shingle Roofing 

Scope of Work: 
All work within this Scope of Work will be performed at the Flagstaff Housing Authority Subdivision 
known as 6-2 Brannen Homes. The subdivision is located on Brannen Circle off Lone Tree Road in 
Flagstaff, AI. There are 22 buildings that are made up of 18 Duplexes, 3 Triplexes, and 1 Fourplex. This 
Scope of Work and pricing is based on performing the work on only these building units. 

Design & Administration: 
1.	 Perform site investigations & programming meetings to develop project requirements. 
2.	 Administrate all bidding, preconstruction, construction, & project completion activities. 
3.	 Coordinate all construction scheduling to complete project within contract duration. 
4.	 Communicate and coordinate all Davis-Bacon Wage determination documents with Owner and 

all Subcontractors. 
5.	 All work will be performed during regular business hours. 
6.	 All work performed will be done by subcontractors and workman that will adhere to all Davis

Bacon Act requirements. This project is federally funded. 
7.	 The Federal Wage determination to be used is AZ12 and is as follows: 

General Decision Number: AZ130012 02/22/2013 AZ12 

Superseded General Decision Number: AZ20120017 

State: Arizona 

Construction Type : Residential 

Counties: Coconino and Yavapai Counties in Arizona. 

EXCLUDING NAVAJO INDIAN RESERVATION 

RESIDENTIAL CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS (consisting of single family homes and apartments up to 
and including 4 stories). 

Modification Number Publication Date 
o 01/04/201 3
 
1 01/ 11/201 3
 
2 02/22/201 3
 

BRAZ0003-007 07/01/2010 

Rates Fring es 

BRICKLAYER $ 18.00 4.13 

Page 1 of7 



ELEC0518-00201/01/2011 

Rates Fringes 

ELECTRICIAN $ 17.50 5.26+3% 

* ENG10428-005 01/01/2012 

Rates Fringes 

OPERATOR: Grader/Blade $ 24.24 9.05 

IRON0075-008 01/01/2013 

Rates Fringes 

IRONWORKER, STRUCTURAL $ 26.52 20.65 

PLAS0394-006 07/01/2011 

Rates Fringes 

CEMENT MASON/CONCRETE FINISHER...$ 22.84 8.57 

SUAZ2011-00507/28/2011 

Rates Fringes 

CARPENTER, Excludes Drywall 
Han ging $ 18.16 0.00 

FORM WORKER $ 14.37 0.00 

HVAC MECHANIC (Installation of HVAC Duct) $ 14.13 0.00 

LABORER: Common or General. .....$ 10.20 0.00 

LABORER: Mason Tender - Brick...$ 12.77 0.00 

LABORER : Mason Tender 
Cement/Concrete/Stone $ 11.00 0.00 

LABORER: Pipe layer. $ 13.00 0.00 

OPERATOR: Backhoe $ 18.29 0.00 

OPERATOR: Excavator $ 24.67 0.00 

OPERATOR: Forklift $ 16.00 0.00 

OPERATOR: Loader (Front End) ....$ 15.00 0.00 

OPERATOR: Paver (Asphalt. 
Aggregate, and Concrete) .........$ 20.75 0.00 

OPERATOR: Roller $ 16.24 1.42 

Page 2 of 7 



OPERATOR: Scraper $ 19.20 1.52 

OPERATOR: Tractor $ 20.98 0.00 

PAINTER: Brush, Roller and 
Spray $13.31 0.00 

PLUMBER $ 20.14 4.08 

ROOFER $ 13.67 0.00 

TRUCK DRIVER: Dump Truck $ 17.02 0.00 

TRUCK DRIVER: Water Truck .......$ 14.50 0.00 

WELDERS - Receive rate prescribed for craft performing operation to which welding is incidental. 

================================================================ 

Unlisted classifications needed for work not included within the scope of the classifications listed 
may be added after award only as provided in the labor standards contract clauses 
(29CFR 5.5 (a) (1) (ii)). 

The body of each wage determination lists the classification 
and wage rates that have been found to be prevailing for the 
cited type(s) of construction in the area covered by the wage 
determination. The classifications are listed in alphabetical 
order of "identifiers" that indicate whether the particular 
rate is union or non-union. 

Union Identifiers 

An identifier enclosed in dotted lines beginning with 
characters other than "SU" denotes that the union 
classification and rate have found to be prevailing for that 
classification. Example: PLUMO 198-00507/01/2011. The first 
four letters , PLUM, indicate the international union and the 
four-digit number, 0198, that follows indicates the local union 
number or district council number where applicable, i.e.. 
Plumbers Local 0198. The next number, 005 in the example, is 
an internal number used in processing the wage determination. 
The date, 07/01/2011. following these characters is the 
effective date of the most current negotiated rate/collective 
bargaining agreement which would be July 1,2011 in the above 
example. 

Union prevailing wage rates will be updated to reflect any 
changes in the collective bargaining agreements governing the 
rates. 

0000/9999 : weighted union wage rates will be puolished annually 
each January. 

Page 3 of7 



Non-Union Identifiers 

Classifications listed under an "SU" identifier were derived 
from survey data by computing average rates and are not union 
rates ; however, the data used in computing these rates may 
include both union and non-union data. Example: SULA2004-007 
5/13/2010. SU indicates the rates are not union majority rates, 
LA indicates the state of Louisiana; 2004 is the year of the 
survey; and 007 is an internal number used in producing the 
wage determination. A 1993 or later date, 5/13/2010, indicates 
the classifications and rates under that identifier were issued 
as a General Wage Determination on that date. 

Survey wage rates will remain in effect and will not change 
until a new survey is conducted. 

WAGE DETERMINATION APPEALS PROCESS 

1.) Has there been an initial decision in the matter? This can 
be: 

*	 an existing published wage determination 
*	 a survey underlying a wage determination 
*	 a Wage and Hour Division letter setting forth a position on 

a wage determination matter 
*	 a conformance (additional classification and rate) ruling 

On survey related matters, initial contact, including requests 
for summaries of surveys, should be with the Wage and Hour 
Regional Office for the area in which the survey was conducted 
because those Regional Offices have responsibility for the 
Davis-Bacon survey program. If the response from this initial 
contact is not satisfactory, then the process described in 2.) 
and 3.) should be followed. 

With regard to any other matter not yet ripe for the formal 
process described here, initial contact should be with the 
Branch of Construction Wage Determinations. Write to: 

Branch of Construction Wage Determinations
 
Wage and Hour Division
 
U.S. Department of Labor
 
200 Constitution Avenue, N.W.
 
Washington, DC 20210
 

2.) If the answer to the question in 1.) is yes, then an 
interested party (those affected by the action) can request 
review and reconsideration from the Wage and Hour Administrator 
(See 29 CFR Part 1.8 and 29 CFR Part 7). Write to : 

Wage and Hour Administrator 
U.S. Department of Labor 

Page 4 of 7 



--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

200 Constitution Avenue, N.W.
 
Washington, DC 20210
 

The request should be accompanied by a full sta tement of the 
interested party's position and by any information [wage 
payment data, project description, area practice material, 
etc.) that the requestor considers relevant to the issue. 

3.) If the decision of the Administrator is not favorable, an 
interested party may appeal directly to the Administrative 
Review Board (formerly the Wage Appeals Board). Write to : 

Administrative Review Board 
U.S . Department of Labor
 
200 Constitution Avenue, N.W.
 
Washington, DC 20210
 

4.) All decisions by the Administrative Review Board are final. 

END OF GENERAL DECISION 

8.	 This project will adhere to all federally funded Section #3 hiring practices. 
9.	 A 48 hour notice will be given to a resident of each unit within the building prior to any work being 

performed on that structure. 
10. Should any personal property of the resident or otherwise be found to be within harmsway as a 

result of the construction activities work will be suspended until the property is moved. 
Construction crews will not remove or relocate any personal property unless it is granted 
permission by the Owner in writing. 

Demolition: 
1.	 Remove all existing metal drip edge. 
2.	 Remove eXisting plumbing roof jacks to be replaced. All jacks removed and that will be disposed 

of will be bagged and labeled as roof jacks before being hauled off. 
3.	 Remove and salvage for reuse all metal roof jacks 
4.	 All materials removed from the structure will be disposed of in a legal manner. 
5.	 Any wiring and or dish fixtures will be removed and reinstalled. Any media dish units removed and 

reinstalled will require realignment by the Owners. 
6.	 Roof sheathing will be inspected where possible for weakened areas while roof is removed. If 

unsuitable areas are discovered the Owner will be notified and will determine whether or not to 
replace the area. No repair or replacement of roof sheathing is figured within this Scope of Work. 

7.	 All materials removed from the building and any debris resulting from the removal will be disposed 
of in a legal and proper manner. 

General Trades: 
1.	 Each building unit to receive a new roof will receive new Architectural grade Composition 

shingles over its entire roof surface. 
2.	 Prior to the final layer of shingle a layer of Ice and Water shield will be installed along the eaves 

and valleys of each unit. No warranty will be in effect as this layer will not be installed per 
Manufacturers recommendations. 

3.	 A layer of roofing underlayment will be installed over the remaining sections of roof surfaces not 
covered by the Ice a nd Water shield . 

4.	 A new metal drip edge matching that of the existing w ill be installed at all perimeter edges of 
each living unit to receive new roofing. 

Page 5 of 7 



5.	 New roof jacks over plumbing vents will be furnished and installed. Metal roof jack will be reused 
and placed over roof penetration not receiving new jacks. The reuse of roof penetration jacks will 
be at the discretion of the Contractor. 

6.	 Ridge roof shingles will be furnished and installed along all ridge sections of the building units. 
7.	 This Scope of Work does not include any disconnecting or Relocation of existing or new utilities . 

Should such work become necessary it will be scheduled and coordinated by the Owner and 
considered over and above this Scope of Work. 

8.	 Any and all materials to be stored on site will be kept in a safe and orderly fashion. Such areas will 
require proper warning and signage to designate the areas as Construction Zones. 

9.	 No material replacement in the soffit or fascia areas will be considered within this Scope of Work. 
If similar trim or panels exist in these areas they will remain with no work performed on them. 

10. All nailing patterns and types will be per manufacturers' recommendations. 
11. Where possible all nailing patterns and nail type will match that of the local codes having
 

jurisdiction.
 
12. Clean and prepare all existing roof areas to receive new roofing. 
13. All adjacent areas, surfaces, landscaping and structures will be protected from damage during 

the entre course of construction. 

Assumptions & Clarifications: 
1.	 This proposal is not valid after 30 days from the date listed above. 
2.	 Construction crews will have full access to Site during normal working hours. 
3.	 Access to site will be maintained at all times. 
4.	 Construction duration does not include design review. or submittal approval. 
5.	 All building materials will be submitted for approval prior to material procurement. 
6.	 All work not clearly defined on the drawings or in this work plan will be considered over and 

above this Scope of Work. 
7.	 Any additional work over and above the quantities mentioned above or in the attached estimate 

will be considered additional scope. 
8.	 FHA personnel are not allowed to climb on . move. or otherwise use any CCE staging. scaffolding. 

or equipment without a CCE representative present. If Flagstaff Housing Authority or their vendors 
do so they do so at their own risk. 

9.	 Each contractor will need to supply themselves with safe and secure storage areas placed in 
Owner approved areas for tools and materials or removed from site on a daily basis. 

10. The site will be cleaned on a daily basis and left in an orderly fashion. All materials and debris will 
be removed from site or stored properly on site. 

11. Final structures to receive this work will be coordinated between FHA, CCE, and the selected 
subcontractor. 

12. Sufficient water and power will be available at all times . A generator should be supplied by each 
contractor as a back up to regular power. 

13. Scheduled work based upon subcontractor availability and sufficient lead-time to mobilize and 
order materials. 

Exclusions: 
1.	 All permits and associated fees over and above the over the counter roofing permit issued by the 

City of Flagstaff. 
2.	 Relocation of existing utilities not specifically listed above including. but not limited to. electrical. 

plumbing, HVAC, sprinkler, etc. 
3.	 utility charges ad back-charges 
4.	 Water. 
5.	 Unforeseen conditions. 
6.	 Hazardous materials, removal or testing . 

I.	 TECHNICAL PLAN 

1.	 Special or long lead-time equipment and materials: Roof Shingles 

2.	 Interface with existing structure: Entire Project 

Page 60f7 



3.	 Possible disruption to building personal and plans to minimize: All construction activates will be 
approved by building managers before construction begins in order to minimize disruption to 
residents . 

4.	 Outages: Some interruption to media dish operations may occur 

5.	 Special training/Orientation Requirements: None 

6.	 Work to be performed during non-normal hours: None 

7.	 Outage Coordination: All outages will be coordinated with building managers to minimize
 
inconveniences.
 

8.	 Safety Issues: 

a.	 Each contractor performing work on this project will be required to supply a site Specific 
Safety Plan. This will include a Fall Protection Plan. 

b.	 Contractors will supply a materials list for each material brought or used on site. A 
corresponding MSDS sheet for each material will be supplied and stored on site as well. 

c .	 All local, Federal, and State Safety requirements will be strictly enforced. 

9.	 Special Issues: This is a residential facility with current residents all construction activities will be 
conducted with this in mind. 

10. Special Security Requirements: None 

11.	 Significant Milestones: Notice to Proceed 

12. Hazardous Materials: None expected, planned for nor priced in this proposal. 

13. Quality Assurance Considerations: Industry Standard for this type of work All materials, equipment, 
& workmanship will be approved in advance of construction starts. Manufacture warranties, 
construction bonds, & CCE project turn over procedures will be provided before owner 
occupancy. 

II. STAFFING PLAN: 

Project Manager: Larry Bangle 

Superintendent: Larry Bangle 

Safety & Quality Control: Larry Bangle 

III. CONSTRUCTIBIUTY & VALUE ENGINEERING SUGGESTIONS: 

None at this time 

Centennial Contractors Enterprises, Inc. 

Page 7 of 7 



/
<, '" ./ ",- ,

/~ ,> " ~ <, /I:!" ' \ //~ ,i,;.~", ., ,<t :":' <, ,/" ' // r,
.r" : !. <:: -. , { / ' 

/ ' / ':/ ~~ '} :'/~~:\/ \.\. "e0 ; ~I,>/ ->-, " / ' ' .. ,,,! / r-
o I , " ' ~ \, .--.\ _'" , ,_ '.> .// \ \ "'-';" I ,, ' 0 I /'" /)'"". '/ //I ,I' " 

1."... 
~-.... -: .. .,- .. ~ ... . ./ "< /, '. . " ( , ~8 " »: ' ,j" -' -, '
.r, \ .~' '\ t . : \"~ { 0 '''- <; " " 

,,,, \ 0 / <3 \ I ., 0, A 

\ 
:'., 0"/\ ,/ .. '~ "/ .. /

, . " ,.', ~. • \ .: ~ \' I -. / .; . / 

-, ~'J\ "0\ .'''0'\ 0 \ / ' '\ J... -. / /( .-../" ' ; .~ ,::/' " /.. ~,' Y < .~ II ..r-. , '" / ,,' , / ., /

". ;" " ' ~' ' . / '/ " , /\, ' ,, "'" r . -. 

-, ) , " , ,, ". ~, .. !,., ..<, .. ' ' U f '. ~.· " , !"r: ,, ~ -, ' '" . ".... v I .,"~" ,. -: · ·"Y<f/ . /1y" <: <. "D ~ " O \ \. / < \ \ ,,:.» ' ~ , ',"; <. ~~"" .• 

, C,~ , 0 ~,,, e ,a ' ~~ / II V'. ,i)

/ 
/

o " ,'.. ,- ' ' ",, c-, ' , '., ' ' . " ' , '-. -, .. M .,./.. ../ ///"-. " "<, / ,,.o 
, d 0 ' 

; 

", / ' _ 
, o" 

.. 
\\
",

'"
.. 

" 
~ 

0",, , ' ,. 
, " 

' 
' 

-. 
' . , ' e'·.t, 

," :" ' / / 
/" " "-, 'I-. , {

\' 
"" '-. 

.. ' ' " \'~/ \. <, '<, 
, • ' ' " , .. . ' '<,
 

0 ,
 

/ 

n":0 -, _,"" ,.,: (5\ " '-, \ : ~ e~ \ '/\ _. " 'I-, / 

,+ '---' :~ " ' ~ i "" \ ./ \ ." ~~
u

. ~.. , . " 
'- ! ' . , - . . 

' 11 . (~ <.:' / ,~ . _~,". o '0 .. '101' '''... .....
".v u (I l~ J 

oJ 
::, .~ ~ Q . ...... t",,: 6
 

;"1: 

(l 

0",. /
Q 

..,+, " "''' <l I 
' ......if) 

o 
Ii "' · ''' .,;'-"'' ' \ :Oi'/ / 

..-- ..- I 
/ 

.-_Y 

o 0 / /
"- , 

', ,~ 

~ t : Notes: Proj ect: Frontline Energy Se rvicesDrawn by: Er ic Cowan 
/ 

\ f OI 'IQC:lti llg porposes. P rop er locat ing tec hniques sho uld System A and B Combined (928)-779-9903Scale: NTShe followed at all limes 

7 E. Aspen #S 
Flagstaff Az, 86002 

Date: 9/15/04 
Re vised On: KIA 

Brannen Homese used as an exact loealion 
T he Facilities shown on this map is for is for a mapping 
purp ose only and sho uld nol b 



Google

m -^t-v " ***• '•*C "'• V* '-'-^ "'"-V• ^ »*"' -f , ~Jj -- ,̂-J^JCjf "V

'
> ^xX



PURCHASE ORDER

3242 HOUSING AUTHORITY
OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF

P.O. BOX 1387
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA 86001

September 24, 2013

Datejo. Centennial Contractors, Inc.

3877 North 7th Street. Suite 190

Phoenix, Arizona 85014

Please enter Flagstaff Housing Authority order for the below listed items.

Claim must be made in writing and presented on or before the 10th day of
the month following the month of delivery.

Quantity Item Price Amount

We request that the Attached Scope of Work dated (8-20-2013) be

performed per Mohave JOC program contract 09D-CENT-0902

(Scope of Work Attached)

FHA CFP-112 AZ 6-2 Re-roofing Project

CCE// 71862-0184

TOTAL COST $114,911.91

Please deliver to:.

Account No.

CFP-112

Amount

$114,911.91

Invoice No.

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF

By-
P U R C H A S I N G A G E N T

INSTRUCTIONS: The above Purchase Order Number must appear on all invoices before payment can be allowed.
Payment wi l l be made only on invoices.



  9. C.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Shannon Anderson, Human Resources Manager

Date: 09/25/2013

Meeting Date: 10/01/2013

TITLE: 
Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2013-24:  A resolution adopting a new City of Flagstaff
457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan and establishing an effective date.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Read Resolution No. 2013-24 by title only
2) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2013-24 (if approved above)
3) Adopt Resolution No. 2013-24.

Policy Decision or Reason for Action:
Adopt Resolution No. 2013-24 adopting the City's 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan.

Subsidiary Decisions Points: 
The City will modify the ING Specimen Plan Document for Government Employers and adopt this
document since it has already received approval from the Internal Revenue Service (IRS).  This allows
the City to remain in compliance without having additional outside legal expenses or having to obtain an
individual IRS determination letter.

The Plan Document has been updated to include the following Federal regulation changes: Pension
Protection Act (PPS), Heroes Earnings Assistance and Relief Tax Act (HEART) and the Worker, Retiree
and Employer Recovery Act (WRERA).

The Plan Document now includes provisions for Roth (after-tax) deferrals.  Employees may elect Roth
deferrals after the Plan Document has been adopted and the payroll programming has been completed.

Financial Impact:
The financial impact is the indirect cost associated with Human Resources and Payroll staff time to
administer the benefit.  Previously this was estimated at two hours per pay period including new
employee orientation, enrollment and data entry.  The employee pays the administrative and investment
fees associated with the compensation deferred and invested.

Connection to Council Goal:
♦Review financial viability of pensions: The deferred compensation plan is an additional retirement
benefit available to City employees.
♦Effective governance: Providing retirement benefit options is a tool for recruitment and retention of
employees. 



Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
Yes, the City Council reconfirmed the current 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan on August 14, 2003
and again on January 17, 2006.

Options and Alternatives:
1) The City Council may choose to develop an individualized deferred compensation plan document.
2) The City Council may choose to not offer a 457(b) deferred compensation plan.
3) The City Council may choose to allow for other types of 457(b) deferred compensation plan benefits
such as loans, minimum distributions, etc.

Background/History:
On April 21, 1983, the City adopted the 457 Deferred Compensation Plan pursuant to Section 457 of the
Internal Revenue Code.  The purpose of the Plan is to attract and retain employees by providing
additional opportunities for retirement saving.

The City Manager adopted the City’s 457 Deferred Compensation Plan Document in 1983.  The City
Council confirmed the adoption of the 457 Deferred Compensation Plan in August of 2003 with resolution
2003-156 and again in January 2006 with resolution 2006-05. 

ING and ICMA are the two financial providers the City has an agreement with to provide services and
investment products under this Plan.

Community Involvement:
Inform

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
The City Council may choose to develop an individualized deferred compensation plan document.  

The Plan Document may be more user friendly since it would be drafted specifically for the City of
Flagstaff.
There would be outside legal counsel costs associated with deferred compensation plan regulation
and design expertise.
The City would need to obtain a separate Internal Revenue Service determination ruling.

The City Council may choose to not offer a 457(b) deferred compensation plan. 

This would save the indirect costs of staff time to administer the benefit.
This may limit the number of qualified applicants for open vacancies because the City does not
offer retirement savings options outside of the Arizona State Retirement and Public Safety
Personnel Retirement Systems.

The City Council may choose to allow for other types of 457(b) deferred compensation plan benefits
such as loans, minimum distributions, etc. 

Adding these additional benefits provide further options to employees.
Adding these additional benefits increase the amount of time needed to administer the deferred
retirement plan.
There are pros and cons associated with each type of additional benefit that could be discussed
further, if the City Council is interested.

Attachments:  Res. No. 2013-24
Exhibit A - Adoption Agreement



Exhibit B - Plan Document



RESOLUTION NO. 2013-24 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
ARIZONA, ADOPTING A NEW CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 457(b) DEFERRED 
COMPENSATION PLAN AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff has historically offered a deferred compensation plan for its 
employees as permitted by Section 457 of the Internal Revenue Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff administratively approved a deferred compensation plan on 
April 21, 1983, and re-confirmed such plan by Resolution No. 2003-156 on August 14, 2003, and 
Resolution No. 2006-05 on January 17, 2006; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff desires to adopt a new deferred compensation plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the deferred compensation plan is administered by the City and provides employees 
with the option to defer compensation into individual retirement accounts, with plan investment 
options through ING Life Insurance and Annuity Company and ICMA Retirement Corporation, at 
the employee’s election and cost. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS:  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1. The City of Flagstaff 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan, consisting of the Adoption 
Agreement set forth in Exhibit A and 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan Document set forth in 
Exhibit B attached hereto, is hereby adopted by the City of Flagstaff and shall replace the existing 
plan.  . 
 
SECTION 2. Resolution Nos. 2003-156 and 2006-05 are expressly repealed. 
 
SECTION 3. This resolution shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the 
City Council. 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council and approved by the Mayor of the City of 
Flagstaff this 1st day of October, 2013. 
 
 
 
 
              
       MAYOR 
 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 2013-24   PAGE 2 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Exhibit A:  City of Flagstaff Specimen Adoption Agreement for 457(b) Deferred Compensation 
Plan for Governmental Employers;  
 
Exhibit B:  ING Specimen 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan for Governmental Employers 
Basic Plan Document; and City of Flagstaff adopted elections to said Basic Plan Document 
(shown in redline). 
 
 
S:\Legal\Civil Matters\2013\2013-134  ING 457(b) Adoption Agreement and Plan Document\Resolution to adopt 457 
Plan 9-9-13.doc 



This specimen document includes a number of provisions which are optional, or as part of which there are different options that 

may be selected.  Such provisions are generally indicated in the Adoption Agreement.  This does not mean that other provisions 

may not also be optional, or that other options may not be available.  The selection of appropriate options is solely the 

responsibility of the plan sponsor and should be done only after consulting with the client's own knowledgeable counsel. 

(10/11) 

 

© 2011 ING North America Insurance Corporation. 

 

1 

 
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 

 

SPECIMEN ADOPTION AGREEMENT FOR 

457(b) DEFERRED COMENSATION PLAN  

FOR GOVERNMENTAL EMPLOYERS 

 

 

The undersigned Employer adopts the 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan for Governmental 

Employers for those Employees who will qualify as Participants hereunder, to be known as the 

 

City of Flagstaff 457 (b) Deferred Compensation Plan 

 

It will be effective as of the date specified below.  The Employer hereby selects the following 

Plan specifications: 

 

EMPLOYER INFORMATION (Plan Section 1.9) 

 

Name of Employer:   CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 

Address:  211 W ASPEN AVENUE 

       FLAGSTAFF,   AZ   86001 

       City           State           Zip 

 

Telephone Number:  (928) 213-2094 

 

Employer Identification Number:   86-600024  

 

Location of Employer's Principal Office: 

 

state   commonwealth   district of __ARIZONA   other:  _________________  and 

the Plan will be governed in accordance with retirement plan laws of the ARIZONA. 

 

 

Employer Fiscal Year: 
 

The 12-consecutive month period commencing on JULY 1 and ending on JUNE 30. 

 

 

 

 

 



This specimen plan document is intended to assist you and your counsel in adopting a 457(b) plan.  Modifications may be 

required to meet your plan’s particular objectives.     (10/11) 

 

2 

PLAN INFORMATION 

 

Effective Date: 

 

This Adoption Agreement of the 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan for Governmental 

Employers will: 

 

 establish a new Plan effective as of       . 

 

  constitute an amendment and restatement in its entirety of a previously established 457(b) 

Plan of the Employer which was effective APRIL 21, 1983.  Except as specifically 

provided in the Plan, the effective date of this amendment and restatement is __________. 

 

Plan Year (Plan Section 1.21): 

 

The 12-consecutive month period commencing on JANUARY 1 and ending on DECEMBER 31.  

 

Name of Administrator (Plan Section 1.1): 

 

 Employer  

 

 Name(s)  CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 

 

 Address  211 W ASPEN AVE 

 

  FLAGSTAFF,   AZ    86001 

   City    State  Zip 

 

 Telephone (928) 213-2094 

 

 Administrator’s I.D. Number 86- 600024 

 



This specimen plan document is intended to assist you and your counsel in adopting a 457(b) plan.  Modifications may be 

required to meet your plan’s particular objectives.     (10/11) 

 

3 

 

ELIGIBILITY (Plan Section 2.1)  

 

Eligible Individuals for Purposes of Participant Deferral Contributions: 

 

 All Employees 

 

 All Employees other than the following group or groups of Employees elected below: 

 

 Nonresident aliens with no U.S. source of income 

 Employees who normally work less than 20 hours per week 

 Students performing services for the Employer whose Compensation is not considered 

 wages under the Federal Insurance Contributions Act (“FICA”) 

 Collectively bargained employees 

 

NOTE:  The group(s) specified must correspond to a group of the same designation that is 

defined in statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, personnel manuals or other authority for the 

state or local jurisdiction of the Employer.  

 

Independent Contractors 

 

For purposes of this section, the term Eligible Individual: 

 

 Will not include Independent Contractors 

 

 Will include all Independent Contractors 

 

 Will include all Independent Contractors other than as specified below: 

 

________________________________________ 

________________________________________ 

________________________________________ 

________________________________________ 

 

CONTRIBUTIONS AND ALLOCATIONS 

 

Roth 457(b) Contributions (Plan Section 1.24) 

 

Roth 457(b) Contributions  will   will not be permitted under the Plan. 



This specimen plan document is intended to assist you and your counsel in adopting a 457(b) plan.  Modifications may be 

required to meet your plan’s particular objectives.     (10/11) 

 

4 

 

 

Deferral of Accumulated Sick Pay, Accumulated Vacation Pay and Back Pay (Plan Section 

3.1(b)): 

 

Participant may elect to defer (check all that are applicable) to the Plan: 

 

 accumulated sick pay 

 accumulated vacation pay 

 back pay 

 

Note:  any amounts deferred under Section 3.1(b) of the Plan must be consistent with applicable 

state and local law, including, but not limited to, the terms of any collective bargaining 

agreements. 

 

Age 50 Plus Catch-Up Contributions (Plan Section 3.3): 

 

Age 50 Plus Catch-Up Contributions will   will not be permitted under the Plan. 

 

Transfers into the Plan (Plan Section 3.7): 

 

Transfers into the Plan from an eligible 457 plan sponsored by another governmental employer  

will   will not be permitted. 

 

Rollovers: 

 

Rollover Contributions will   will not be permitted under the Plan (Plan Section 3.8). 

 

The Plan will accept the following types of non-Roth Rollover Contributions: 

 

457(b) Rollovers 

Non-457(b) Rollovers 

 

If Roth 457(b) Contribution are permitted the Plan, then the following rollover contributions will 

be permitted: 

 

 Non-457(b) Rollovers 

 Roth 457(b) Rollovers 

 Roth Non-457(b) Rollovers 

 Rollover of In-Plan Roth Non-457(b) Rollovers 

 

 

 

 

 

 



This specimen plan document is intended to assist you and your counsel in adopting a 457(b) plan.  Modifications may be 

required to meet your plan’s particular objectives.     (10/11) 

 

5 

Normal Retirement Age (Plan Section 1.16): 

 

For purposes of the Special 457 Catch-Up Deferral Election under Section 3.2, Normal 

Retirement Age will be: 

 

Option 1:  Employer determines Normal Retirement Age 

 

The NRA is a range of age(s) beginning at: 

 

 the earliest retirement age at which an individual could receive unreduced benefits 

      under the Employer’s defined benefit pension plan 

 Age 65 

 Other: ______________________________   

  NOTE:  Age specified can be the earlier of age 65 or, if applicable, date above at 

which a Participant could receive unreduced benefits from Employer’s defined 

benefit pension Plan. 

 

and ending at: 

 

 Age 70½  

 Other: ______________________________   

  NOTE 1:  Normal Retirement Age cannot be later than age 70 ½. 

 NOTE 2:  Beginning and ending ages may be the same age, if elected by the 

Employer. 

 

Normal Retirement Age for Police or Firefighters 

 

For purposes of the Special 457 Catch-Up Deferral Election under Section 3.2, Normal 

Retirement Age will be: 

 

the earliest retirement age at which an individual could receive unreduced benefits 

   under the Employer’s pension plan 

Age 40 

Age 55 

Age 65 

Age 70 1/2  

Other: ______________________________   

  NOTE:  Age specified for this option generally may not be less than age 40 or 

more than age 70 ½. 

the Normal Retirement Age elected by the Participant that is between: 

• age 40; and 

• age 70 ½. 

 

 

 

 



This specimen plan document is intended to assist you and your counsel in adopting a 457(b) plan.  Modifications may be 

required to meet your plan’s particular objectives.     (10/11) 

 

6 

DISTRIBUTIONS 

 

Distribution Options (Plan Section 4.3(c)): 

 

 Joint and survivor annuity  

 Lump sum 

 Immediate or deferred annuity (including life annuities and installment payment annuities) 

 Systematic distribution option permitted under the Investment Product. 

    Other:  _________________________________________ 

 

NOTE:  Distribution options selected are available to the extent permitted by applicable law and 

the terms of the Investment Product. 

 

In the event that a Participant does not elect a form of payment at the time that distributions are 

required to begin in accordance with Section 4.5, any benefits payable to the Participant will be 

made as follows: 

 

 In the form of an annuity payable over the life expectancy of the Participant that meets the 

requirements of Code Section 401(a)(9)  

 Lump sum 

 Other:  _________________________ 

 

Death Benefits Payable to Beneficiary (Plan Section 4.3(d)): 

 

Amounts payable to the Beneficiary may be elected by the Beneficiary in the following forms of 

benefit payment: 

 

Same distribution options as available to the Participant 

Other: 

 _____________________________ 

 _____________________________ 

 _____________________________ 

 _____________________________ 

 

NOTE:  Distribution options selected are available to the extent permitted by applicable law and 

the terms of the Investment Product. 

 

In the event a Beneficiary fails to make an election as to a benefit distribution option, any benefit 

payable to such Beneficiary will be distributed in accordance with Code Section 401(a)(9). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



This specimen plan document is intended to assist you and your counsel in adopting a 457(b) plan.  Modifications may be 

required to meet your plan’s particular objectives.     (10/11) 

 

7 

Rollovers 

 

Distribution of a Participant 457 Rollover Account and a Participant Non-457 Rollover Account 

(Plan Section 4.1(b)): 

 

Amounts payable under a Participant 457 Rollover Account and a Participant Non-457 Rollover 

Account will be paid to a Participant: 

 

Upon attainment of an event as described in Section 4.1 

Upon the request of a Participant 

Other: 

 _____________________________ 

 _____________________________ 

 _____________________________ 

 _____________________________ 

 

Unforeseeable Emergency Withdrawals (Plan Section 4.6): 

 

Unforeseeable Emergency Withdrawals will   will not be permitted under the Plan. 

 

If Unforeseeable Emergency withdrawals are allowed by the Plan, the amount eligible for such 

withdrawals will consist of: 

 

The Participant Account (Emergency withdrawals are not permitted from the Roth 457)  

The Participant Deferral Account 

The Participant 457 Rollover Account (if amounts are not payable before a Participant attains 

an event as described in Section 4.1) 

The Participant Non-457 Rollover Account (if amounts are not payable before a Participant 

attains an event as described in Section 4.1) 

 

A Participant may   may not take an Unforeseeable Emergency Withdrawal resulting from 

the illness or accident of a primary Beneficiary designated by the Participant. 

 

Small Balance Distribution (Plan Section 4.7):  

 

Small balance distributions attributable to a Participant Deferral Account will   will not be 

permitted under the Plan. 

 

Transfer of Amounts for Purchase of Service Credits in Governmental Retirement System 

(Plan Section 4.9) 

 

Participant will  will not be permitted to transfer amounts under the Plan to a governmental 

retirement system in order to purchase service credits. 

 

 

 



This specimen plan document is intended to assist you and your counsel in adopting a 457(b) plan.  Modifications may be 

required to meet your plan’s particular objectives.     (10/11) 

 

8 

Loans to Participants (Plan Section 4.11): 

 

Loans will    will not be permitted under the Plan. 

 

Distributions for Health Insurance and Long Term Care (Plan Section 4.12): 

 

Distributions to pay for health insurance and long term care will   will not be permitted 

under the Plan. 

 

CERTIFICATION AND SIGNATURE 

 

The undersigned Employer hereby represents that it is a unit of a State or local government or an 

agency or instrumentality of one or more units of a State or local government as described in 

Code Section 414(d). 

 

This Adoption Agreement and the Plan document together constitute the Plan.  The Plan is a 

specimen plan, not a master or prototype plan, and has not been approved by the IRS.  The 

adoption of this Plan and related tax consequences are the responsibility of the Employer and its 

independent tax and legal advisors. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Employer hereby causes this Plan to be executed on this  

_____ day of ___________________, _____. 

 

EMPLOYER: 

 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 

  

 

By:       



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 

 

457(b) DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN  

 

  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 

 Page 

  

Preamble 1 

  

  

Article I – Definitions 1 

  

  

Article II – Participation 5 

  

  

Article III – Contributions and Limitations 7 

  

  

Article IV – Benefit Distributions 11 

  

  

Article V – Administration 16 

  

  

Article VI – Amendment and Termination 18 

  

  

Article VII – Miscellaneous 19 

  

 



 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 

 

457(b) DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN  

PREAMBLE 

 

 

The Employer hereby establishes the Code Section 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan for 

Governmental Employers (the "Plan"). 

 

The Plan is established pursuant to applicable state law and is intended to comply with the 

provisions of Section 457(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, Income Tax 

Regulations thereunder and applicable law.  The Plan consists of the provisions set forth in this 

basic plan document and the Adoption Agreement, and is applicable to each Eligible Individual.  

 

 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

 

As used in this Plan, the following words and phrases will have the meanings set forth herein 

unless a different meaning is clearly required by the context. 

 

1.1 “Administrator” means the person(s)appointed by the Employer pursuant to 

Section 5.2 to administer the Plan and perform administrative functions for the Plan as specified 

by the Employer. 

 

1.2 “Adoption Agreement” means the separate agreement that is executed by the 

Employer and sets forth the elective provisions of the Plan.  The Adoption Agreement is 

considered a part of the Plan. 

 

1.3 “Age 50 Plus Catch-Up Contribution” means the catch-up contribution for 

Participants who attain age 50 by the end of the calendar year, as permitted under Code Section 

414(v) and pursuant to Section 3.3. 

 

1.4 “Beneficiary” means the individual, individuals or trust designated by the 

Participant in writing on a form acceptable to the Administrator, and received by the 

Administrator before the Participant's death, to receive any undistributed amounts under the 

Participant Account which becomes payable upon the Participant's death.  A Beneficiary may 

designate his own Beneficiary.  If a Participant or Beneficiary does not designate a Beneficiary 

in a form acceptable to the Administrator, then his estate will be deemed to be his Beneficiary.  

In addition, any Beneficiary designation will meet the requirements of applicable state law. 

 

1.5 “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as now in effect or as hereafter 

amended.  All citations to sections of the Code are to such sections as they may from time to 

time be amended or renumbered. 

 



 

 
  

2 

 

1.6 “Compensation” means for an Employee all cash compensation for services to the 

Employer, including salary, wages, fees, commissions, bonuses, and overtime pay, that is 

includible in the Employee’s gross income for the calendar year, plus amounts that would be 

cash compensation for services to the Employer includible in the Employee’s gross income for 

the calendar year but for a compensation reduction election under Code Sections 125, 132(f), 

401(k), 403(b) or 457(b) (including an election under Article III to defer Compensation under the 

Plan).   

 

1.7 “Deferrals” means the amount of Compensation deferred by a Participant to the 

Plan, comprising of Elective Deferrals and, if elected by the Employer in the Adoption 

Agreement and the Participant so elects on a Participation Agreement, Roth 457(b) 

Contributions.  

 

1.8 “Dependent” means qualifying child (e.g., under age 19 or 24 if a student) or 

qualifying relative (e.g. sibling, step-sibling, parent, step-parent, cousin, aunt or uncle, 

son/daughter-in-law, father/mother-in-law, brother/sister-in-law) receiving over one-half of the 

individuals support from the taxpayer and living in the same principal household under Code 

Section 152.  

 

1.9 “Elective Deferrals” means amounts made by the Employer to the Plan on a 

voluntary pre-tax basis pursuant to a Participation Agreement entered into by a Participant, 

 

1.10 “Eligible Individual” means a benefit eligible employee who is tenure eligible, 

tenure granted or Exempt and works twenty (20) hours or more per week as defined in the 

Personnel Handbook of Regulations. 

 

1.11 “Employee” means any common law employee who is employed by the 

Employer and who performs services for the Employer for which Compensation is payable. 

 

1.12 “Employer” means the City of Flagstaff, which satisfies the definition of Code 

Section 457(e)(1)(A) (together with any other entity required to be aggregated with such 

governmental employer under Code Sections 414(b), (c), (m) or (o)) and which has adopted this 

Plan as indicated in the Adoption Agreement. 

 

1.13 “Includible Compensation” means an Employee’s actual wages in box 1 of Form 

W-2 for the Employer, but increased (up to the dollar maximum) by any compensation reduction 

election under Code Section 125, 132(f), 402(g)(3) or 457(b).  The amount of Includible 

Compensation is determined without regard to any community property laws.  Pursuant to 

Section 1.457-4(d)(1) of the Income Tax Regulations, Includible Compensation will include any 

payments made to a Participant who has had a Severance from Employment, provided that the 

Includible Compensation is paid by the later of 2 ½ months after the Participant’s Severance 

from Employment or the end of the calendar year that contains the date of such Participant’s 

Severance from Employment.  In addition, pursuant to Section 1.457-4(d)(1) of the Income Tax 

Regulations, Includible Compensation will include payments made to an individual who does not 

currently perform services for the Employer by reason of qualified military service (as defined in 

Code Section 414(u)(5)) to the extent those payments do not exceed the amount the individual 



 

 
  

3 

 

would have received if the individual had continued to perform services for the Employer rather 

than enter qualified military service.  Includible Compensation will not include Employee pick-

up contributions described in Code Section 414(h)(2).  

 

1.14 “Independent Contractor” means any person to whom Compensation from the 

Employer is payable for services rendered pursuant to one or more written or oral contracts, if 

such person is not a common-law employee. 

 

1.15 “In-Plan Roth Rollover” means a rollover contribution to the Plan that consists of 

a distribution from an Elective Deferral Account, a 457(b) Rollover Account or a non-457(b) 

Rollover Account under the Plan that the Participant rolls over to the Participant’s In-Plan Roth 

457(b) Rollover Account in the Plan, in accordance with Code Section 402A(c)(4). 

 

1.16 “Investment Product” means group or individual annuity contracts or such other 

investment arrangements issued by or offered through the Provider and used to hold assets of the 

Plan. 

 

1.17 “Normal Retirement Age” means the age as elected by the Employer in the 

Adoption Agreement that is used for the Special 457 Catch-up Contribution election under 

Section 3.2.  The Employer is not permitted to have more than one Normal Retirement Age for 

each Participant under all plans under Code Section 457(b) that it (together with any other entity 

required to be aggregated with the Employer under Code Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o)) 

sponsors. 

 

1.18 “Participant” means any individual who has entered into a Participation 

Agreement to make Deferrals under the Plan or has previously made Deferrals under the Plan 

and who has not yet received a distribution of his entire Participant Account under the Plan.  As 

appropriate, a Participant means a Beneficiary or an alternate payee as defined in Code Section 

414(p)(8). 

 

1.19 “Participant Account” means the following accounts established for the 

Participant and maintained by the Administrator for each Participant, including any earnings and 

losses attributable thereon: 
 

(a) Elective Deferral Account, 

(b) Roth 457(b) Contributions Account, 

(c) 457(b) Rollover Account, 

(d) Non-457(b) Rollover Account, 

(e) Roth 457(b) Rollover Account, 

(f) Roth Non-457(b) Rollover Account, 

(g) Rollover of In-Plan Roth Non-457(b) Rollover Account; and 

(h) In-Plan Roth 457(b) Rollover Account. 

 

1.20 “Participation Agreement” means an agreement, which meets the requirements of 

Section 2.4, entered into between an Eligible Individual and the Employer pursuant to which an 

Eligible Individual agrees to defer Elective Deferrals and/or Roth 457(b) Contributions to the 



 

 
  

4 

 

Plan and thus to become a Participant.  The Participant Agreement will be provided to the 

Employer by the Provider. 

 

1.21 “Plan” means the name of the Plan as indicated in the Adoption Agreement. 

 

1.22 “Plan Year” means the Plan's 12-consecutive month accounting year as elected by 

the Employer in the Adoption Agreement. 

 

1.23 “Provider” means ING Life Insurance and Annuity Company and/or ICMA-RC,  

LLC, or such other provider entity as the Employer may approve. 

 

1.24 “Qualified Military Service” means any service in the uniformed services as 

defined in Chapter 43 of Title 38 United States Code by any individual if such individual is 

entitled to reemployment rights under such chapter with respect to such service. 

  

1.25 “Rollover Contribution” means contributions made by a Participant (or, if 

applicable, Eligible Individual) of “eligible rollover distributions” in accordance with Code 

Section 402(c)(4). 

 

1.26 “Roth 457(b) Contributions” means contributions that are: 

 

(a) made by the Employer to the Plan pursuant to a Participation Agreement entered 

into by a Participant, which qualifies as a “designated Roth contribution” within the meaning of 

Code Section 402A; 

 

(b) irrevocably designated by the Participant at the time of the cash or deferred 

election as a Roth 457(b) Contribution that is being made in lieu of all or a portion of the 

Elective Deferrals the Participant is otherwise eligible to make under the Plan; and 

 

(c) treated by the Employer as includible in the Participant’s income at the time the 

Participant would have received that amount in cash if the Participant had not made a cash or 

deferred election. 

 

1.27 “Severance from Employment” means the date on which the Employee dies, 

retires or otherwise has a severance from employment with the Employer, as determined by the 

Administrator. 

 

1.28 “Special Section 457 Catch-up Contributions” means the catch-up contribution 

for a Participant in the three consecutive years prior to the year in which the Participant reaches 

Normal Retirement Age, as permitted under Code Section 457(b)(3) and pursuant to Section 3.2. 

 

 

1.29 “Spouse” means a lawfully married individual as interpreted by the Internal 

Revenue Service in accordance with Section 6013 of the Code. 

 

 



 

 
  

5 

 

 

1.30 “Unforeseeable Emergency” means a financial hardship of the Participant or 

Beneficiary resulting from: 

 

  (a) An illness or accident of: 

(1) the Participant or the Beneficiary 

(2) the spouse of the Participant or Beneficiary, or 

(3) the dependent of the Participant or Beneficiary; 

(e.g., medical expenses not covered by medical insurance or lost wages due to illness or 

accident) 

 

 (b) Loss of the Participant’s or Beneficiary’s property due to casualty (including the 

need to rebuild a home following damage to a home not otherwise covered by homeowner’s 

insurance e.g., as a result of a natural disaster); or 

 

 (c) Similar extraordinary and unforeseeable circumstances arising as a result of 

events beyond the control of the Participant or Beneficiary. 

 

In addition, if elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, an Unforeseeable Emergency 

means a severe financial hardship of the Participant resulting from an illness or accident of a 

primary Beneficiary designated by the Participant under the Plan.  

 

A determination of an Unforeseeable Emergency will be based on each Participant’s and 

Beneficiary’s specific facts and circumstances. 

 

 

ARTICLE II 

PARTICIPATION 

 

2.1 Eligibility 

 

Each Eligible Individual will be a Participant in the Plan upon the first day of the month after 

thirty days of continuous employment when he has executed a Participation Agreement. 

 

2.2 Determination of Eligibility and Effective Date of Participation 

 

 (a) The Administrator will determine whether an Eligible Individual has satisfied the 

eligibility requirements specified by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement based upon 

information furnished by the Employer.  Such determination will be conclusive and binding and 

the criteria for such determination will be applied uniformly to all Participants. 

 

(b) The Participant will provide investment direction for contributions made to an 

Investment Product on such forms as may be required by the Provider. 

 

 

 



 

 
  

6 

 

 

2.3 Termination of Eligibility 

 

In the event a Participant will go from a classification of an Eligible Individual to a non-Eligible 

Individual, such Participant will not be able to make Deferrals to the Plan until he is again 

reclassified as an Eligible Individual.  The Participant Account of such inactive Participant will 

continue to be allocated any attributable earnings and losses based on the investment direction 

supplied by the Participant. 

 

2.4 Participation Agreements 

 

(a) In order to participate in the Plan, a Participant must complete a Participation 

Agreement with the Employer and file such Participation Agreement in a manner and method 

determined by the Administrator.  The Participation Agreement will specify: 

 

(1) The amount (expressed either as a dollar amount or as a percentage) of the 

Participant's Compensation which the Participant agrees to make as Deferrals, 

subject to the limitations of Article III; and 

(2) The date as of which Deferrals pursuant to the Participation Agreement will 

begin. 

 

(b) A Participant may make Deferrals payable in the calendar month during which the 

Eligible Individual first becomes a Participant if the Participation Agreement providing for such 

Deferrals is entered into on or before the first day of the month in which the Compensation is 

paid or becomes available. 

 

 (c) Notwithstanding subsection (b), a new Employee who is also an Eligible 

Individual may become a Participant and make Deferrals payable in the calendar month during 

which he first becomes an Employee if a Participation Agreement providing for the Deferrals is 

entered into on or before the first day on which he performs services for the Employer. 

 

 (d) A Participant may, by amendment of a Participation Agreement or by any manner 

as the Administrator may prescribe, do any of the following: 

 

(1) change the specification of the investment for any contributions to a 

Participant Account under an Investment Product; or 

(2) change prospectively the amount of Deferrals. 

 

An amendment to the Participation Agreement will be effective as early as administratively 

practicable, but not earlier than the first day of the following calendar month in which the 

Compensation is paid or made available. 

 

 2.5 Information Provided by the Employee 

 

Each Eligible Individual enrolling in the Plan should provide to the Administrator at the time of 

initial enrollment, and later if there are any changes, any information necessary for the 



 

 
  

7 

 

Administrator to administer the Plan, including, without limitation, whether he is a participant in 

any other eligible plan under Code Section 457(b). 

 

2.6 Contributions Made Promptly 

 

All contributions under the Plan will be transferred to the applicable Investment Product within a 

period that is not longer than is reasonable for the proper administration of the Participant 

Accounts.  For purposes of this requirement, Deferrals under the Plan by a Participant must be 

transferred to the Investment Product within 15 business days following the month in which 

these amounts would otherwise have been paid to the Participant. 

 

2.7 Leave of Absence 

 

Unless an election is otherwise revised, if an Employee is absent from work by leave of absence, 

Deferrals under the Plan will continue to the extent that Compensation continues. 

 

 

ARTICLE III 

CONTRIBUTIONS AND LIMITATIONS 

 

 3.1 Deferrals 

 

(a) Except as provided in Section 3.2 and 3.3 and subject to any applicable law or 

under any applicable collective bargaining agreement, the maximum amount of Deferrals which 

may be made by a Participant in any taxable year will not exceed the lesser of (1) the applicable 

dollar amount provided under Code Section 457(b)(2) (adjusted for cost of living under Code 

Section 457(e)(15)) or (2) 100% of the Participant's Includible Compensation.   

 

(b) A Participant may elect to make Deferrals from accumulated sick pay, 

accumulated vacation pay and back pay, provided the Participant enters into a Participation 

Agreement pursuant to Section 2.4 to make such Deferrals before the amounts would otherwise 

be paid or made available.  A Participant who is a former Employee may make Deferrals from 

accumulated sick pay, vacation pay and back pay, provided that the Participant enters into a 

Participation Agreement pursuant to Section 2.4 prior to the first day of the calendar month to 

make such Deferrals before the amounts would otherwise be paid or made available, provided 

that such amounts are payable within the later of 2 ½ months after the Participant’s Severance 

from Employment or the end of the calendar year that includes the date of the Participant’s 

Severance from Employment. 

 

 3.2 Special 457 Catch-Up Contributions 

 

(a) In any one or more of a Participant's last three calendar years ending before the 

year in which the Participant attains Normal Retirement Age, as defined by the Employer in the 

Adoption Agreement, the Participant may elect to make Deferrals in an amount not exceeding 

the lesser of (1) twice the dollar amount permitted as a general deferral under Section 3.1 or (2) 

the sum of the maximum deferral permitted under Section 3.1 for the current tax year and as 



 

 
  

8 

 

much of the applicable deferral limit under Code Section 457(b)(2) in prior years before the 

current tax year that had not previously been used (“underutilized amount”).  For purposes of this 

Section, a prior year will be taken into account only if such year began after December 31, 1978, 

and the Participant was eligible to participate in the Plan during all or a portion of the prior year.  

A Participant may only make this election under this subsection once with respect to any plan 

under Code Section 457(b) of the Employer. 

 

(b) In determining a Participant’s underutilized amount, the Plan will take into 

consideration: 

 

(1) Prior to 2002, if a Participant made Deferrals to the Plan and deferrals to 

any other plan under Code Section 457(b), salary reduction contributions 

made to plans under Code Section 401(k), plans under Code Section 

403(b), simplified employee pension (SARSEP) plans under Code Section 

402(h)(1), simple retirement accounts under Code Section 408(p), and 

amounts deferred under any plan for which a deduction is allowed because 

of a contribution to an organization described in Code Section 501(c)(18), 

such deferrals to the other plans will be taken into account in determining 

a Participant’s underutilized amount under Code Section 457(b)(2).  In 

addition, Includible Compensation will be limited to the limitation in 

effect in the calendar year in which the deferrals were made.  If such 

deferrals cumulatively exceed the then-applicable dollar amount in Code 

Section 457(b)(2) in the year that such amounts were deferred, then there 

will be no underutilized amount for that year. 

(2) To the extent that the Employer did not maintain a plan under Code 

Section 457(b), no underutilized limitation is available to a Participant for 

that prior year. 

(3) After 2001, only deferrals to plans under Code Section 457(b) will be 

taken into account for purposes of determining the underutilized amount. 

(4) Age 50 Plus Catch-Up Contributions will not be taken into account for 

purposes of determining a Participant’s underutilized amount. 

 

3.3 Age 50 Plus Catch-Up Contributions 

 

A Participant who has attained age 50 before the close of the calendar year may elect Age 50 

Plus Catch-up Contributions.  Such contributions are not subject to the limitations of Code 

Section 457(b).  The maximum dollar amount of the Age 50 Plus Catch-up Contributions for a 

calendar year adjusted for cost of living under Code Section 414(v)(2)(C). 

 

 3.4 Maximum Amount of Catch-Up Contributions 

 

Any catch-up contributions made by a Participant pursuant to Section 3.2 or Section 3.3 may not 

exceed the greater of (a) the amount that the Participant is eligible to make as Deferrals under 

Section 3.2 or (b) the amount that the Participant is eligible to make as Deferrals under Section 

3.3. 

 



 

 
  

9 

 

3.5 Participant Covered by More than one 457(b) Plan 

 

If a Participant is or has been a participant in one or more other plans under Code Section 457(b) 

in the same calendar year, then the Plan and all such other plans will be considered as one plan 

for purposes of applying the limitations of this Article III.  For this purpose, the Administrator 

will take into account any other such plan of the Employer under Code Section 457(b) and, to the 

extent the Participant provides the Administrator with sufficient information concerning his 

participation, any such other plans under Code Section 457(b) in which the individual 

participated in the same calendar year. 

 

3.6 Excess Deferrals 

 

(a) In the event that the limit on Deferrals is exceeded pursuant to this Article III, the 

Administrator will direct the Provider as to the proper correction method permissible under 

applicable law, including calculation of any earnings or losses and the proper tax reporting with 

respect to such distributions as soon as administratively practicable after the Administrator 

determines that the amount is an excess deferral. 

 

(b) A Participant who participates in the Plan and another 457(b) plan of another 

employer will be responsible for complying with the deferral limits of this Article III.  In the 

event of an excess amount, the Participant will notify the Administrator so that the excess may 

be distributed as soon as practicable after the Administrator determines that the amount is an 

excess deferral. 

 

3.7  Transfers from Other Plans under Code Section 457(b) 

 

(a) The Plan will accept transfers of amounts previously deferred under another plan 

under Code Section 457(b) maintained by another employer as defined in Code Section 

457(e)(1)(A). 

 

(b) A transfer under subsection (a) will only be permitted if: 

 

(1) the transferring plan provides for the transfer of such amounts, and 

 

(2) the Participant has a benefit equal to the amount immediately after the 

transfer to least equal to the amount under the Plan immediately before the 

transfer. 

 

 (c) The Administrator may require such documentation from the transferring plan as 

it deems necessary to effectuate the transfer in accordance with Section 1.457-10(b) of the 

Income Tax Regulations and to confirm that the transferring plan is an eligible government plan 

as defined in Section 1.457-2(f) of the Income Tax Regulations.  The amount so transferred will 

be credited to the appropriate account under the Participant Account  and will be held, accounted 

for, administered and otherwise treated in the same manner as amounts as held in the transferor 

plan, except that the transferred amounts will not be taken into consideration for purposes of 

Code Section 457(b)(2) for the year of transfer. 



 

 
  

10 

 

 

3.8  Rollovers to the Plan 

 

 (a) An Eligible Individual, whether a Participant at the time, may rollover amounts 

that are considered eligible rollover distributions as defined in Code Section 402(c)(4) to the Plan 

from an eligible retirement plan, as defined in Code Section 402(c)(8)(B). 

 

(b) Amounts (other than designated Roth contributions as defined in Code Section 

402A) rolled over from another Code Section 457(b) plan maintained by an employer defined in 

Code Section 457(e)(1)(A) will be allocated to the Participant’s 457(b) Rollover Account.  

Amounts (other than designated Roth contributions as defined in Code Section 402A) rolled over 

from an eligible retirement plan that is not a Code Section 457(b) plan will be allocated to the 

Participant’s Non-457(b) Rollover Account. 

 

(c) Designated Roth contributions as defined in Code Section 402A rolled over from 

another Code Section 457(b) plan maintained by an employer as defined in Code Section 

457(e)(1)(A) will be allocated to the Participant’s Roth 457(b) Rollover Account.  Designated 

Roth contributions as defined in Code Section 402A rolled over from an eligible retirement plan 

that is not a Code Section 457(b) plan will be allocated to the Participant’s Roth Non-457(b) 

Rollover Account. 

 

(d) Designated Roth contributions relating to in-plan rollovers under Code Section 

402A(c)(4) rolled over from an eligible retirement plan that is not a Code Section 457(b) plan 

will be allocated to the Participant’s Rollover of In-Plan Roth Non-457(b) Rollover Account. 

 

(e) Amounts attributable to In-Plan Rollovers will be allocated to an In-Plan Roth 

457(b) Rollover Account.  In-Plan Roth Rollover Contributions will be subject to the Plan rules 

related to Roth 457(b) Contributions. 

 

3.9 Investments 

 

Subject to Section 5.9, amounts contributed to the Plan will be invested in an Investment 

Product.  Participants will direct the investment of their Participant Accounts among the 

investment options available under the Investment Product.  Contributions will be allocated to a 

Participant Account in accordance with this Article III and earnings and losses attributable to 

such contributions will be allocated to such Participant Account.  If any provision of an 

Investment Product agreement is not consistent with the Plan provisions, the terms of the Plan 

will control. 

 

3.10 Protection of Persons Who Serve In a Uniformed Service 

 

(a) An Employee whose employment is interrupted by qualified military service 

under Code Section 414(u) or who is on a leave of absence for qualified military service under 

Code Section 414(u) may elect to make additional Deferrals upon resumption of employment 

with the Employer equal to the maximum Deferrals that the Employee could have elected during 

that period if the Employee’s employment with the Employer had continued (at the same level of 



 

 
  

11 

 

Compensation) without the interruption or leave, reduced by the Deferrals, if any, actually made 

for the Employee during the period of the interruption or leave.  Except to the extent provided 

under Code Section 414(u), this right applies for five years following the resumption of 

employment (or, if sooner, for a period equal to three times the period of the interruption or 

leave). 

 

(b) In the case of a Participant who dies while performing qualified military service 

(as defined in Code Section 414(u)), the Beneficiaries are entitled to any additional benefits 

(other than Deferrals relating to the period of qualified military service) provided under the Plan 

had the Participant resumed employment and then had a Severance from Employment on 

account of death.   

 

 

ARTICLE IV 

BENEFIT DISTRBUTIONS 

 

4.1   Distributions Under the Plan 

 

(a) A Participant Elective Deferral Account, Roth 457(b) Contributions Account or 

In-Plan Roth 457(b) Rollover Account may not be paid to a Participant (or, if applicable, the 

Beneficiary) until one of the following events has occurred: 

 

(1) upon the Participant’s Severance from Employment; 

(2) the calendar year in which the Participant attains age 70 ½; 

(3) an Unforeseeable Emergency, within the meaning of and subject to Section 4.6, if 

elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement; or 

 

 (b) A Participant may choose to receive a distribution from his 457(b) Rollover 

Account, Non-457(b) Rollover Account, Roth 457(b) Rollover Account, Rollover of In-Plan 

Roth Non-457(b) Rollover Account and Roth Non-457(b) Rollover Account at the time elected 

by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement. 

 

 (c) An Independent Contractor will be considered to have a Severance from 

Employment upon the expiration of all of the contracts under which services are performed for 

the Employer, if the expiration constitutes a good faith and complete termination of the 

contractual relationship.  An expiration of such contractual relationship will not be considered to 

be a good faith and complete termination if the Employer anticipates a renewal of such 

contractual relationship or the Independent Contractor becomes an Employee. 

 

4.2 Distributions from a Roth 457(b) Contributions Account, a Roth 457(b) Rollover 

Account*, a Roth Non-457(b) Rollover Account, a Rollover of In-Plan Roth Non-457(b) 

Rollover Account and an In-Plan Roth 457(b) Rollover Account, will be tax-free for federal 

income tax purposes if: 

 

(1) The distribution meets the requirements of Section 4.1(a); 

 



 

 
  

12 

 

(2) The amounts are held for a 5-year holding period, measured from the first year 

that the initial Roth 457(b) Contribution was made on behalf of the Participant to a Roth 457(b) 

Contributions Account, and 

 

(3) The distribution is due to a Participant’s attainment of age 59 ½, death, or in the 

event of the Participant’s becoming Disabled. 

 

4.3 Determination of Benefits Payable to a Participant 

 

(a) Upon attainment of a distributable event described in Section 4.1, but in no event 

later than the requirement to commence minimum distribution payments in accordance with 

Code Section 401(a)(9) and the Income Tax Regulations thereunder, a Participant may elect a 

benefit distribution option to which benefits will be paid. 

 

(b) Upon a Participant’s application for benefits, the Administrator will direct the 

distribution of a Participant Account in accordance with this Section 4.2. 

 

 (c) A Participant may choose a benefit distribution option as elected by the Employer 

in the Adoption Agreement.  In the event a Participant fails to make an election as to a benefit 

distribution option, any benefit payable to such Participant will be distributed as elected by the 

Employer in the Adoption Agreement.  The terms of any annuity contract purchased and 

distributed by the Plan to a Participant will comply with the requirements of the Plan. 

 

4.4 Determination of Benefits Upon Death 

 

 (a) Upon the death of a Participant, the Administrator will direct that the deceased 

Participant’s Participant Account, be distributed to the Beneficiary in accordance with the 

provisions of this Section. 

 

(b) The designation of a Beneficiary will be made on a form supplied by the Provider 

to the Administrator.  A Participant or Beneficiary may at any time revoke his designation of a 

Beneficiary or change his Beneficiary by filing written notice of such revocation or change with 

the Administrator.  In the event no valid designation of Beneficiary exists at the time of the 

Participant’s or Beneficiary’s death, the death benefit will be payable to the Participant’s or 

Beneficiary’s estate. 

 

(c) The Administrator may require such proper proof of death and such evidence of 

the right of any person to receive payment of the value of the Participant Account of a deceased 

Participant or Beneficiary, as the Administrator may deem appropriate.  The Administrator’s 

determination of death and of the right of any person to receive payment will be conclusive. 

 

(d) Death benefits payable to a Beneficiary will be made in a form as selected by the 

Beneficiary in accordance with the available options as elected by the Employer in the Adoption 

Agreement.  In the event a Beneficiary fails to make an election as to a benefit distribution 

option, any benefit payable to such Beneficiary will be distributed in accordance with Code 



 

 
  

13 

 

Section 401(a)(9).  The terms of any annuity contract purchased and distributed by the Plan to a 

Beneficiary will comply with the requirements of the Plan. 

 

4.5 Minimum Distributions. 

 

(a) All distributions under the Plan will comply with the minimum distribution 

requirements of Code Section 401(a)(9) and the Income Tax Regulations. 

 

((b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Participant or Beneficiary who would have been 

required to receive required minimum distributions for 2009 but for the enactment of Code 

Section 401(a)(9)(H) (“2009 RMDs”), and who would have satisfied that requirement by 

receiving distributions that are (1) equal to the 2009 RMDs or (2) one or more payments in a 

series of substantially equal distributions (that include the 2009 RMDs) made at least annually 

and expected to last for the life (or life expectancy) of the Participant, the joint lives (or joint life 

expectancy) of the Participant and the Participant’s Beneficiary, or for a period of at least 10 

years (“Extended 2009 RMDs”), will not receive those distributions for 2009 unless the 

Participant or Beneficiary chooses to receive such distributions. Participants and Beneficiaries 

described in the preceding sentence will be given the opportunity to elect to receive the 

distributions described in the preceding sentence. 

 

(c) In addition, notwithstanding Section 4.8, 2009 RMDs and Extended 2009 RMDs 

will be treated as eligible rollover distributions as defined in Code Section 402(c)(4). 

 

 4.6 Unforeseeable Emergency Withdrawals 

 

 (a) A Participant or Beneficiary may request an Unforeseeable Emergency 

withdrawal subject to the following requirements: 

 

(1) The request for an Unforeseeable Emergency withdrawal will be 

determined by the Administrator based on the Participant’s or 

Beneficiary’s relevant facts and circumstances. 

 

(2) The request for an Unforeseeable Emergency may be made only to the 

extent that such emergency is or may not be relieved through: 

 

• reimbursement or compensation from insurance or otherwise; 

• liquidation of the Participant’s or Beneficiary’s assets, to the extent 

the liquidation of such assets would not itself cause severe financial 

hardship; or  

• cessation of the Participant’s Deferrals to the Plan. 

 

(3) Distributions due to an Unforeseeable Emergency must be limited to the 

amount reasonably necessary to satisfy the emergency need (which may 

include any amounts necessary to pay federal, state, or local income taxes 

or penalties reasonably anticipated to result from the distribution). 

 



 

 
  

14 

 

(b) A Participant or Beneficiary may request an Unforeseeable Emergency 

withdrawal by submitting that request in writing on the Plan’s approved form to the 

Administrator, who will review and approve the request.  If the request is denied, a request for 

review of the determination may be made in writing to such entity as the Administrator may 

designate, provided that such entity has accepted the designation.  If the review of the 

determination fails to confirm a claim of Unforeseeable Emergency, an appeal may be made to 

the appellate committee established by the Administrator in writing.  If at any time a request of 

an Unforeseeable Emergency withdrawal is approved, the Employer may thereupon direct the 

Provider to distribute so much of the Participant Account as is necessary to provide the amount 

approved to meet the Unforeseeable Emergency, as determined by the Administrator. 

 

(c) Unforeseeable Emergency withdrawals will be made in accordance with the 

procedures established by the applicable Provider’s Investment Products. 

 

4.7 Rollovers From The Plan 

 

(a) Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, a Participant, a 

surviving spouse who is the designated Beneficiary of the Participant or a spouse or former 

spouse who is the alternate payee will be permitted to elect to have any eligible rollover 

distribution as defined in Code Section 402(c)(4) paid directly to an eligible retirement plan as 

defined in as defined in Code Section 402(c)(8)(B) or to a Roth IRA established under Code 

Section 408A specified by the Participant.  The Participant will, in the time and manner 

prescribed by the Administrator, specify the amount to be rolled over and the eligible retirement 

plan to receive such rollover.  Any portion of a distribution which is not rolled over will be 

distributed directly to the Participant. 

 

 (b) A non-spousal Beneficiary may elect to roll over death benefits amounts in 

accordance with Code Section 402(c)(11) provided that: 

 

(1) such amounts are rolled over to an inherited IRA via a direct trustee-to-trustee 

transfer; 

(2) such election is made by December 31 of the year following the year of the 

Participant’s death; and 

(3) the rolled over amounts are eligible rollover distributions as defined in Code 

Section 402(c)(4). 

 



 

 
  

15 

 

 4.8 Permissive Service Credit Transfers 

 

(a) If a Participant is also a participant in a tax qualified defined benefit governmental 

plan (as defined in Code Section 414(d)) that provides for the acceptance of plan-to-plan 

transfers with respect to the Participant, then the Participant may elect to have any portion of his 

Participant Account transferred to the defined benefit governmental plan in accordance with 

Code Section 457(e)(17).  A transfer under this Section may be made before the Participant has 

had a Severance from Employment. 

 

(b) A transfer may be made under subsection (a) only if the transfer is either for the 

purchase of permissive service credit (as defined in Code Section 415(n)(3)(A)) under the 

receiving defined benefit governmental plan or a repayment to which Code Section 415 does not 

apply by reason of Code Section 415(k)(3). 
 

 4.9 Transfers to Other Plans under Code Section 457(b) Upon Severance From 

Employment 

 

(a) Upon a Participant’s Severance from Employment, a Participant may elect to have 

all or a portion of the Participant Account transferred to the plan under Code Section 457(b) of 

an employer defined in Code Section 457(e)(1)(A).  Such amounts will be transferred at the 

Participant’s election, provided: 

 

(1) The plan under Code Section 457(b) to which the Participant’s benefit is 

being transferred provides for the acceptance of such amounts; 

 

(2) The Participant or Beneficiary has a benefit equal to the amount 

immediately after the transfer to least equal to the amount under the Plan 

immediately before the transfer; and 

 

(3) In the case of a transfer made on behalf of a Participant, such individual 

has had a Severance from Employment with the Employer and is 

performing services for the employer maintaining the receiving plan. 

 

(b) Upon the transfer of amounts under subsection (a), the Plan’s liability to pay 

benefits to the Participant or Beneficiary under the Plan will be discharged to the extent of the 

amount so transferred on behalf of the Participant or Beneficiary.  The Administrator may 

require such documentation from the receiving plan as it deems appropriate or necessary to 

comply with this Section or effectuate the transfer pursuant to Section 1.457-10(b) of the Income 

Tax Regulations.  If Roth 457(b) Contributions are transferred, the receiving plan must permit 

Designated Roth contributions as defined in Code Section 402A. 

 

4.10 Loans to Participants 

 

A Participant may not receive a loan from his Elective Deferral Account, 457(b) Rollover 

Account and non-457(b) Rollover Account. 

 

  



 

 
  

16 

 

ARTICLE V 

ADMINISTRATION 

 

5.1 Powers and Responsibilities of the Employer 

 

 (a) The Employer will have full power to interpret and construe the Plan in a manner 

consistent with its terms and the provisions of Code Section 457, including the applicable 

Income Tax Regulations and to establish practices and procedures conforming to those 

provisions.  In all such cases, the Employer’s determination will be final and conclusive upon all 

persons.  It is recognized that unusual circumstances may occur and questions may arise that are 

not specifically covered by any provision of the Plan, and the Employer will have the right to 

resolve all such questions.  Notwithstanding the above, the Employer’s power and responsibility 

under the Plan will not extend to, nor have any control over, those responsibilities and duties of 

the Provider. 

 

 (b) The Employer will be empowered to appoint and remove the Administrator from 

time to time as it deems necessary for the proper administration of the Plan to assure that the 

Plan is being operated for the exclusive benefit of the Participants and their Beneficiaries in 

accordance with the terms of the Plan and the Code. 

 

 (c) The Employer will periodically review the performance of any person to whom 

duties have been delegated or allocated by it under the provisions of this Plan or pursuant to 

procedures established hereunder.  This requirement may be satisfied by formal periodic review 

by the Employer or by a qualified person specifically designated by the Employer, through day-

to-day conduct and evaluation, or through other appropriate ways. 

 

 5.2 Allocation and Delegation of Responsibilities  

 

If more than one person is appointed as Administrator, the responsibilities of each Administrator 

may be specified by the Employer and accepted in writing by each Administrator.  In the event 

that the Employer makes no such delegation, the Administrators may allocate the responsibilities 

among themselves, in which event the Administrators will notify the Employer in writing of such 

action and specify the responsibilities of each Administrator. 

 

 5.3 Powers and Duties of the Administrator 

 

The primary responsibility of the Administrator is to administer the Plan for the benefit of the 

Participants and their Beneficiaries, subject to the specific terms of the Plan.  The Administrator 

will administer the Plan in accordance with its terms and will have the power and discretion to 

construe the terms of the Plan and determine all questions arising in connection with the 

administration, interpretation, and application of the Plan.  Any such determination by the 

Administrator will be conclusive and binding upon all persons.  The Administrator may establish 

procedures, correct any defect, supply any information, or reconcile any inconsistency in such 

manner and to such extent as will be deemed necessary or advisable to carry out the purpose of 

the Plan; provided, however, that any procedure, discretionary act, interpretation or construction 

will be done in a nondiscriminatory manner based upon uniform principles consistently applied 



 

 
  

17 

 

and will be consistent with the intent that the Plan will continue to be deemed a qualified plan 

under the terms of Code Section 457, and will comply with the terms of all Income Tax 

Regulations issued pursuant thereto.  The Administrator will have all powers necessary or 

appropriate to accomplish his duties under this Plan.  The Administrator will be charged with the 

duties of the general administration of the Plan, including, but not limited to, the following: 

 

 (a) the discretion to determine all questions relating to the eligibility of Employees 

and Independent Contractors to participate or remain a Participant hereunder and to receive 

benefits under the Plan; 

 

 (b) determine the amounts to be contributed to each Participant Account; 

 

 (c) to authorize and direct the Provider with respect to all disbursements to which a 

Participant is entitled under the Plan; 

 

 (d) to maintain all necessary records for the administration of the Plan; 

 

 (e) to maintain practices and procedures necessary to administer the Plan as are 

consistent with the terms hereof; 

 

 (f) to determine the type of any Investment Product to be purchased from the 

Provider; and 

 

 (g) to assist any Participant regarding his rights, benefits, or elections available under 

the Plan. 

 

 5.4 Records and Reports 

 

The Administrator will keep a record of all actions taken and will keep all other books of 

accounts, records, and other data that may be necessary for proper administration of the Plan and 

will be responsible for supplying all information and reports to the Internal Revenue Service, 

Participants, Beneficiaries and others as required by law. 

 

 5.5 Appointment of Advisors 

 

The Administrator may appoint/employ such agents, attorneys, actuaries, accountants, auditors, 

investment counsel, and clerical assistants, and other persons as the Administrator deems 

necessary or desirable in connection with the administration of this Plan. 

 

 5.6 Information from the Employer 

 

To enable the Administrator to perform his functions, the Employer will supply the necessary 

information to the Administrator on a timely basis regarding the Participants under the Plan, 

including but not limited to Compensation, date of hire, date of death, Severance from 

Employment, and such other pertinent facts and data as the Administrator may require.  The 



 

 
  

18 

 

Administrator may rely upon such information as is supplied by the Employer and will have no 

duty or responsibility to verify such information. 

 

 5.7 Payment of Expenses 

 

All expenses of administration will be paid by the Employer.  Such expenses will include any 

expenses incident to the functioning of the Administrator, including, but not limited to, fees of 

accountants, counsel, and other specialists and their agents, and other costs of administering the 

Plan. 

 

5.8 Discontinuance of Provider 

 

Notwithstanding Section 3.9, if any Provider ceases to be eligible to receive Deferrals under the 

Plan, the Employer may direct that both existing amounts under Participant Accounts that were 

invested with such Provider and any future contributions be transferred to the Investment 

Products of those Providers which are currently approved to receive Deferrals under the Plan. 

 

 

ARTICLE VI 

AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION 

 

 6.1 Amendment 

 

 (a) The Employer will have the right at any time to amend this Plan subject to the 

limitations of this Section.  Any such amendment will become effective as provided therein upon 

its execution. 

 

 (b) No amendment to the Plan will be effective if it authorizes or permits any part of 

the Investment Product (other than such part as is required to pay taxes and administration 

expenses) to be used for or diverted to any purpose other than for the exclusive benefit of 

Participants or Beneficiaries; or causes any reduction in the amount credited to the account of 

any Participant or Beneficiary; or causes or permits any portion of the Investment Product to 

revert to or become property of the Employer. 

 

 6.2 Termination 

 

 (a) The Employer will have the right at any time to terminate the Plan by resolution 

of its governing board.  In addition, the Employer must deliver written notice of discontinuance 

of the Investment Product to the Provider. 

 

 (b) Upon the full termination of the Plan, the Employer will direct the distribution of 

the assets to Participants and Beneficiaries in a manner which is consistent with and satisfies the 

provisions of Article IV as soon as administratively practicable after termination of the Plan. 

 



 

 
  

19 

 

6.3 Transfer of Entire Plan Assets to Another Eligible Plan Within the Same State 

 

Subject to this Section, the Employer may direct the transfer of all assets of the Plan to another 

plan under Code Section 457(e)(1)(A) and that is located in the same state, provided that the 

requirements of Code Section 457(b) and Section 1.457(b)-10 (b)(3) of the Income Tax 

Regulations are satisfied.  If Roth 457(b) Contributions are transferred, the receiving plan must 

permit Designated Roth contributions as defined in Code Section 402A. 

 

 

ARTICLE VII 

MISCELLANEOUS 

 

 7.1 Assets For Exclusive Benefit Of Participants And Beneficiaries 

 

All amounts in the Participant Accounts under this Plan, all property and rights which may be 

purchased with such amounts and all income attributable to such amounts, property or rights will 

be held in trust (or a custodial account or annuity contract described in Code Section 401(f)) for 

the exclusive benefit of Participants and their Beneficiaries.  All such amounts will not be subject 

to the claims of the Employer’s general creditors. 

 

7.2  Participant Rights 

 

This Plan will not be deemed to constitute a contract between the Employer and any Participant 

or to be a consideration or an inducement for the employment of any Participant, Employee, or 

Independent Contractor.  Nothing contained in this Plan will be deemed to give any Participant, 

Employee, or Independent Contractor the right to be retained in the service of the Employer or to 

interfere with the right of the Employer to discharge any Participant, Employee or Independent 

Contractor at any time regardless of the effect which such discharge will have upon him as a 

Participant in this Plan. 

 

 7.3 Alienation 

 

Subject to applicable state law (and Code Section 401(g) if the Investment Product consists of an 

annuity contract) and except as provided in Section 7.4, no benefit which will be payable to any 

person (including a Participant or his Beneficiary) will be subject in any manner to anticipation, 

alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, or charge, and any attempt to 

anticipate, alienate, sell, transfer, assign, pledge, encumber, or charge the same will be void; and 

no such benefit will in any manner be liable for, or subject to, the debts, contracts, liabilities, 

engagements, or torts of any such person, nor will be subject to attachment or legal process for or 

against such person, and the same will not be recognized except to such extent as may be 

required by law. 

 



 

 
  

20 

 

 7.4 Recognition of Approved Domestic Relations Orders 

 

Notwithstanding Section 7.3, if a judgment, decree or order (including approval of a property 

settlement agreement) that relates to the provision of child support, alimony payments, or the 

marital property rights of a spouse or former spouse, child, or other dependent of a Participant is 

made pursuant to the domestic relations law of any State (“domestic relations order”) and Code 

Section 414(p), then the amount of the Participant Account will be paid in the manner and to the 

person or persons so directed in the domestic relations order.  Such payment will be made 

without regard to whether the Participant is eligible for a distribution of benefits under the Plan.  

The Administrator will establish reasonable procedures for determining the status of any such 

decree or order and for effectuating distribution pursuant to the domestic relations order.  

 

7.5 IRS Levy 

 

Notwithstanding Section 7.3, if a Participant or Beneficiary is entitled to a distribution in 

accordance with Section 5, the Administrator may pay from a Participant's or Beneficiary's 

Account the amount that the Administrator finds is lawfully demanded under a levy issued by the 

Internal Revenue Service with respect to that Participant or Beneficiary or is sought to be 

collected by the United States Government under a judgment resulting from an unpaid tax 

assessment against the Participant or Beneficiary. 

 

7.6 Distribution for Minor Beneficiary or Incompetent 

 

If a Participant or Beneficiary entitled to receive any benefits hereunder is a minor or is adjudged 

to be legally incapable of giving valid receipt and discharge for such benefits, or is deemed so by 

the Administrator, benefits will be paid to such person as the Administrator may designate for 

the benefit of such Participant or Beneficiary.  Such payments shall be considered a payment to 

such Participant or Beneficiary and shall, to the extent made, be deemed a complete discharge of 

any liability for such payments under the Plan. 

 

7.7 Mistaken Contributions 

 

If any contribution (or any portion of a contribution) is made to the Plan by a good faith mistake 

of fact, then within one year after the payment of the contribution, and upon receipt in good 

order of a proper request approved by the Administrator, the amount of the mistaken contribution 

(adjusted for any income or loss in value, if any, allocable thereto) will be returned directly to the 

Participant or, to the extent required or permitted by the Administrator, to the Employer. 

 

7.8 Procedure When Distributee Cannot Be Located 

 

The Administrator shall make all reasonable attempts to determine the identity and address of a 

Participant or Beneficiary entitled to benefits under the Plan.  For this purpose, a reasonable 

attempt means (a) the mailing by certified mail of a notice to the last known address shown on 

the Employer’s or the Administrator's records, (b) notification sent to the Social Security 

Administration or the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (under their program to identify 

payees under retirement plans), and (c) the payee has not responded within 6 months.  If the 



 

 
  

21 

 

Administrator is unable to locate such a person entitled to benefits hereunder, or if there has been 

no claim made for such benefits, the funding vehicle shall continue to hold the benefits due such 

person. 

 

7.9 Governing Law 

 

The Plan will be construed, administered and enforced according to the Code and the laws of the 

state in which the Employer has its principal place of business. 

 

7.10 Headings 

 

Headings of the Plan have been inserted for convenience of reference only and are to be ignored 

in any construction of the provisions hereof. 

 

7.11 Gender 

 

Pronouns used in the Plan in the masculine or feminine gender include both genders unless the 

context clearly indicates otherwise. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  10. A.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Christine Cameron, Project Manager II

Date: 09/25/2013

Meeting Date: 10/01/2013

TITLE: 
Consideration and Approval of Grant Intergovernmental Agreement Amendment #1: Pine Knoll
Drive Safe Routes to School Project. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve Amendment #1 to the existing Intergovernmental Agreement/Joint Project
Agreement (IGA) between the City of Flagstaff and Arizona Department of Transportation (ADOT)
for additional grant funds in the amount of $90,897.00 for design services and ADOT review fees. 

Policy Decision or Reason for Action:
Approval of Amendment #1 of the IGA between the City of Flagstaff and ADOT will provide additional
funding for design services and ADOT review fees to design and construct the Pine Knoll Safe Routes to
School Project.    

Financial Impact:
The current total estimated project cost for the project is $491,025 and is detailed as follows:

Design: $202,382
Construction: $288,643

The Safe Routes to Schools Grant covers 100% of costs up to $491,025 and the City is responsible for
costs above the grant amount. The City has $80,000 in contingency funding budgeted for possible cost
overruns and staff time. The funding will be provided by the Flagstaff Urban Trail System program,
account number 051-7580-632.

Connection to Council Goal:
Maintain and deliver quality, reliable infrastructure.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
Yes, Council approved the original IGA for this project at the February 5, 2013 Council Meeting. 



Options and Alternatives:
Approve the IGA Amendment #1 to cover additional design and review cost associated with the project.
Reject the IGA Amendment #1, which would forfeit the project funding and suspend or cancel the
project.  

Background/History:
The Pine Knoll Safe Routes to School project area is located between South San Francisco Street and
Lone Tree Road, and adjacent to Northern Arizona University and Kinsey School in South Flagstaff.
Project improvements include installation of bicycle lanes on Pine Knoll Drive, and a multi-use Flagstaff
Urban Trail on the north side of Pine Knoll Drive.

The original IGA was approved by Council on the February 5, 2013 Council meeting. This past spring,
ADOT managed the engineering design consultant selection for the project and the consultant fees
are $25,897 higher than anticipated.  This cost increase is attributed to the federal grant compliance
requirements for design of the project. ADOT also finalized an evaluation of their internal review staff
time and raised the ADOT review fee from $5,000 to $70,000 in an effort to increase recapture of
their review cost. Both of these items add up to an increase of $90,897. Since both of these
increases were driven by the ADOT process, ADOT agreed to provide the additional funding to cover the
expense. 

Key Considerations:
ADOT will provide 100% of the cost increase to allow the project to move forward. The City will not have
any additional funding requirements due to these changes. 

Aside from the funding increase, there were two other minor changes to the original IGA:

1. Clarification of the timing of the Safe Routes to School baseline data collection. The original IGA
required it to happen in the first full school month after project kick off. The amendment allows for
collection anytime during the school year to provide better timing and flexibility of the data collection. 

2. ADOT indirect costs are not included in this project due to the fact that Pine Knoll is a Local Project.
Indirect cost charges are only applicable to State Projects. Therefore, this item needed to be removed.  

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Approval of the IGA Amendment will start the process for design and construction of the bike lanes and
pedestrian path to increase safety for Kinsey School and Northern Arizona University, and to provide
continuity between the San Francisco Street and Lone Tree Road multi-purpose paths. 

Community Involvement:
This project is an element of the Flagstaff Urban Trail System Plan. Plan projects are presented and
prioritized annually at the Flagstaff Bike Advisory Board, Pedestrian Advisory Board, Open Spaces
Commission, and the Transportation Commission. The project has been programmed in the City Five
year Capital Plan.

Attachments:  IGA/JPA Amendment #1
Project Vicinity Map











L
O

N
E

 T
R

E
E

 R
D

P
IN

E
 K

NOLL DR

SA
N
 FR

A
N
C
IS

C
O

 S
T

P
IN

E
G

R
O

V
E

 R
D

PASEO
 D

EL 
FLA

G
  

P
IN

E
 C

IR

PINE KNOLL DR

Pine Knoll Safe Routes to School Project

Title:  Pine Knoll Safe Routes to School Project

COF Proj. No. 758000

COF File No. 03-12002
January 29, 2013

N
Project Location

0 170 340 510 68085
Feet

Kinsey School

NAU Skydome

¹

cipprjmb
Polygonal Line



  10. B.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Stacey Brechler-Knaggs, Grants Manager

Co-Submitter: Barney Helmick, Airport Director

Date: 09/25/2013

Meeting Date: 10/01/2013

TITLE: 
Consideration of Ratifying the Grant Agreement:  between the City of Flagstaff and the U.S.
Department of Transportation, Federal Aviation Administration for the Westplex Taxi Lanes
Reconstruction Project at Flagstaff Pulliam Airport.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Ratify the Grant Agreement with the U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Aviation
Administration (FAA) in the amount of $4,905,017 for the Westplex Taxi Lanes Reconstruction
Project.

Policy Decision or Reason for Action:
This ratifies the City Manager's acceptance of the FAA Grant Offer which provided funding for the
Westplex Taxi Lanes Reconstruction Project.  In addition, this project will provide improved airport safety
and infrastructure maintenance.

Financial Impact:
The grant application based on bids was submitted on May 15, 2013 in the amount of $4,905,017
(91.06%) ($2M Entitlement / $2,905,017 Discretionary), State Share amount of $240,780 (4.47%) and
City share amount of $240,780 (4.47%) for a total project cost of $5,386,577.

This Grant Agreement in the amount of $4,905,017 is for the Westplex Taxi Lanes Reconstruction
Project at the Flagstaff Pulliam Airport.

The project is budgeted in account number 270-3776-783 in the combined amount of $6,149,445 for FY
2013 and 2014. 

Connection to Council Goal:
Effective governance

  



Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
Council approved engineering design services contract on December 4, 2012. 
Council approved the CMAR Design Phase Contract and the Construction Administration Contract
on May 7, 2013.
Council approved the CMAR Construction Phase Services on June 6, 2013, contingent upon
receipt of the grants from the FAA and ADOT.

Options and Alternatives:
Ratify and accept the Grant Agreement which will provide funding to complete the project.
Not ratify and accept the Grant Agreement and the funds will be returned and project cancelled.

Background/History:
On December 4, 2012, City Council approved Supplemental Agreement Number 2 for Consulting
Services with Kimley-Horn and Associates to provide design phase services for the Westplex Taxi Lanes
Reconstruction project. On May 7, 2013, City Council approved the CMAR design phase services
contract with J. Banicki Construction. Banicki has completed the design phase services and has provided
a Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) to construct the project.

In recent years, the Arizona State Legislature has authorized the use of Alternative Project Delivery
Methods (APDM) in lieu of the traditional design-bid-build method of project delivery. The Federal
Aviation Administration has also authorized use of APDM. These alternative methods allow a contracting
agency the opportunity to select a construction team utilizing a Qualifications Based Selection process to
procure construction services from a firm deemed most qualified to perform the work.

On March 13, 2013, a Request for Statements of Qualifications for Construction Manager at Risk
services was published in the Arizona Daily Sun and posted on the City’s purchasing website. On March
28, 2013, the City of Flagstaff received three Statements of Qualifications from firms wishing to provide
CMAR services for the project. A selection committee of five members independently reviewed and
evaluated those statements in accordance with guidelines established by the enabling legislation. Based
on numerical evaluation of the statements received, the firm of Banicki Construction received the highest
ranking and was deemed the most qualified among those submitting proposals to provide the desired
design phase services. On June 6, 2013, Council approved the CMAR Construction Phase Services,
contingent upon receipt of the grants from the FAA and ADOT.

This project was submitted to FAA and ADOT as part of our Airport Capital Improvement Program.  In
April 2013 a Grant Application was submitted based on bids for the Westplex Taxi Lanes Reconstruction
Project at Flagstaff Pulliam Airport.
    

Key Considerations:
The project consists of removal and replacement of taxi lane asphalt pavements between and around
existing tee and shade hangars in the westplex area of Flagstaff Pulliam Airport. Work will include milling
of existing pavement, excavation and disposal of existing soils, constructing sub-base, base and new
asphalt pavements, pavement markings, tie-down installation, pavement marking and other related work.
Existing asphalt pavements beneath three existing shade hangars will also be replaced with new
concrete pavements.

The pavements and aprons surrounding the existing "tee" and shade hangars are badly deteriorated and
require extensive annual patching. Cracks in the pavements are in some cases obstructions to the safe
movement of aircraft. These pavements have reached the end of their useful life and are in need of
complete replacement.



    

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Construction of the project will increase the utility and safety of operations at the airport. New pavements
surrounding existing hangers will benefit general aviation tenants by providing improved access and
easier maneuverability into leased storage units.

Community Involvement:
Involve - The project will require that tenants will not have access to their hangars during construction. To
minimize that inconvenience, the project will be constructed in three phases, with access restrictions
limited to several hangars in each phase. Tenants will be notified of the upcoming work by mail prior to
construction. In addition, e-mails will be sent to all tenants advising of the upcoming work. During
construction, weekly updates regarding progress and anticipated dates for reinstating hangar access will
be posted on the City website so that tenants may be advised of construction progress.

Attachments:  Grant Agreement FAA AIP #36-Rehabilitate Taxiway
Location Map













































































LEGEND

FLAGSTAFF PULLIAM AIRPORT

TAXILANE RECONSTRUCTION

EXHIBIT

2



  10. C.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Stacey Brechler-Knaggs, Grants Manager

Co-Submitter: Barney Helmick, Airport Director and Nicole
Woodman, Sustainability Manager

Date: 09/25/2013

Meeting Date: 10/01/2013

TITLE: 
Consideration of Ratifying the Grant Agreement: between the City of Flagstaff and the U.S.
Department of Transportation, Federal Aviation Administration for the Sustainability Master Plan at
Flagstaff Pulliam Airport.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Ratify the Grant Agreement with the U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Aviation
Administration (FAA) in the amount of $270,000 for the Sustainability Master Plan.

Policy Decision or Reason for Action:
This ratifies the City Manager's acceptance of the FAA Grant Offer which will provide funding for a
Sustainability Master Plan.

Financial Impact:
The grant application was submitted on August 23, 2013, in the amount of $270,000 (91.06%), State
share amount of $13,254 (4.47%) and City share of $13,254 (4.47%) for a total project cost of $296,508.

This Grant Agreement in the amount of $270,000 is for the Sustainability Master Plan at the Flagstaff
Pulliam Airport.
This project was not budgeted for in FY 2014, however the City match amount of $13,254 will come from
270-3805-783. 

Connection to Council Goal:

Effective governance

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
No

Options and Alternatives:
Ratify and accept the Grant Agreement which will provide funding to complete the project.
Do not ratify nor accept the Grant Agreement and the funds will be returned and project cancelled.



Background/History:
On August 23, 2013, the City submitted a grant application for the Sustainable Master Plan Pilot Program
which is helping airports incorporate sustainability into long-term planning.  The pilot program was
initiated in 2010 and is expected to be completed and the funds obligated by 2013.  The Sustainable
Master Plan Pilot Program's goal is to help airports achieve their planning and operational objectives
while achieving economic benefits, reducing environmental impacts, and improving relationships with
local communities.  This goal is pursued through preparation of comprehensive, long-range plans that
incorporate sustainability.

Key Considerations:
There are many benefits of airport sustainability planning, including reduced energy consumption,
reduced noise impacts, reduced hazardous and solid waste generation, reduced greenhouse gas
emissions, improved water quality, improved community relations, and cost savings.  As part of a Federal
Aviation Administration pilot program on airport sustainability planning, this grant will promote design,
project implementation and financial decisions that will help Pulliam Airport to identify ways to reduce
energy consumption and environmental impacts, implement better business practices and improve
neighbor relations.

In addition, this funding for the Sustainability Master Plan is timely since we are programming funding to
update our current Master Plan in FY 2016 and this plan would address those sustainable initiatives as a
new chapter within the Master Plan update.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
By including sustainability principles in the planning process, the airport can create a road map before
making final planning and management decisions.  This will in turn promote design, project
implementation and financial decisions that will help our airport identify ways to reduce energy
consumption, environmental impacts, and carbon footprint.  As a result, the airport incorporating
sustainability in the master planning process will become a more environmentally friendly business and
neighbor. 

Community Involvement:
Involve - Bring together various stakeholders to become involved in the sustainability plan through for
example, visioning meetings, diverse advisory committee meetings, outreach sessions, airport tenant
surveys, and small group discussions and breakout meetings.

Attachments:  Airport Sustainablity Master Plan Grant Agreement

































































  10. D.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Shannon Anderson, Human Resources Manager

Co-Submitter: Katie Wittekind, NAPEBT Wellness Coordinator

Date: 09/26/2013

Meeting Date: 10/01/2013

TITLE
Presentation of Northern Arizona Public Employees Benefits Trust (NAPEBT) Wellness Incentive
Program

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Informational presentation with opportunity to ask questions and provide input regarding the
NAPEBT Wellness Incentive Program

INFORMATION
Katie Wittekind, NAPEBT Wellness Coordinator, will present information regarding the NAPEBT
Wellness Incentive Program.  Included in her presentation will be:

The mission of the Wellness Incentive Program
Why is NAPEBT doing a Wellness Incentive Program
Survey results from the recent NAPEBT Wellness Survey
What's new to the Wellness Incentive Program
What is the NAPEBT Coordinator working on with the NAPEBT Wellness Committee
Fiscal year end 2012-2013 results of the Wellness Incentive Program
Wellness Information Packet

Attachments:  NAPEBT Wellness Incentive Program
FY 2012-2013 Year End Report
Wellness Incentive Program Information Packet



9/26/2013

1

NAPEBT

Wellness Incentive 

Program

Our Mission
To off set the rising costs of health care while creating 

wellness opportunities that empower the individual to take 

control of their health and well being for quality of life. 



9/26/2013

2

Why Wellness?

• Increasing Health Care Costs 

• Average insurance premiums increase 97% in 10 yrs. Avg. employee 

contribution increase 102% in last 10 years from $166/month to 

$358/month.  (Kaiser Foundation 2012). 

• Affordable Care Act cost increases: 

• 2013-2.3% tax on medical devices, mandates to cover services like 

contraception. Costs unknown.

• 2014-temporary fee of $63 per covered life. (200,000)

• 2014- research fee $1-$2 per covered life. (6400) 

• Required to cover more employees. Cost unknown.

• Promote a healthy work force

Bend The Trend

• Cost Savings vs. Cost Avoidance

• Goal of the wellness program is to bend the trend in rising costs

• Goal is to reduce prevalence of major diseases and 

hospitalizations 

• 52% of large businesses (200+ employees) report their wellness 

program reducing health care costs (Kaiser Foundation 2012).



9/26/2013

3

Measure Success

• Participation rates

• Reduction in prevalence of major modifiable diseases

• COPD, HF, CAD, Diabetes, Asthma

• Reduced cost in claims related to major modifiable diseases

• Reduction in At Risk population with high;

• BMI, Blood Pressure, Cholesterol

• Increase use of preventative screenings and doctor visits. 

Wellness Survey Results



9/26/2013

4

Survey Results: Common Concerns

• Privacy: The Health Plan & Wellness Program is a Covered Entity under HIPAA 

laws which states employer may request PHI if for treatment, payment, or 

healthcare operations. Benefits vs. Wellness

• Discrimination: There are not different rates depending on health choices 

and health scores. Your employer does not have access to this information 

for the purpose of changing rates. 

• Time: Do you have time to be ill? On-site classes trying to make wellness more 

convenient.

• Issues Logging In:

• Subscriber #: I vs 1

• Forgot Password

• Call # on back of card

Wellness Survey Results



9/26/2013

5

Wellness Survey Results

0% 20% 40% 60% 80%

Back Health

Cancer 

Cholesterol

Financial

Cooking

Heart Disease

Sleep

Stress

Weight Lifting

Weight Loss

Yoga

How Interested Are You In The Following:

Extremely Intersted

Somewhat Interested 

What’s New
• 15 Points to earn waiver

• Wellness Coordinator

• FREE Wellness Classes

• Yoga & Zumba

• Stress Relief

• Nutrition Talks

• Strength & Conditioning, Fitness & Nutrition

• Physical Activity Tracking Form (PACE for City)

• Points for Community Events

• Additional Incentives (Cash, gift cards, catered lunches and more)

• Monthly Themes (back health, cancer, cholesterol etc.)

• Wellness Website: www.northernarizonawellnessincentiveprogram.com



9/26/2013

6

In The Works
• Healthy Cooking Classes (held at Natural Grocers Demo Kitchen)

• Grocery Store Tours: Learn to decipher food labels, walk around 

the store and discover items with hidden ingredients. 

• April Wellness Week: Friendly games and competitions amongst 

the agencies and departments. 

• Replace/Improve The Point Tracking System

How To Earn Points

• See Info Packet available at HR Dept. and Website

• www.northernarizonawellnessincentiveprogram.com



9/26/2013

7

References

(2012) Employer Health Benefits Survey. Kaiser Family Foundation; 

http://www.kff.org/insurance/ehbs-archives.cfm.

(October 2010) Worksite Wellness and HIPAA Privacy. Public Health Law Center.

ACA information provided by Segal; NAPEBT insurance consultant.

“Many people believe that self criticism is what keeps them from becoming self-

indulgent. It’s quite the opposite. Self criticism leads to self sabotaging 

behavior.”-unknown



Year End Report 2012/2013

Wellness Incentive Program



Year to Year Comparison

% Of Population At Risk
The table below identifies percentage of employees still at risk for the below risk factors. The chart shows any changes in 
risk factors by comparing plan years. This information is gathered through the Health Risk Assessment the employee 
completes online. 

Risk Factor 2011/2012 2012/2013 % Change
Blood Pressure 10.29% 9.64% 0.65%
Weight 55.76% 60.53% 4.77%
Physical Activity 15.43% 12.25% 3.18%
Dietary fat 36.5% 32.72% 3.78%
Cigarette Usage 5.42% 4.38% 1.04%
Fruit Consumption 36.00% 31.12% 4.88%
Vegetable Consumption 61.77% 54.14% 7.63%
Stress/coping 21.39% 19.41% 1.98%

Preventative Screening Usage
The table below identifies the percentage of employees using the below screenings/immunizations. The chart shows any 
change in preventative screening usage by comparing plan years. This information is gathered through the HEalth Risk 
Assessment the employee completes online. 

Screening/Immunization 2011/2012 2012/2013 % Change
Physical Exam 70.23% 75.21% 4.98%
Colorectal Cancer Screening 65.22% 68.46% 3.24%
Prostate 40.40% 47.01% 6.61%
PSA 53.02% 57.66% 4.64%
Mammogram 60.21% 66.80% 6.59%
Breast 73.56% 78.74% 5.18%

Northern Arizona Public Employee Benefit Trust

Year End Report 1



Sed ut imperdiet ridiculus. Eget nascetur aenean sodales veritatis mauris libero.

Readiness To Change
This table identifies the readiness to change regarding certain risk factors. These percentages reflect the At Risk 
population only for these risk factors. The Pre-contemplation, Contemplation and Preparation categories as identified by 
the Management Report from Blue Cross was lumped together under Contemplation. The Action, Maintenance and 
Permanence categories were lumped together under Action. 

Stage of 
Change

WeightWeight Dietary FatDietary Fat Physical ActivityPhysical Activity Fruit/VeggiesFruit/Veggies StressStress

11/12 12/13 11/12 12/13 11/12 12/13 11/12 12/13 11/12 12/13
Contemplation 53.8% 49.07% 62.34% 56.78% 76.98% 73.91% 52.69 50.35 65.74 59.46
Action 45.96% 50.83% 37.65% 43.22% 23% 26.09% 47.32 49.65 34.26 40.55

Participation
For the 2011/2012 plan year 2,197 employees completed the Health Risk Assessment. For the 2012/2013 plan year 
1690 employees completed the Health Risk Assessment. See survey results as to why employees did not participate in 
the wellness program. 

23%

% Increase in Screening Usage

0

1.75

3.5

5.25

7

Physical Colorectal Prostate PSA Mammogram Breast

Northern Arizona Public Employee Benefit Trust

Year End Report 2



Modifiable Disease Savings
The estimated gross savings are comparing 2011 and 2012 calendar years including pharmacy costs. These numbers 
are from the Quarterly Progress Report provided by Blue Cross. 

HF COPD Diabetes CAD Asthma
Estimated 
Gross 
Savings

$298,203.09 $135,702.31 $229,550.33 $382,734.92 -402,322.34

$0

$100,000.00

$200,000.00

$300,000.00

$400,000.00

Heart Failure COPD
Diabetes

CAD

Estimated Gross Savings

Northern Arizona Public Employee Benefit Trust

Year End Report 3



Survey Results
935 respondents.

Northern Arizona Public Employee Benefit Trust

Year End Report 4



Northern Arizona Public Employee Benefit Trust

Year End Report 5



Northern Arizona Public Employee Benefit Trust

Year End Report 6



Northern Arizona Public Employee Benefit Trust

Year End Report 7



Room For Improvement
Usability of point tracking system

	 Research replacing the point tracking system. Add replacement of the point 
	 tracking system to the budget. 

Increase incentives, raffles, prizes to increase motivation

	 Add big ticket raffle prizes like a night stay for two at a hotel or a gas card to be 
	 earned if program is completed by a certain date. 

	  Add Wellness Bucks to the program to increase employee involvement of the 
	 wellness program.  

Improve communication of program

	 Add email notifications when an employee has met the requirements of the program 
	 and has earned their insurance discount. 

 Create Wellness Committees at each agency where one isn’t in place.

	 Improve leadership support with presentations on program.  Investigate ways to 
	 make more employees accountable for success of the Wellness Program.

	 Add Wellness Week in April as a reminder of the up coming deadline in May

Update Wellness Plan and create a 3 year plan

	 The NAPEBT Wellness Committee will work together on creating a 3 year plan for 
	 the Wellness Program

Northern Arizona Public Employee Benefit Trust

Year End Report 8



NAPEBT Wellness Incentive Program
July 1st 2013 - May 31st 2014



NAPEBT was formed in 1993 to provide a comprehensive and cost effective benefits package 
by combining resources and leveraging the buying power of a group of public employers. 
Purchasing benefits through NAPEBT has increased the ability to sustain a better benefits 

package long-term than any of these public employers could provide independently.

Northern Arizona Public Employee Benefit Trust
Flagstaff Unified School District ~ Coconino County~ City of Flagstaff ~ Coconino Community 

College ~ NAIPTA ~ Flagstaff Housing Authority ~ Accommodation Schools

Our Mission: To lower the costs of health care while creating wellness events that empower 
the individual to take control of their health and well being for quality of life.

Why Should I Participate in the Wellness Program?

With rising health care costs it is inevitable that employee insurance premiums will increase. 
The Wellness Incentive Program was created as an opportunity to offset the rising costs of 
health care by lowering high cost claims. A healthy population has less costly claims. Now 
employees covered under the Northern Arizona Public Employee Benefit Trust can save $240/
year by participating in the Wellness Incentive Program.

For more information on the Wellness Incentive Program please visit our website:

www.northernarizonawellnessincentiveprogram.com

For Questions Contact: 
The Wellness Coordinator
Katie Wittekind
kwittekind@fusd1.org 
or your Benefits or Human Resources Department

Page 1

“I	  love	  our	  welln
ess	  program!	  I	  a

m	  a	  busy	  

mom	  and	  it	  has	  
shown	  me	  that	  e

ven	  small	  

changes	  that	  I	  m
ake	  can	  have	  a	  b

ig	  impact	  

on	  my	  health,	  an
d	  that	  of	  my	  fam

ily.	  

Whether	  it’s	  rea
ding	  labels	  to	  be

	  sure	  I’m	  

buying	  better	  th
ings	  for	  my	  fami

ly	  to	  eat,	  

or	  30	  minutes	  of
	  yoga	  to	  help	  rel

ieve	  stress	  

on	  a	  rough	  day,	  
I	  have	  enjoyed	  a

ll	  of	  the	  

classes	  I	  have	  ta
ken	  and	  can’t	  wa

it	  for	  

more!”	  	  -‐Jenny	  P
eterson.	  (FUSD)

http://www.northernarizonawellnessincentiveprogram.com
http://www.northernarizonawellnessincentiveprogram.com
http://www.northernarizonawellnessincentiveprogram.com
http://www.northernarizonawellnessincentiveprogram.com
mailto:kwittekind@fusd1.org
mailto:kwittekind@fusd1.org


Biometric Screening & Health Risk Assessment
In order to earn your insurance discount you will need to complete a biometric screening. 

You can get your screening done at a NAPEBT screening site or with your Personal Care Physician (PCP). 
You will need your screening results to complete the required Health Risk Assessment worth 7 points.

What is a Biometric Screening?

A biometric screening is a general health check that can identify any significant cardiovascular or nervous 
system risks. This health check provides several biometric measures including: cholesterol levels; blood 
pressure; blood glucose levels, and measurement of height, weight and body mass index (BMI). Results are 
available within 10 minutes at the provided screening sites. If you choose to see your PCP your results will 
likely be available within a few days after the screening, and are kept confidential. Your results are for you. 
Your employer does not have access to this personal health information. 

In order to schedule an appointment for a NAPEBT biometric screening please visit the website:

http://www.northernarizonawellnessincentiveprogram.com/biometeric-screenings/

What is a Health Risk Assessment?
This online questionnaire will ask you self reflecting questions on your health and wellness. You will need 
to input the data from your biometric screening before completing your HRA. You will receive a health 
score that gives you an overall idea of your current state of health and wellness. You DO NOT need to share 
this score with anyone. This is for your purposes only. 

To complete the Health Risk Assessment please log in to the Blue Cross website:
✓www.azblue.com 
✓Once logged in click on Health and Wellness
✓Click on Personal Healthy Blue Homepage
You will be directed to complete a Health Risk Assessment (HRA)
Your 7 points will AUTOMATICALLY be added once you complete the HRA

Page 2

Helpful Hint: 

Be sure to click FINISH to 

complete the HRA to 

receive your points. Print 

the screen for your records. 

http://www.northernarizonawellnessincentiveprogram.com/biometeric-screenings/
http://www.northernarizonawellnessincentiveprogram.com/biometeric-screenings/
http://www.azblue.com
http://www.azblue.com


My Biometric Results

Name:_________________________________________________________! Date Completed:____________________________________

HEALTH  INDICATOR MY  RESULTS NORMAL  VALUES

HEIGHT

WEIGHT

WAIST MEASUREMENT MEN < 40    WOMEN < 35

BMI CALCULATION < 18          UNDERWEIGHT
19-24        NORMAL WEIGHT
25-39        OVERWEIGHT TO OBESE

BLOOD PRESSURE SYSTOLIC      DIASTOLIC

<120     AND   < 80          NORMAL

TOTAL CHOLESTEROL < 200       DESIRABLE
200-239   BORDERLINE HIGH
> 240       HIGH

HDL CHOLESTEROL < 40         HIGH RISK

> 60         DESIRABLE

GLUCOSE

TRIGLYCERIDES

You need to enter this information into your Health Risk Assessment to earn your insurance discount.
Go to http://www.azblue.com and login :

1. Click on Health and Wellness 
2. Go to Personal Healthy Blue Home Page 
3. Click on My Blue Print Health Risk Assessment 
4. You will be asked a series of questions. At the end you must enter your results from your 

biometric screening. 

This is for your use only! DO NOT submit this form to your Human Resources Department!

Page 3

If you choose to see your PCP for your biometric screening you may bring this form to make sure you get all 
of the information you will need. You DO NOT need to turn the form in to your employer. The information 
gained from your screening is needed to complete your HRA online.

http://www.azblue.com/healthyblue/
http://www.azblue.com/healthyblue/


Name Of Event Or Activity Points To Log Points for Activity

Complete your Biometric Screening at any of the sites offered through 
NAPEBT or through your personal physician! Only one screening per plan 
year required for discount. You will be asked to enter the results from your 
biometric screening into your online Health Risk Assessment.

7pts 7pts will be AUTOMATICALLY 
added upon completion of the 
online HRA. 

Online Opportunities: Blue Cross offers 15 minute educational seminars. 
Annual Max 5pts in this category

1pt each 1pt will be AUTOMATICALLY 
added once seminar is finished. 

Online Opportunities: Blue Cross offers Healthy Living Programs, 
Wellness Challenges, and a Maternity Program. Annual Max 5pts in this 
category

5pts each 5pts will be AUTOMATICALLY  
added once the challenge or 
program is completed. 

NAPEBT Health Fair Offered every year in October 1pt Select Health Fair on drop down 
menu when entering your point.

Preventative Screenings and Vaccine: Annual Physician Physical, Well-
Woman Exam, Well-Man Exam, Dental Cleaning (2), Vision Exam, 
Mammogram, Prostate Exam, Colonoscopy, Skin Cancer Screening, Bone 
Density Screening,  Disease Management Check Ups, and Flu Vaccine.

1pt each Many screenings are listed in the 
point tracking system. If you do 
not see what you are looking for 
choose what fits best. 

Physical Activity Tracking: Aerobic Winter Challenge, PACE (city), 
Physical Activity Tracking Form

1pt/month Select Local Race or Activity on 
drop down menu. 

FREE Wellness Classes: NAPEBT sponsored wellness classes are offered at 
various NAPEBT locations on various topics like yoga, stress, weight loss, 
and nutrition. 

1pt each Select Local Employer Activity on 
drop down menu. 

Community Events/Classes: Bike To Work Week, Climb To Conquer 
Cancer, Color Vibe Run, Nutrition Talk at Natural Food Store, Step Into 
Running (1pt/week)

1pt/event/
year

Select Local Race or Activity on 
drop down menu. 

Employer Sponsored Wellness Events: check with your employer on 
wellness events offered at your agency. Lunch and Learns, Walking Groups 
and more.

1pt/event Select Local Employer Activity on 
drop down menu. 

Health Coaching/Disease Management: Healthy Living Program, One-on-
One nutritional coaching, Phone coaching. 1pt/week you attend all 
sessions & follow recommendations

1pt/week Select On-Site Educational 
Session on drop down menu.

Weight Loss Program: NAPEBT sponsored class, Weight Watchers, 
Curves. 1pt/week you attend all sessions & follow recommendations

1pt/week Select On-Site Educational 
Session on drop down menu.

Healthy Food Baskets: Bountiful Baskets, Community Supported 
Agriculture. Earn up to 2 points for ordering from Bountiful Baskets 2 
times or 2 points for buying a share at the CSA.

2pts/year Select Local Employer Activity on 
drop down menu. 

Monthly Point Opportunity: Each month there will be a new and fun way 
to earn a point that is announced in the Wellness Newsletter. Don’t Miss 
Out! These opportunities expire.

1pt/month Select Local Employer Activity on 
drop down menu. 

Earn 15 POINTS before May 31st and earn a $240 DISCOUNT on your 
medical insurance premium for the following year!

www.northernarizonawellnessincentiveprogram.com
Page 4

The insurance plan year is from July 1st to June 30th. Earn 15 points from July 1st 2013 -May 31st 2014 to save $20 per month 
beginning July 1st 2014. For events/activities completed in June enter July 1st as the date. 

The biometric screening & HRA are the the only required activities. Earn the remaining 8 points by choosing events and 
activities from the above list.

Always check with your primary care physician before making changes to your daily diet or exercise routine. 

http://www.northernarizonawellnessincentiveprogram.com
http://www.northernarizonawellnessincentiveprogram.com


How To Log Your Local Activity Points:

To log points for a local activity or preventative screening:

✓Log In at www.azblue.com

✓Click Health and Wellness

✓Click on Personal Healthy Blue Homepage

✓Click on How Do I Earn Credits (on left side of screen)

✓Scroll down to Prev Care Screening and NAPEBT or Local Employer Activity Form and click 
Continue

• Enter Date of Screening/Event/Activity (for monthly, weekly events enter last date of month/
week)

• Name of Activity or Physician (example: NAPEBT Health Fair, Dr. Smith)  

• Select Type of Activity/Screening from drop down menu 

! ! Examples: Local Race or Activity:  Any Community Event or Physical Activity Tracking
! ! Local Employer Activity: Any FREE NAPEBT Wellness Classes, Employer Sponsored 

! ! Wellness Events, Healthy Food Baskets, Monthly Point Opportunity, 
! ! On-Site Education Session: Health Coaching/Disease Management, Weight Loss 

! ! Program
❖  If you do not see your screening or activity listed on the drop down menu choose what   

fits best.
• Enter your name and click Continue.

Refresh page to see your total points after entering them. Print screen for your records. 

Done! Only 15 points are needed to earn your insurance discount.

Page 5

http://www.azblue.com
http://www.azblue.com


Online Opportunities
There are 3 online programs worth points offered through the Blue Cross Website. They will 
AUTOMATICALLY add your wellness points upon completion. Once you complete your Health Risk 
Assessment your 7 points will AUTOMATICALLY be added. 

Healthy Living Programs (5 pt  Annual Max)
Online Seminars (5 pt Annual Max)
Wellness Challenges (10 pt Annual Max)

To access online programs offered by Blue Cross:

✓Go online to www.azblue.com. 

✓Log In (You will need to register if this is your first time)

• If you have issues logging in call E-Solutions at 1-800-650-5656

✓Click on Health and Wellness

✓Click on Healthy Living Program to get started with Online programs.

NAPEBT Health Fair
Earn 1 point for attending the NAPEBT Health Fair. 

Win raffle prizes, get your biometric screening, meet health and wellness 
professionals in the community. This event is always offered in October. Watch for 
details in emails and flyers.
To enter your point for attending you must visit the Blue Cross Website: 
www.azblue.com Prev Care Screening and NAPEBT or Local Employer Activity Form

Preventative Screenings & Vaccine
Earn 1 point per screening/vaccine.

Below is a list of health screenings worth wellness points. 
Anything preventative in nature is worth 1 point. To enter your 
points you must visit the Blue Cross Website www.azblue.com .
Annual Physician Physical
Well-Woman Exam
Well-Man Exam
Dental Cleaning (2)
Vision Exam
Mammogram
Prostate Exam
Colonoscopy
Cancer Screenings (skin etc.)
Bone Density Screening 
Disease Management Check Ups
Flu Vaccine! ! ! ! ! ! Page 6

“The	  online	  resources	  are	  very	  
informative	  and	  effective.	  I	  am	  
much	  more	  conscious	  of	  my	  
health	  day	  to	  day.	  I	  have	  kept	  all	  
my	  medical	  appointments,	  
physical,	  dental,	  pap,	  mammogram,	  I	  got	  them	  done	  
initially	  to	  get	  the	  15	  points	  but	  
now	  I	  continue	  monitoring	  my	  
health	  because	  I	  know	  it	  is	  the	  
best	  thing	  for	  me	  and	  my	  family.	  
Thank	  you.”	  Nohemi	  Olivares	  
(Coconino	  County)

http://www.azblue.com
http://www.azblue.com
http://www.azblue.com
http://www.azblue.com
http://www.azblue.com
http://www.azblue.com


Physical Activity Tracking
Earn 1 point per month.

There are 3 ways to track your physical activity. 

• Aerobic Winter Challenge: This is a community program and costs a minimal fee to participate. 
There are raffle prizes and team events to keep you active during the winter months. For more 
information or to sign up visit the website: http://www2.coconino.az.gov/heartbeat.aspx?id=25593

• PACE program (for City employees only): see your HR department for details or visit the website: 
http://www.flagstaff.az.gov/incentive

• Physical Activity Tracking Form: 
Example activities that count toward earning points: (brisk walking, hiking, jogging/running, biking, 
swimming, yoga, team sports (soccer, tennis, basketball, etc.), ice skating, lifting weights/resistance bands, 
exercise using body weight (sit ups, push ups, dips etc.), heavy yard work (shoveling snow, digging, 
landscaping). Any aerobic activity can be counted for your physical activity. 

Use the following calendar to track your physical activity. You DO NOT need to turn the calendar in to 
anyone. This is for your purposes to bring awareness to the amount of physical activity you are getting. 
Earn 1 point per month that you are physically active for at least 30 minutes for 12 days of the month. 

Remember,	  ac*vi*es	  from	  July	  1st	  to	  May	  31st	  count	  toward	  your	  total	  points!	  

Page 7

http://www2.coconino.az.gov/heartbeat.aspx?id=25593
http://www2.coconino.az.gov/heartbeat.aspx?id=25593
http://www.flagstaff.az.gov/forms.aspx?FID=165
http://www.flagstaff.az.gov/forms.aspx?FID=165


FREE Wellness Classes
Earn 1 point for every NAPEBT sponsored wellness class attended. 

The FREE wellness classes are offered at various NAPEBT locations at various times and are open to 
all NAPEBT employees. As the program grows the locations and times of the classes may grow. It is best 
to register online for these FREE classes to guarantee a spot. Topics covered in these classes are yoga, 
stress, weight loss, and nutrition. Watch for more topics being added!

To register for a class visit the website: http://ezregister.com/promoters/1372. 

Community Events/Classes
You earn 1 point for participation in each community event (except when otherwise noted).  

Many community events require participation fees which are the responsibility of the employee. 
Participation in community events is optional and not required to earn your insurance discount. 

Below is a list of community events worth wellness points. Any community walk/run/race will count.
Bike To Work Week ! ! ! Offered every year by the Flagstaff Biking Organization, this 

! ! ! ! ! ! event offers prizes and competition to bike to work for an 
! ! ! ! ! ! entire week. Whether you participate for one day or the entire 
! ! ! ! ! ! week, participation in this event is worth 1 point. 
! ! ! ! ! To sign up visit the website: 
! ! ! ! ! http://flagstaffbiking.org/bike-to-work-week/

Climb To Conquer Cancer! ! Offered every August, this event is a fundraiser for cancer 
! ! ! ! ! ! research. The event is a walk up Snowbowl Road. 
! ! ! ! ! To sign up visit the website: 
! ! ! ! ! http://community.acsevents.org

Color Vibe Run! ! ! ! This is a community walk/run with fun colors.
! ! ! ! ! To sign up visit the website:
! ! ! ! ! http://www.thecolorvibe.com/flagstaff.php

Nutrition Talks at ! ! ! Natural Grocers, New Frontiers and Sprouts offer free monthly     
Health Food Store: ! ! ! nutrition talks.
! ! ! ! ! Visit their websites for a schedule of talks.

Step Into Running: (1pt/week)!! This is an 8 week program aimed at the beginning runner. 
! ! ! ! ! ! Earn 1 point per week you attend all practices! 
! ! ! ! ! This program is worth up to 8 points!! ! !
! ! ! ! ! To sign up visit the website:
! ! ! ! ! http://www.teamrunflagstaff.com/stepIntoRunning.php

Page 8

http://ezregister.com/promoters/1372
http://ezregister.com/promoters/1372
http://flagstaffbiking.org/bike-to-work-week/
http://flagstaffbiking.org/bike-to-work-week/
http://community.acsevents.org/site/TR?fr_id=54524&pg=entry
http://community.acsevents.org/site/TR?fr_id=54524&pg=entry
http://www.thecolorvibe.com/flagstaff.php
http://www.thecolorvibe.com/flagstaff.php
http://www.teamrunflagstaff.com/stepIntoRunning.php
http://www.teamrunflagstaff.com/stepIntoRunning.php


Employer Sponsored Events
Each Employer Sponsored Event is worth 1 point. 

Each NAPEBT agency offers wellness events to their employees. These events are often available only to the 
employees of that agency. Please check with your Benefits or Human Resources Department for more 
information on Employer Sponsored Wellness Events. Common examples of such events are: Lunch and 
Learns, Walking Groups, and Team Events. 

Health C oaching & Disease Management
Earn 1 point per week by attending all sessions and following all recommendations offered. 

There are 3 avenues for Health Coaching and Disease Management. 
1. Healthy Living Program: These FREE local classes are offered in town for those with chronic health 

conditions or caring for someone with a chronic health condition. This 6 week class is offered several 
times within the year. 
For more information or to sign up call: (928) 213-6110 
2. One-on-One Nutritional Coaching: This may be offered in person through a private company or over 

the phone. 
Natural Grocers offers FREE One-on-One nutritional coaching. 
To sign up call: (928) 779-4172.
3. Blue Cross Health Coaching: Coaching is offered for FREE via the phone for all members. 
To sign up call: (866) 422-2729

Weight Loss Program
Earn 1 point per week by attending all sessions and following all recommendations offered. 

There are 4 avenues for Weight Loss Programs.
1. FREE NAPEBT Sponsored Weight Loss Class: 
For more information or to sign up please visit the website: http://ezregister.com/promoters/1372. 
2. Weight Watchers: Fees vary depending on services chosen and are the responsibility of the employee. 
For more information or to sign up please visit the website: http://www.weightwatchers.com. 
3. Curves: Offers exercise, meal planning, and coaching for $12.95/week. 
For more information or to sign up please visit the website: http://www.curves.com/
4. Weight Loss Program offered by local company. Feel free to choose your own weight loss program 
! offered in our community.

Page 9

http://ezregister.com/promoters/1372
http://ezregister.com/promoters/1372
http://www.weightwatchers.com
http://www.weightwatchers.com
http://www.curves.com
http://www.curves.com


Healthy Food Baskets 

Earn Up to 2 points per year for participating in Bountiful Baskets or Community Supported 
Agriculture (CSA). 

Bountiful Baskets: This volunteer run organization offers $15 baskets of fruits and 
veggies straight from the farm. Cut out the middle man! No obligation necessary. Pay 
only for the weeks you wish to participate. Food is from the Southwest. There is an 
organic option. Earn 1 point per order up to 2 points!

Details on pick up times and locations are found on their website: 
http://www.bountifulbaskets.org/
Community Supported Agriculture: The Flagstaff CSA Store advances community 
partnerships and promotes social equity and education by connecting people to 
healthy food from local and regional growers. Buy a seasonal share of farm fresh fruits 

and veggies. Earn 2 points for buying a share!

Details on pick up times and locations are found on their website: http://flagcsa.com/

Monthly Point Opportunity
Earn 1 point for monthly featured opportunity. 

Each month a featured event or opportunity to earn a wellness point will be offered. Watch for the 
monthly opportunity through email, flyers, and the Monthly Wellness Newsletter. 

Page 10

http://www.bountifulbaskets.org
http://www.bountifulbaskets.org
http://flagcsa.com
http://flagcsa.com


www.northernarizonawellnessincentiveprogram.com
Page 11

Frequently Asked Questions
What do I do if I have trouble logging into the Blue Cross website?

! Call the customer service number on the back of your BCBSAZ insurance card. They 
will connect you with E-Solutions to reset your user ID and Password. Do not try to login as a new user. 
The system will recognize you are a previous user. You can also call E-Solutions directly at 800-650-5656, 
Monday through Friday 8:30a.m. to 4:30pm.
I got my biometric screening done last year. Do I have to do it again this year?

! Yes. Every year that you wish to participate in the Wellness Incentive Program you will need to 
get new numbers from your biometric screening to complete the Health Risk Assessment online at 
www.azblue.com Your blood values may change and early detection is the key!
Is my information kept private?

! Yes! The employer is provided with depersonalized medical trends used to understand what the 
major health risks are of a general employee population and the costs associated with those health risks. 
The employer does not have access to personal health information.
If I leave one NAPEBT employer for another in the same fiscal year will my points follow me?

! Yes. But you must print off your points so we can carry them over if it has been more than 30 days 
between employers. If you fail to do this we will have no record of the points you earned. 
What paperwork do I need to provide to show I went to my dentist or my doctor?

! None. You will just need the date, time, and location. 
I want to participate in the FREE NAPEBT wellness class but I am worried about my ability to 
participate due to injuries and am unsure what to expect. 

The wellness coordinator can give you an idea of what to expect in the FREE classes. The wellness 
coordinator can also get you in contact with the class instructors to ease any of your 

concerns. Katie: kwittekind@fusd1.org. 

What if I have a health issue or spiritual belief that prevents 
me from participating in the wellness program completely?  

We are able to tailor a program that will fit your needs! Please 
contact your human resources department for more 
information on alternatives. 
I have more questions about the wellness program. Who can 
give me more information?

! You can contact the wellness coordinator , Katie: 
kwittekind@fusd1.org, or your benefits department for more information 

on the wellness program.   

“I	  @ind	  the	  welln
ess	  program	  he

lps	  to	  

create	  awarene
ss	  for	  myself	  as

	  well	  as	  my	  

family.	  	  The	  we
llness	  program

	  is	  helping	  

us	  all	  understa
nd	  how	  our	  dec

isions	  about	  

food	  and	  exerc
ise,	  even	  sleep	  

and	  stress,	  

are	  affecting	  ou
r	  long	  term	  hea

lth.	  I	  am	  a	  

gatherer	  of	  info
rmation	  and	  @in

d	  myself	  

continuing	  to	  p
articipate	  and	  w

ant	  more	  

info	  even	  thoug
h	  I	  have	  all	  my	  

points	  for	  

this	  year.”	  Heal
ther	  Dalmolin	  (

NAIPTA)

http://www.northernarizonawellnessincentiveprogram.com
http://www.northernarizonawellnessincentiveprogram.com
http://www.azblue.com/healthyblue
http://www.azblue.com/healthyblue
mailto:kwittekind@fusd1.org
mailto:kwittekind@fusd1.org
mailto:kwittekind@fusd1.org
mailto:kwittekind@fusd1.org


  14. A.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Elizabeth A. Burke, City Clerk

Date: 09/25/2013

Meeting Date: 10/01/2013

TITLE: 
Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2013-25:  A resolution of the Council of the City of
Flagstaff, Arizona concerning Arizona's immigration discussion.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Read Resolution No. 2013-25 by title only
2) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2013-25 by title only (if approved above)
3) Adopt Resolution No. 2013-25

Policy Decision or Reason for Action:
As proposed by Vice Mayor Evans and Councilmember Barotz, the attached document is a non-binding
resolution encouraging federal legislation to address the issue of immigration.

Financial Impact:
None

Connection to Council Goal:
11. Effective governance

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
The topic of the Arizona Accord was brought forward upon agreement of three Councilmembers. At the
September 24, 2013 Council Work Session a resolution proposed by Vice Mayor Evans and
Councilmember Barotz was discussed. After a proposed change to bullet three of the resolution by
Councilmember Woodson and public input, staff was directed to bring forward the amended resolution
for possible adoption.

Options and Alternatives:
1) Adopt the resolution
2) Not adopt the resolution
3) Adopt an amended resolution



Background/History:
During past Council meetings presentations have been made by representatives of the Arizona Accord,
after which Vice Mayor Evans and Councilmember Barotz agreed to bring forward a proposed resolution
for further discussion at a future meeting. At the September 24, 2013, Work Session discussion was held
by the Council and public input was received. With one amendment to bullet three of the resolution by
Councilmember Woodson, there was a consensus of Council to direct staff to bring back an amended
resolution for formal action. The attached resolution has been prepared, incorporating Councilmember
Woodson's change.

Community Involvement:
Inform
Consult
Involve

Attachments:  Res. 2013-25



RESOLUTION NO. 2013-25 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA 
CONCERNING ARIZONA’S IMMIGRATION DISCUSSION 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, the community of Flagstaff is directly and indirectly affected by the lack of 
adequate federal action on comprehensive immigration reform with resultant negative 
impact on families, economics, schools, and law enforcement; and 
 
ACKNOWLEDGING the previous public statements by cities, communities, businesses 
and individuals (locally and statewide) which support the Arizona Accord and other such 
public statements calling for comprehensive immigration reform by groups such as the 
Arizona Chamber and the Flagstaff 40. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
We thereby call on our federal representatives to enact federal immigration reform that 
reflects these basic, essential principles: 
 

- The essential economic role immigrants play as workers and taxpayers in our 
community. We support policies that establish an ongoing, improved process for 
meeting our nation’s workforce needs, while simultaneously protecting all 
workers.  

- Strong, safe families are the foundation of successful communities. We 
champion policies that support family unity and families’ abilities to work 
productively and contribute in safety to our community. 

- Immigrants and their families in our community are productive, contributing 
members of society. We support policies that establish a fair path toward legal 
status and citizenship for those who want to contribute to this country’s wellbeing. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council and approved by the Mayor of the City of 
Flagstaff this 1st day of October, 2013. 
 
 
 
 
              
       MAYOR 
 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 2013-25  PAGE 2 
 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 
 



Memorandum   15. A.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Karl Eberhard, Comm Design & Redevelopment Mgr

Date: 09/25/2013

Meeting Date: 10/01/2013

TITLE:
Discussion of the Subsidiary Decision Points that will guide the City's Redevelopment and Infill
Policy

DESIRED OUTCOME:
City Council direction on thirteen topics outlined in attached White Paper which will be presented.

INFORMATION:
The attached White Paper provides information for consideration by the City Council. Materials presented
were developed with the assistance of, and reviewed by, all potentially affected City divisions and
sections and incorporates their input.

Attachments:  White Paper



City of Flagstaff 

Community Reinvestment Policy 
Subsidiary Decision Points 

August 2013 
 

 

The following is a presentation of several different policy discussions that are 
each “Subsidiary Decisions Points” for a broader future presentation on policies related 
to redevelopment and infill in Flagstaff1.   

This is not a presentation of the broader redevelopment and infill policy ideas, 
though a working list of the ideas is attached for reference2.  On this list, the various 
ideas have been grouped into six general categories including community planning, 
physical constraints, regulatory requirements, process requirements, financial 
mechanisms, and a catch-all group, “other”.  Based on preliminary staff discussions, we 
have classified the various ideas as: 

• Those that can be done more easily (short-term), 

• Those that require more discussion and figuring out (long-term), 

• Those that appear not so workable (bad ideas), and 

• Those that have broader policy implications. 

This last group, “those that have broader policy implications”, is the subject of 
this presentation.  These ideas warrant an advance discussion with the City Council to 
determine which ones staff should pursue further and which ones are simply not of 
interest to the City Council and thus do not merit further staff resources. 

This presentation is divided into three basic groups.  The first group includes 
items that are “stage setting” and for which we are seeking consensus on the presented 
approach.  The second group includes items that truly have broader policy implications - 
those that are interconnected with other city policies.  Notably, some of these have been 
discussed previously, but independently of their role as incentives for redevelopment 
and infill.  The final group, “Items Getting Less Attention” addresses ideas that have a 
limited potential as meaningful redevelopment incentives, but since people may be 
expecting them to be addressed, they merit discussion and consensus. 

 

                                                 
1
 The City Council has previously directed staff to prepare specific policy ideas that would implement the 

Regional Plan - promoting redevelopment and infill.  As with earlier in-progress presentations on this 
subject, the merit or purpose of promoting redevelopment and infill are not addressed herein.  These are 
addressed in both the current and pending Regional Plan. 
2
 This presentation addresses items in the column with yellow boxes.  The future presentation with policy 

recommendations will address the remainder of the ideas portrayed – more accurately, those that survive 
more study of effectiveness and feasibility. 



Community Reinvestment Policy - Prerequisite Decision Points 
City of Flagstaff - August 2013 

 
 

2 
 

STAGE SETTING 

SPECIAL DISTRICTS vs OVERARCHING POLICY 

Arizona law provides for the creation of a number of types of special districts for 
redevelopment, infill, revitalization, and other purposes.  For all of the available options 
that address redevelopment, there are two very notable limitations in creating such 
districts.  The construction of these laws, as altered through the years, makes some 
districts difficult to create and/or once formed, some are less constructive than originally 
intended.  For example, some require a declaration of “slum and blight”.  Public reaction 
to declarations like “slum and blight”, particularly for the affected property owners, is 
very negative, and does not accurately describe what is desired for Flagstaff.  Other 
district types require one hundred percent support from the stakeholders which is a 
difficult, if not impossible task.  Also, most of these districts have very narrow purposes 
such that multiple districts would be necessary to achieve broad goals. Finally, as 
“districts”, they have boundaries and are thus not “broad”.   

Our understanding is that the intent of the City Council is not to address a “slum 
and blight” area, or one subject or another, but rather to promote the various forms of 
new development that can occur in areas of the city that are already developed – those 
areas that are already largely served by existing infrastructure and services.  Without 
drawing any tight boundaries, this might include several neighborhoods and corridors 
within the city, as well as many less known or less obvious opportunities. 

Please note that in spite of this general observation, the use of districts should 
remain a tool for consideration by the City.  If for example the City Council believed that 
providing parking relief in downtown was desirable, an Infill Incentive District3 would be 
a good tool because this district is easy to form, it does allow for relief of development 
requirements, and it does allow the Council to specify an area in which the relief would 
apply.  If the City Council wished, this tool could also be used to limit the application of 
new incentives or policies to only commercial districts and corridors, or only to select 
commercial districts and corridors.   

With this understanding, the difficulty of “districts” and the broader intent, we 
propose to focus our efforts on over-arching policies, goals, and actions. 

If the City Council prefers instead to limit the forthcoming polices to specific 
districts, what districts would you like to see addressed? 

 

 

                                                 
3 
This district can be used to offer expedited zoning or rezoning procedures, expedited processing of 

plans and proposals, waivers of municipal fees (with notable limitations), or relief from development 
standards. 



Community Reinvestment Policy - Prerequisite Decision Points 
City of Flagstaff - August 2013 

 
 

3 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chandler Infill Incentive Program 
 

The Flagstaff City Council has previously referenced the Chandler redevelopment 
and infill incentive programs as a model that Flagstaff may want to investigate.  Both 
CD&R staff and Legal staff have reviewed their programs and CD&R staff briefly 
discussed them with Chandler’s Economic Development Director.  Please find following 
some information in that regard: 

For residential projects the City of Chandler offers impact fee reimbursements for 
Energy Star and LEED certified projects.  Waiving development impact fees is a very a 
useful and workable incentive.  As a reinvestment incentive for Flagstaff, waiving 
development fees is addressed in the main body of this paper. 

For commercial projects the City of Chandler offers a reimbursement for 
construction expenses “such as the demolition of existing commercial space and/or for 
providing the public infrastructure necessary to accommodate new uses on the site”.  
The program is managed by the Economic Development Department and the exact 
nature of the reimbursement is negotiated during the development approval process.  A 
2009 case study project was paid 50% of the total construction expenses ($650,000) for 
“façade improvements”.  Program changes in 2009 shifted the focus of the program to 
projects that redevelop all or a significant portion of an existing commercial center in 
order to introduce new and/or additional uses such as residential and/or office 
components. 

The funding appears in their Capital Improvements Plan, general government, 
funded by the General Fund.  The program has maintained a carry-forward (fund 
balance) of just under $2.8M in the last three fiscal years and while the CIP has shown 
future funding at $500,000 per year, the program has been unfunded after FY 2010-11. 

The construction of the program, the legal basis, and the relief offered, resemble 
the Infill Incentive District described in ARS with some very notable differences.  While 
the residential component of their program offers incentives straight out of ARS, it 
appears to be applicable anywhere in the City.  It is really a broadly applied incentive 
and not a district. 

The Infill Incentive District described in ARS does not allow for reimbursement of 
construction expenses as Chandler provides for commercial projects but they limit the 
application of these incentives to a specific district and to specific business types (“older 
existing retail centers”).  Our research has not found any mechanism in ARS whereby a 
City can reimburse construction expenses in this way.  The 2010 City North case stated 
that “cities can use incentives for economic development but have to show the city is 
getting a measurable, contracted benefit that at least equals the city’s expenditure (sic)”.  
With this in mind, using the 2009 case study project, the City of Chandler would have to 
realize a $325,000 benefit to offset the expense. 



Community Reinvestment Policy - Prerequisite Decision Points 
City of Flagstaff - August 2013 

 
 

4 
 

COMMERCIAL vs OVERARCHING POLICY 

Please note that little distinction has been included herein between policies that 
would benefit commercial or residential infill and redevelopment. 

Does the City Council prefer that we focus our efforts on one or the other? 

If “commercial only” is desired, would incentives include mixed-use development 
in a commercial zone?  Would we want to define “mixed-use” – to specify a ratio of one 
use to the other (currently not defined)? 

REINVESTMENT 

Continuing with setting the stage, the term “redevelopment”, in addition to having 
adverse social implications, is a term of art in the field of law.  Use of the term can be 
mistaken to imply that there is some sort of “district” and thus that all of the connotations 
and limitations of districts are applicable.  Furthermore, the term “redevelopment”, when 
not being used as a legal term, includes other forms of development that we specifically 
want to include in our policies such as intensification, infill, adaptive re-use, historic 
preservation, and so forth.  The term “reinvestment” is a synonym for the non-legal 
meaning of “redevelopment” and accurately describes what is desired for Flagstaff. 

With this understanding, we propose to focus our efforts on “reinvestment” 
policies rather than “redevelopment and infill polices”. 

CREATING DIFFERENCES (CREATING OR CLOSING A GAP) 

At present, and seemingly fair, all of the rules, requirements, and opportunities of 
our development environment are equally applied regardless of whether or not a 
particular project is a reinvestment or green field site.  From that perspective, creating 
different rules for reinvestment opportunities seems unfair.  However, reinvestment sites 
are already disadvantaged, having features such as being established parcels, being 
smaller, having existing development including infrastructure (typically aging), newly 
applied development standards, and many other factors.  When reinvestment sites and 
green field sites are treated the same, many of these features become disadvantages, 
and the “equal application of rules” is in fact a difference in and of itself that causes 
developers to prefer green field development.  From that perspective, creating different 
rules for reinvestment opportunities levels the playing field. 

Regardless of the preferred perspective, if the goal is to cause a developer to 
choose reinvestment, we must create a difference (a gap) between the two in our 
development environment.  And, while this gap can be accomplished by making 
reinvestment projects easier, or by making green field development harder, or any 
combination of the two, it is the difference that will make reinvestment attractive. 

With this understanding, our efforts intentionally focus on creating differences (a 
gap) between green field and reinvestment opportunities and requirements.   



Community Reinvestment Policy - Prerequisite Decision Points 
City of Flagstaff - August 2013 

 
 

5 
 

PREREQUISITE POLICIES 

CAPITAL PLANNING, CONSTRUCTION, and MAINTENANCE, and PRIORITIES 

One of the biggest physical constraints of many reinvestment sites is the existing 
infrastructure.  It seems backwards, but no infrastructure is actually better than 
inadequate infrastructure.  “No infrastructure” is predictable – you know where the point 
of connection is.  And, this situation usually occurs on larger sites with developers that 
fully expect to install infrastructure as part of their work.  Inadequate infrastructure 
means not only an unpredictable tie-in point, but the cost of removing old infrastructure 
and the cost of working in a developed area is added to the infrastructure costs. 

One way to address this is through building and maintaining infrastructure so that 
reinvestment opportunity sites are as “plug and play” as possible.  Think of it like 
creating a business park where all the needed utilities are stubbed out at the back of the 
sidewalk, ready to go.  And, this concept needs to include more than just water and 
sewer lines, or roads, it needs to include sidewalks, street lights, fire hydrants, trails, 
and all of the other urban amenities that Flagstaff currently expects of a completed 
project.  “Soft” infrastructure like parks, libraries, police services, and similar amenities 
must also be included along with private infrastructure like electrical power, 
communications, and gas. 

The City of Tucson recognizes the connection between infrastructure and 
redevelopment, stated as follows: 

Perhaps the single most important issue that will ensure successful downtown 
redevelopment is the provision of adequate infrastructure to support future uses.  (sic)  
Infrastructure investment must be targeted to projects that make Downtown 
"Development Ready".  To solve this problem, the City of Tucson, Pima County, utility 
agencies and private sector representatives have jointly developed recommendations 
for infrastructure improvements.  These recommendations identify the location and 
capacity of current infrastructure and provide a blueprint for improvements necessary to 
support downtown development over the next twenty years. 

This is a strategy that we understand.  At the site at the northeast corner of 
Route 66 and Enterprise (formerly owned by Laurie Nemic), the City of Flagstaff built 
the turn pockets and other frontage improvements.  While not comprehensive, these 
improvements did serve to make the site more “plug and play”. 

The first aspect of achieving this “plug and play” state involves significant City 
investment in planning, capital improvements, and maintenance.  The necessary 
planning has been previously discussed in terms of infrastructure master planning but 
needs to also include neighborhood and corridor planning.  To understand the 
magnitude of these enterprises, consider that the concept planning for a re-vamp of 
Fourth Street, one mile of corridor, cost the City $250,000 and proposes $18M of work.  



Community Reinvestment Policy - Prerequisite Decision Points 
City of Flagstaff - August 2013 

 
 

6 
 

And, Fourth Street is a small fraction of our need.  Requiring fifty percent plus one 
property owner agreement, Capital Improvement Districts can be an effective tool for 
financing capital improvements, particularly for specific projects or neighborhoods.  

The second aspect involves prioritizing the needs of reinvestment - replacing and 
maintaining the existing infrastructure has to be more important than accommodating 
the needs of new development4.  We prioritize our capital improvement projects by 
various factors.  In that process, one of the factors must be the ability of the project to 
serve reinvestment and furthermore, weight needs to be given to the “reinvestment 
service” factor5.  To be clear, in doing so, projects like re-vamping the north part of the 
Fourth Street Corridor would come before constructing new segments of Fourth Street 
south of Butler Avenue.  Without increasing the City’s total expenditures, this would 
mean that thousands of new homes and hundreds of thousands of square feet of new 
commercial development would not be served using City funds for some time. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Are we willing to make such substantial investments? 

Are we willing to prioritize reinvestment needs - To NOT serve a new tax base 
(green field development) in order to serve reinvestment opportunities?  Or alternatively, 
are we willing to invest even more in order to serve both? 

                                                 
4
 Keep in mind that a project may fully mitigate its impacts but may still only be partially responsible for 

certain system upgrades.  In that case, the City has to provide for the remainder of the system upgrade. 
5 
Notably, prioritizing commercial and mixed-use neighborhoods and corridors over residential areas, or 

urban areas, can also be accomplished by prioritizing within that capital planning process.  Notably, the 
“color of money” and ongoing funding for maintenance both have tremendous influence on prioritizing 
capital work. 

Here are the key subject areas of the Town of Gilbert Capital Improvement Plan 
and Infrastructure Improvement Plan: 

• Streets 
• Traffic Control 
• Municipal Facilities 
• Redevelopment (Emphasis added) 

• Fire Protection 
• Storm Water 
• Water 
• Waste Water 
• Parks, Recreation, and Open Space 



Community Reinvestment Policy - Prerequisite Decision Points 
City of Flagstaff - August 2013 

 
 

7 
 

MORE PLANNING 

As with constructing infrastructure, investors in green fields, usually larger 
developments, expect to carry out certain planning efforts in order to perfect their 
development.  This often includes proposing changes in land-uses and/or zoning.  And, 
it’s not just that they expect it, but being larger investments, the cost of this work can be 
reasonably spread over the product created. For example, if 1,200 home sites are 
created as the result of a $100,000 rezoning case, the cost per site is $83 each. 

We know that the City has created a lesser process for smaller rezoning cases 
(and this conversation continues).  If we assume the smaller rezoning case is one 
quarter of the cost, here’s some example math for a typical reinvestment opportunity:  If 
two home sites are created as the result of a $25,000 rezoning case, then the cost per 
site is $12,500.  This is one of the major impediments to reinvestment – how can the 
reinvestment opportunity compete when there is a difference (a gap) of over $12,000 
per site in favor of green field development? 

There is a way to eliminate this difference – at least in part – and at the same 
time strengthen the outcome of our general planning effort.  Last year, we completed a 
substantial and high quality re-write of the City’s Zoning Ordinance.  At present, we are 
in the process of a substantial and high quality re-write of the City’s general plan 
(Regional Plan).  As painful as it might seem in light of these recent works, the next step 
to address the differences between green field and reinvestment development is an 
investment by the City in yet another planning effort. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“Parcels like this need to be reconciled to reflect the correct land use and zoning 
correlation (sic).” - City of Goodyear, Existing Conditions Study (a part of their General 
Plan Update) 



Community Reinvestment Policy - Prerequisite Decision Points 
City of Flagstaff - August 2013 

 
 

8 
 

This effort needs to change the zoning of parcels where the Zoning Map is not in 
agreement with the Regional Plan6.  Second, this effort needs to add detail, a finer 
grain.  For example the Regional Plan identifies “activity centers” but actually creating 
one requires some fine grain application of zoning to parcels that are currently zoned 
differently.  This type of planning effort has been discussed as a “correction” of the 
Zoning Map and would not only complete our community planning, getting the 
community the outcome it wants (as described in the Regional Plan), but also takes 
away the current difference that favors green field development. 

The first push back from the public regarding this recommendation is that this 
corrective rezoning activity is “speculative zoning”.  Not so.  Speculative zoning means 
that the zoning of a parcel is changed for the purpose of adding value and/or attracting 
a buyer, and literally, in anticipation of a profit being made through the sale of the then 
“value added” property.  The problem with speculative zoning is that what has value for 
the purpose of a sale does not necessarily have value for the community or have a 
place in sound community planning.  However, if the work is performed by the City 
based on the Regional Plan and sound planning principles, and is NOT based on any 
sales intentions, it is NOT speculative.  Not only is it “just planning”, its good planning.   

The second push back is that the community has no opportunity to “see the 
development” - to see the site plans and building elevations before the zoning is 
changed.  The implication of this concern is that if the design is unacceptable, it can be 
improved as a result of the City’s discretion in a rezoning case.  There is a degree of 
truth in this.  However, changing the zoning through planning creates a circumstance no 
different than any other “by right” development case.  If the planning has been correctly 
done, if the design regulations are correctly done, and if they are applied, the end 
product of a “by right” case should meet community expectations.  If it doesn’t, the 
planning and regulations are the issue, not the act of changing the zoning. 

The third push back is that a rezoning case is the opportunity for the City to exact 
improvements from the developer - typically infrastructure improvements – traffic 
improvements, utility system components, and even parks and trails.  However, if we 
created “plug and play” infrastructure systems, the need for such exactions decreases 
significantly.  And, reducing “exactions” for reinvestment opportunities is itself a 
mechanism to create a difference between green field development and reinvestment.  

Are we willing to invest in more community and neighborhood planning? 

Are we willing to defend these planning activities in light of spirited and reasoned 
push back?   

Or, are we willing to expand these planning activities to include visuals for 
community evaluation?  And, are we willing to impose such visuals as regulations? 

Are we willing to accept less exaction powers on reinvestment developments? 

                                                 
6
 This effort needs to be performed with consideration given to Arizona Proposition 207 - The willingness 

of property owners would be required to avoid liability on the part of the City. 



Community Reinvestment Policy - Prerequisite Decision Points 
City of Flagstaff - August 2013 

 
 

9 
 

SPECIAL STUDIES 

Part of the development approval process requires the developer to produce 
various special studies to determine the impacts of the proposed development on our 
resources and infrastructure.  These special studies then guide the development 
requirements and the exaction process.   As with the discussion above, planning 
activities such as these are expected and economically reasonable for larger projects, 
but are problematic – disproportionate - for smaller projects.  And, the outcomes are 
even more disproportionate in the context of inadequate existing infrastructure systems. 

Even worse, in some cases these studies provide recommended actions that the 
City is not willing to implement.  For example, in the downtown, we are probably not 
willing to install turn lanes, more driving lanes, and other traffic features that would 
change the character of the district.  And, even when we do want such features, in a 
developed area, the costs are exponentially greater.  So, someone who wants to invest 
in downtown is stuck in between the requirements and the cost or desired design.  From 
their perspective, it’s an unsolvable problem and thus reinvestment does not occur. 

Case Study 
 

           
Conceptual Downtown Redevelopment 

Field Paoli Study 2002 - Commissioned by the City of Flagstaff 
 

This plan envisions the construction of 160,000 square feet of retail, office, and 
cultural and entertainment uses, 200 dwelling units, and 200 hotel rooms in just the 
three and half blocks east of Wheeler Park and City Hall.  The envisioned project also 
provides garage and surface parking for itself and some additional spaces to serve 
downtown.  Developed through a community outreach process, this is high density, 
mixed-use, urban infill and redevelopment that would serve as a downtown gateway, 
add connectivity, and add significantly to the vibrancy of downtown. 



Community Reinvestment Policy - Prerequisite Decision Points 
City of Flagstaff - August 2013 

 
 

10 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case Study - Continued 
 

If proposed, this project alone would increase traffic by roughly 10,000 average 
daily trips (ADT) – a little more than a Walmart store.  The required Traffic Impact 
Analysis would likely recommend widening Humphries to four lanes, widening portions 
of Beaver Street, a complete re-design and re-build of the Humphries and Route 66 
intersection, possibly adding signalization to the Humphries and Cherry intersection, 
modifications to the Aspen and Birch intersections, and various other operational 
improvements in and about downtown.  Access points on Route 66 and Humphreys are 
likely to be limited or prohibited and acquisition of right-of-way is likely necessary. 

Looking at just the traffic impacts, this level of re-building public infrastructure is a 
significant financial burden - sufficient to prevent redevelopment.  Supposing that the 
pro forma could withstand these costs, would we want to make these kinds of changes 
to the downtown streetscape?  And, if we did for this single project, how about the 
changes necessary for the next downtown infill and redevelopment project?  And the 
next?  At some point the changes to the street to accommodate highway and suburban 
traffic standards obliterates the character of downtown. 

To get this kind of redevelopment, there are three choices:  Obliterate the 
character of downtown; accept lower levels of service; or accept lower levels of service 
and try to offset only some of the impacts through systemic improvements.  Accepting 
lower levels of service would mean recognizing that in a downtown environment, 
congestion is good and the free-flow of cars through downtown is not.  Systemic 
improvements might include creating a “park once” downtown and/or using in-lieu-of 
fees and impact fees to make changes to the transportation system that preserve the 
downtown character while fixing only some of the traffic issues. 

Then, knowing that individual projects, or several individual projects, can’t 
address the traffic impacts and supposing that we wouldn’t want the resulting 
recommendations built, why ask the developers to prepare traffic impact studies costing 
tens of thousands of dollars?  Such studies could be used to set the amount of the 
impact fee, but a prescriptive assessment methodology would work just as well.  

      
Streets that give priority to the 
free-flow of cars look like this … 

… and not like this. 

The Character of Downtown … 



Community Reinvestment Policy - Prerequisite Decision Points 
City of Flagstaff - August 2013 

 
 

11 
 

There are three potential alternate mechanisms to address resources and 
infrastructure without requiring the production of special studies.   

One mechanism is to recognize the “plug and play” infrastructure goal, assuming 
it is implemented, and simply not concern ourselves with the impacts of individual 
reinvestment projects.  At first glance this may seem reckless, but if the impacts of 
development are accounted for in the overall infrastructure planning, then they are 
addressed and the action is not reckless.  If the impacts are addressed on a per project 
basis or as part of a community infrastructure planning process, the outcome is the 
same either way.  In fact, looking at and solving the impacts of multiple developments 
comprehensively is better community planning and more efficient problem solving. 

Another mechanism worthy of exploration is to simply have prescriptive 
requirements for certain systems.  This concept could be an extension of, or mitigation 
of, implementing the first mechanism.  Recognizing that we don’t want certain features 
in an urban environment, like detention basins, we could alternatively require other run-
off reducing features.  These prescriptive requirements likely would not fully address the 
impacts of individual projects, but they would foster reinvestment, and at the same time 
reduce the demand on comprehensively planned drainage systems. 

Finally, and again as a possible extension of the first two mechanisms, individual 
projects would be better designed, and incentivized, if a complete “in-lieu-of” fee system 
were in place.  Such a system is established for parking by the newly adopted Zoning 
Code but is not yet implemented in terms of developing a fee schedule or a process, 
and also does not include other infrastructure systems.  Notably, this mechanism needs 
to be coupled with an infrastructure planning, capital investment, and maintenance 
program. 

To be clear, this idea does not in any way suggest that all special studies should 
be eliminated.  They provide important information for City decision makers.  Instead the 
recommendation is that under certain circumstances, to foster reinvestment and/or in 
the context of the impacts being addressed as a part of comprehensive infrastructure 
planning and development, possibly mitigated, some special studies would not be 
required for individual projects. 

For individual projects, are we willing to accept less in the way of special studies?   

Do we want to develop prescriptive alternative measures? 

Do we want to complete the in-lieu-of fee system?  

 

 

 



Community Reinvestment Policy - Prerequisite Decision Points 
City of Flagstaff - August 2013 

 
 

12 
 

DEVELOPMENT IMPACT FEES 

One of the redevelopment incentive offerings readily available under Arizona law 
is a waiver7 of impact fees.   

 “Exactions” and “impact fees” are both methods used to shift the cost of new 
public facilities (infrastructure) from the general taxpayer to the beneficiaries of those 
new facilities – to mitigate development impacts.  Common impact mitigations address 
traffic and streets, sewer and water facilities, storm water and drainage, public safety, 
parks and recreation, trail systems, and libraries.  They can also be found to support 
schools, affordable housing, and job training, as well as criminal justice, health services, 
and social services.  Some communities have used them to address needed facilities as 
specific as city halls and public works yards, and services as specific as animal control. 

While both are “exactions” by definition, here in Flagstaff, and herein, we use the 
term “exaction” to refer to our current method of asking the developer to physically build 
various improvements.  While this system usually exhibits a pretty direct tie between 
physical improvements and the impacts of a specific project, what actually gets built is 
negotiated during the development review process.  This scenario works well for 
physically connected systems like utilities and roads, but is less effective for general 
non-physical impacts such as public safety.  Under this scenario, generally, the risk of 
added expense, delays, and so forth is the responsibility of the developer.   

Under an impact fee scenario, the developer would pay the City a fee instead of 
building improvements and the City would then use those monies to make various 
infrastructure improvements and to build public facilities.  In response to a development 
application, the outcome is prescribed instead of negotiated, and there is an opportunity 
to plan improvements more comprehensively with a greater emphasis on “system” 
improvements, and it can better capture all impacts.  On the other hand, this approach 
puts the construction risks on the City and caution needs to be taken to legally connect 
the improvements made to impacts realized (for which fees were paid). 

Looking at just “traffic and streets” as an example, we see that the extraction 
process works pretty well for connected physical improvements.  The streets and edge 
improvements (sidewalks, street trees, and street lights) necessary for a specific project 
are typically built by the developer.  Reasonable nearby system improvements are 
typically captured too.  For example Walmart constructed certain improvements at the 
Lucky Lane / Butler Avenue intersection.  However, part of the capital cost of traffic and 
street facilities are things like the trucks, snowplows, office space, and the public works 
yard that are all used to support and service these facilities.  And, every street in 
Flagstaff is incrementally impacted by new development which on a case-by-case basis 
may be negligible, but cumulatively it is quite a problem.  The exaction process does not 
capture support needs or cumulative impacts and these expenses thus become a 
municipal burden, currently absorbed elsewhere in our budgeting. 

                                                 
7
  Per ARS, “… as long as the waivers are not funded by other development fees.” 



Community Reinvestment Policy - Prerequisite Decision Points 
City of Flagstaff - August 2013 

 
 

13 
 

Looking at other impact areas, beyond this example, the same can be said of 
other costly impacts such as the water system or trails – support needs and cumulative 
impacts are not well addressed by the exaction methodology.  And, in some impact 
areas, such as parks and libraries, most development projects make no contribution of 
any kind to required new public expenditures.  The only impact fee currently used in 
Flagstaff covers public safety in the amount of $705 per residential unit8.   

All development, including reinvestment, would benefit from the predictability of 
impacts fees.  For reinvestment specifically, and for reinvestment policy, waiving a paid 
fee is certainly simpler, more predictable, and more codifiable than “waiving” negotiated 
improvements.   

Further, if the fee structure recognized the true impacts and all of the impacts of 
green field development versus reinvestment, that action alone would go a long way 
toward leveling the playing field.  A project built in the urbanized part of the city can 
often be served by the existing infrastructure – for example the truck that runs around 
reading water meters.  On the other hand, a project built south of I-40 is likely to 
necessitate another route and truck for reading the water meters. 

Are we willing to reconsider the use of impact fees?  And if so, are we willing to 
waive them in whole or in part as a reinvestment incentive? 

San Antonio developed an Incentive Scorecard System to determine the amount 
of their impact fee waiver. Points are given for the project size, infrastructure upgrades, 
quality design, and for the use of certain planning strategies (like Traditional 
Neighborhood Design).  But most of the categories are for redevelopment goals such as 
infill housing, restoration or rehabilitation of a historic property, and for development in 
certain target areas.  Various Arizona programs are using the Arizona Smart Growth 
Scorecard to award incentives. 

AGING INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT 

Whether we use the exaction methodology or the impact fee methodology, giving 
development a credit for aging infrastructure would promote reinvestment.  For 
example, if a project needs to install a new sidewalk, because it’s to narrow or maybe 
broken up, the entire expense is the obligation of the developer.  On the other hand, if 
there was no project, the City would eventually have to replace the sidewalk.  To foster 
reinvestment, the City could acknowledge this and essentially pro rate the cost and 
credit the development in the prorated amount.  So, if a sidewalk lasts 50 years, and it is 
25 years old, the developer would be responsible for half of the cost and the City would 
be responsible for the other half. 

Are we interested in an aging infrastructure credit? 

                                                 
8
 This is not enough to meaningfully incentivize reinvestment. 



Community Reinvestment Policy - Prerequisite Decision Points 
City of Flagstaff - August 2013 

 
 

14 
 

PARCEL ASSEMBLAGE 

The viability of reinvestment sites is often jeopardized by parcel size, ownership, 
and other issues.  For example, older parcels are smaller and modern needs are larger 
than they used to be.  A site that easily held a grocery store fifty years ago is unsuitable 
today because stores are bigger, but also because of parking needs.  Retailers and 
restaurants, once forced to install off-street parking, now demand it as a critical success 
factor in site selection.  Even single family residential sites are faced with a demand for 
larger homes.  Some cities and counties address these issues by buying parcels, as 
they become available, and assembling them into larger parcels which are then resold 
for reinvestment.  This is often accomplished through a land trust mechanism. 

Do we want to invest in parcel assemblage?  Are we “in that business”? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case Study 
 

 
Former K-mart – Now Cal Ranch Property 

 
This property is an example where acquisition and assemblage of the parcels 

could have been beneficial.  Underlying the building are two separate parcels with 
separate owners.  The building is owned by a third party and the lessee is the fourth 
party.  Redevelopment required reaching agreement with all four parties.  This did 
happen without government influence, but it took over twenty years.  The shelf life of 
this arrangement is unknown and could revert back. 



Community Reinvestment Policy - Prerequisite Decision Points 
City of Flagstaff - August 2013 

 
 

15 
 

ITEMS GETTING LESS ATTENTION 

DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS 

Another redevelopment incentive offering readily available under Arizona law is a 
waiver of development standards.  This subject, being a popular concern, has been 
revisited in Flagstaff every two to four years and the requirements have been fine tuned 
through the years to address various concerns.  The recently adopted new Zoning Code 
was another occasion where requirements were fine tuned, notably including changes 
that promote reinvestment.  From the perspective of seeking meaningful enticements for 
reinvestment, other than looking at the thresholds for special studies and infrastructure 
requirements, there is not a lot that can be accomplished in this arena.  

That being said, there are some fine tuning ideas we should explore.  In regard to 
the Zoning Code, these might include parking and landscaping requirements in the most 
urbanized areas, and similar small-scale changes.  In regard to the Engineering and 
other standards, some fine tuning to consider are the detention and LID thresholds and 
requirements in the most urbanized areas.  It is likely that these would be beneficial and 
appropriate in limited areas (the most urbanized areas) and would appropriately be 
addressed by the use of the Infill Incentive District tool.   

With this understanding, that there’s not much to gain in this pursuit, further 
consideration of development requirements relative to community reinvestment policies 
would be less than might be expected by some segments of the community. 

EXPEDITITED REVIEW 

Expedited review of redevelopment plans is also one of the few offerings readily 
available under Arizona law.  Like development requirements, this is a subject that 
Flagstaff has explored and fine tuned every two to four years.  When we compare our 
permit processing timeframes with those of other Arizona cities, our timeframes are 
among the lowest.  Most often an untimely review is the result of a non-compliant 
design or an unclear or incomplete development application.  Again, seeking meaningful 
enticements for reinvestment, adjustments measured in weeks are not significant 
enough to influence the choices of developers. 

With this understanding, that with quality applications expedited reviews are 
already readily achievable, further consideration is not included in our continuing efforts 
to develop community reinvestment policies.   

 

 

 

 



Community Reinvestment Policy - Prerequisite Decision Points 
City of Flagstaff - August 2013 

 
 

16 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PERMIT FEES 

One of the redevelopment incentive offerings readily available under Arizona law 
is a waiver of permit fees.  Unfortunately, our fees have been relatively nominal and 
thus do not make a meaningful incentive.  However, recent City Council direction was 
for us to move toward 100% cost recovery so this may require re-evaluation. 

We will re-evaluate the possible incentive of waiving permit fees. 

 

CONCLUSION 

Many resources acknowledge that developers consider the maintenance of 
surrounding property as a critical factor in site selection – a factor that has limited 
application on a green field site.  Scaling the permitting requirements of a zoning case 
also aids smaller projects – a typical characteristic of infill and redevelopment 
opportunities.  Your current considerations in both of these areas have a direct bearing 
on fostering reinvestment. 

  
 

One restaurant plan …                             And another … 

 

When considering the review timeframes for a development application, 
consider that there are two necessary parts for success.  The first part is the 
preparation of a compliant design.  The second part is communicating the design to 
the reviewer.  Almost always when a development application is lingering, one of 
these two pieces is missing.  As demonstrated by the Innovation Mesa application, 
and many others, when allowed to prepare a compliant design, a knowledgeable 
and skilled preparer of development applications can get projects approved quickly. 



S
u

b
si

d
ia

ry

S
h

o
rt

Lo
n

g

B
a

d
 i

d
e

a

Notes

The City will perform planning tasks to facilitate 

Revelopment, and will change various plans accordingly.

Planning Efforts

Infrastructure Deficiencies

Capital Improvements Water, Stormwater underway

Neighborhood and Corridor Planning Specific Plans

Add and Prioritize Reinvestment Criteria

Zoning Districts

Reconcile with Land Use Designations (General Plan)

Do Obvious Changes

Economic Development Plan

Prioritize Reinvestment over New Development

ED Incentives

Target Areas

Land-use / Land Development Policy

Prioritize Reinvestment Land-use over Transportation Will come up w/ Fourth Street Study

Prioritize Complete / Walkable Streets

Enhance Design Guidelines

Clarity and Predictability

Property Certifications

Limit Annexations (Islands and Peninsulas)

Special Taxing Districts Formation / Function Issues

Revitalization Districts

Infill Incentive Districts

Redevelopment Districts

Tax Increment Financing Districts Illegal in AZ

Capital Improvement Districts

The City will address the physical constraints of existing 

urban properties.

Infrastructure Deficiencies

Capital Improvements Capital Opportunity Fund

Urban (Downtown) Parking

Maintenance

Property Maintenance and Enforcement X Roger working on it.

Parcel Assemblage (remnant, odd, or non-conforming) Land Banking / Real Estate Fund

Brownfeilds Land Recycling X In place already

Working Draft of Possible Reinvesment Policies

POLICY 1

POLICY 2: 



Working Draft of Possible Reinvesment Policies

The City will change regulatory requirements and add 

provisions that favor redevelopment projects.

Zoning Code / Engineering Standards Little "meat on the bone"

Alternate Reinvestment Thresholds/Standards

Driveway Access Internal resistance

Infrastructure Replacement / Upgrades

Parking

Resources Internal resistance

Storm Water & LID Prescriptive "In lieu of" / 5,000 SF

Trash Unexplored

Utilities

Obtain ROW for street changes w/o improvements

Transfer of Obligations / Development Rights

In Lieu Of Fees (Finish Development) Need w/o time limits

Environmental Review Add and relieve like Impacts Fees

Property Maintenance - Code Gaps X Roger working on it.

The City will change development process requirements 

to favor redevelopment projects.  

Expedited Project Review Not real

Calibrate processes to project scale/type

Documentation X In progress

Plans

Special Studies

Processes

Public outreach Internal resistance

Allow obvious Land-use / Zoning Designations (See above) X In progress

Preliminary / Final Approvals Fatal vs Math / More commitment

Increase minor modification authority Legal Issues?

POLICY 3: 

POLICY 4: 



Working Draft of Possible Reinvesment Policies

The City will provide beneficial financial mechanisms 

that would be applied to redevelopment projects. 

Impact Fees Cronk working on study update …

Fees (Waive / Reimburse)

Permit fees Maybe now with 100% recovery

Utility Capacity Fees UP for new, DN for reinvestment

Incentives

Grants - Out Not so real - see City budget

Historic Preservation work X In place already / Minor

Grants - In X EPA ACA Monies?  Ongoing?

Property Taxes

GPLET Illegal in AZ

Historic Preservation work X In place already

Other Cash Not so real - see City budget

Land Recycling Loan Program E.D. Revolving Loan Fund?

Redirect CDBG funds Minimal, well allocated

Utility Credits Private incentives to reinvestment

Tax Penalty - Abandoned Buildings and Parcels Illegal in AZ

The City will provide other services and take other 

actions that promote redevelopment. 

Economic Development 

BR&E and attraction emphasis

Reinvestment site marketing

Site specific visioning In place already (limited)

Catalyst projects

Ombudsman CD&R doing this / ML working on?

Social barriers

NIMBY / BANNANA Stop seeking 100% approval …

Legal barriers

Redevelopment lobbying

Redevelopment Authority What would they do?

Declare "redevelopment project" to get relief

POLICY 5: 

POLICY 6: 



  15. B.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Kimberly Sharp, AICP, Comprehensive Planning
Manager

Date: 09/25/2013

Meeting
Date:

10/01/2013

TITLE
Regional Plan Discussion #5 - Ch. VIII. Community Character, Prefatory Language

THIS ITEM WILL NOT BE DISCUSSED BEFORE 7:00 P.M.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff will present a brief background of data, public comment input, and policies for Chapter VIII.
Community Character of the Flagstaff Regional Plan.  Council may wish to open the discussion
for public comment at this time, followed by discussion on any concerns regarding this chapter or
policies to put on the 'Policy Parking Lot' list for further Council discussion, debate and decision in
November and December.

INFORMATION
As an optional element(s) within the plan, Arizona Smart Growth Legislation outlines this topic as a
community's opportunity to address how to remain unique, preserve or enhance a particular sense of
place, and to encourage civic pride.  This chapter received considerable input from the general public,
various commissions and community groups.  When the public is asked "How would you envision
Flagstaff in 20 years" most replies are about the way the community looks, as it is the first thing people
'envision' in their minds.  This underscores the importance of taking this topic into consideration, as
future growth greatly impacts the character of a community.  Please see the attached power point
presentation for details of the 'Community Character' chapter.

Attachments:  Community Character Presentation
Footnotes
Preface Statement
Parking Lot



1 

Flagstaff City Council 
October 1, 2013 



Regional Plan Elements 
 

17 required elements: 
• Land Use  
• Circulation  
• Open Space  
• Growth Areas  
• Environmental Planning 
• Cost of Development  
• Water Resources  
• Recreation 
• Safety 
• Public Facilities and Services  
• *Energy 
• * Conservation 
• *Public Buildings 
• *Housing  
• *Bicycle 
• *Urban Conservation, Rehabilitation and Redevelopment 
• *Neighborhood Preservation and Revitalization 
 
* new items as added by ARS 

5 optional elements: 
 

• Community Character and 
Design  

• Natural/Cultural Resources 
Planning 

• Economic Development 
• *Historic Preservation 
• *Social 
 

 

Regional Plan Elements  



3 

Chapter VIII. Community Character 



The Regional Plan Vision 
 

4 

The greater Flagstaff community embraces the 
region’s extraordinary cultural and ecological setting 
in the Colorado Plateau through active stewardship 
of the natural and built environments. Residents 
and visitors encourage and advance intellectual, 
environmental, social, and economic vitality for 
today’s citizens and future generations.  



Guiding Principles 
• Environment 
• Prosperity 
• Sustainability 
• People 
• A smart & connected community 
• Place 
• Trust & Transparency 
• Cooperation 

5 

Chapter VIII. Community Character 



1. REGIONAL PLAN OPEN 
HOUSES - Public Comments 

 
2. Regional Plan Focus Group  
Community Character 
October 28, 2010 – Noon to 3:00 p.m. 
Aquaplex 
SWOT Analysis Results – next slide 
 

3. Review of 2001 policies 
– Beautification and Public Art Commission 
– Heritage Preservation Commission 
– Sustainability Cabinet 
– Tourism Commission 
– Neighborhood Groups 
– Chamber / NABA / Realtors 

 
6 

Chapter VIII. Community Character 



7 

Chapter VIII. Community Character 

THE PUBLIC REALM HOW PRIVATE 
DEVELOPMENTS 
EFFECT THE PUBLIC 
SPACE 



8 

Chapter VIII. Community Character 



9 

Chapter VIII. Community Character 

Sub-sections: 
•  Scenic Resources and Natural Setting 

•  Vistas and Viewsheds 

•  “Great Streets” 

•  Heritage Preservation 

•  Community Design 

•  Arts, Science and Education 



10 

Chapter VIII. Community Character 
Scenic Resources and Natural Setting 

Vistas and Viewsheds 



11 

Chapter VIII. Community Character 
“Great Streets” 



12 

Chapter VIII. Community Character 
“Great Streets” 

•  Milton Road 

•  Route 66 

•  Fourth  Street  

•  Ft. Valley Road 

•  US Hwy 89 N 

 

For goals and policies, see Land Use – Activity Centers and Corridors 



13 

Chapter VIII. Community Character 
Heritage Preservation 

►  Cultural Preservation                   

►  Historic Preservation 

 



14 

Chapter VIII. Community Character 
Heritage Preservation 

►  Cultural Preservation                   ►  Historic Preservation 

 



15 

Chapter VIII. Community Character 
Community Design 

►  Urban Design 

►  Neighborhoods 

►   Urban forestry and landscape 

►  Streetscapes and transportation systems 

►  Site Design and Architecture 

►  Parking 

►  Infrastructure 



16 

Chapter VIII. Community Character 
Community Design 



17 

Chapter VIII. Community Character 
Arts, Science and Education 



18 

Schedule Forward 

September 10   Ch. IV – Environment Planning and Conservation and Ch. V - Open Space 

September 17 Ch. VII. - Energy 

September 24 Ch. VI. – Water Resources 

October 1 Ch. VIII.  - Community Character 

October 8 Ch. IX. - Land Use 

October 15 Ch. X – Transportation and Ch. XI - Cost of Development 

October 22 Ch. XII - Public Buildings, Services, Facilities & Safety and Ch. XV  - Recreation 

October 29 Ch. XIII. - Neighborhood, Housing, and Urban Conservation 

November 5 Ch. XIV. - Economic Development 

November 12 Ch. III – Implementation and Appendix D – Annual Report Template 

November 18 Public Hearing #1 – Joint City/County meeting 

December 3 Public Hearing #2  - City Council  [6:00 p.m. 211 West Aspen Avenue]  

December 3 Public Hearing #2 – County [3:00 p.m. in 219 E. Cherry]; 

December 17 Adoption & call for election 

May 20, 2014 General Election – mail-in ballot for General Plan 



 
www.flagstaffmatters.com 

 
 



REGIONAL PLAN MAP/ILLUSTRATION FOOTNOTES 

Current Map Labels 

• Significant Natural Resources (#7): Locating 
natural resources does not preclude private 
development rights.  

• Concentration of Natural Resources (#8): A 
parcel which falls into an area with a 
“Concentration of Natural Resources” DOES 
NOT PRECLUDE PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 
RIGHTS. The intent of this map is to inform 
the community of scientifically significant 
ecological conditions that may exist upon 
the land, NOT to determine specifically 
where development may or may not occur. 
These natural resources do not preclude 
entitlements. 

• Cultural Sensitivity (#12): CULTURAL 
RESOURCES DO NOT PRECLUDE PRIVATE 
DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS. The intent of this 
map is to inform the community that 
significant archaeological sites may exist 
upon the land.  

• Heritage Resources (#13): Does not 
preclude private development rights. 

• Future Growth Illustrations (#19/20): The 
Future Growth Illustration defines the 
geographic locations of area types and 
place types, showing spatial relationship of 
existing and future development. This 
illustration is intended to be used in 
conjunction with the Natural Environment 
Maps and the Transportation Illustration. 
“Areas on the Illustration shown as white 
will retain their existing entitlements. For 
example, State Trust Land would retain its 1 
residential unit per acre density 
entitlement.” 

• City-Scale Future Growth Illustration (#20): 
Does not diminish private development 
rights.  

 

 

Suggested Map Labels 

Pertaining to: Natural Resources (#7/8)  
Cultural Sensitivity (#12)  
Heritage Resources (#13) 
Drainage Basins (#9) 
 

• “The presence of natural, cultural, and 
heritage resources does not preclude 
private development entitlements.”  

Pertaining to:  Great Streets & Gateways (#14)     
Development Potential of Vacant 
Parcels (#18) 
Future Growth Illustrations (#19/20) 
 Downtown Regulating Plan (#21) 
 Activity Centers (#22) 
Transitions Map (#23)  
Road Network Illustration (#25)  
Planned Transit Service Levels (#26) 
 

• “Future growth illustrations and plans do 
not preclude private development 
entitlements.” 
 

Maps that may not necessitate a footnote label: 

Existing Land Management Areas & Boundaries (#6) 

Stormwater Facilities (#10) 

Growth from 2000 – 2012 (#15) 

Existing Land Ownership (#16) 

Public Utilities (#24) 

Flagstaff Urban Trail System (#27) 

Public Facilities (#28/29/30) 

 

*All new and existing map footnotes were modified to provide consistency 



FLAGSTAFF REGIONAL PLAN 

The Regional Plan is a planning document that serves as a roadmap for the community. It is a toolbox 
designed to be used to implement the community’s vision. It does not provide specific criteria; develop-
ment criteria and standards are located in other documents such as the Flagstaff Zoning Code. 

This Plan should be viewed as a guide by residents, elected officials, and visitors to better understand 
the community’s future vision for the area. The goals, policies, maps, and illustrations within this plan 
do not preclude any property owner from using their private development rights.



The Regional Plan provides direction for a balanced community. This Plan should be viewed as a toolbox 
for residents, elected officials, and visitors to guide the community’s future vision for the area. 

This Plan does not negate any existing private property rights.

FLAGSTAFF REGIONAL PLAN 



Item# Page # Source Edit/Comment N
o

 

C
h

a
n

g
e

 

N
e

e
d

e
d

C
h

a
n

g
e

 

Im
p

le
m

e

n
te

d
 i

n
 

F
in

a
l 

V
o

te
r 

D
ra

ft

September 3, 2013 Council Meeting - Introduction
1 Jeff Oravits Purpose of the Regional Plan

2 Jeff Oravits Clearly define if this is a policy document (and what that means) or is this a guidebook (and what that 

means)

3 Jeff Oravits Vision - come back and revisit at end

4 Jeff Oravits Guiding Principles - come back and revisit at end

5 Jeff Oravits Sustainable Flagstaff - come back and revist at end

6 Coral Evans Introduction, p. 11-12 "Where We've Been" last paragraph:  statement of who makes up the 

community needs to more accurately reflect the diverse popoulation who helped build this town.

September 10, 2013 Council Meeting - Chapter 4 & 5
1 IV-13 Mayor Nabours Dark Skies - 1) restricting economic "activity centers" in any area designated as Lighting Zone 1 

enacted to protect astronomical institutions.  Check to be sure languange in this section is clear.

2 Preface Mayor Nabours Need for a preface the the whole document similar to the note on Maps 7 & 8 for the whole document 

"that any word or phrase is not intended to become a rule"

3 Throughout Jeff Oravits Removing definitive language throughout document.  He referenced text as well as goals and policies.  

Guide with suggestions.  Example is restricting activity centers in Zone 1.

4 I-4 Mayor Nabours Pyramid - definition of policy - definitive course of action

5 I-4 Celia Barotz Include defintion of Ordinance - and what happens when policies conflict

6 Celia Barotz
Land Use - example of two conflicting goals and policies - one will prevail over the other - how we use 

the language.

7 Mark Woodson Use of the word "all" -pretty manditory - 

8 IV-13 Mark Woodson Enforce dark sky ordinances -don't think this is the proper way to reinforce - redundant

9 IV-9 Coral Evans Reword box at bottom of page - "why do we choose… not why do developers"

10 IV-15 Coral Evans Do we really want to refer to 4FRI

11 Kevin Burke Definition of Conservation Land System - who would establish and manage

12 Throughout Jeff Oravits Visions - need to add protection of private property rights

13 IV-8 & 9 Jeff Oravits Considerations for development would be best in an appendix

14 IV-10 Jeff Oravits Do not want to discourage the use of wood burning stoves

15
IV-12

Jeff Oravits
Last paragraph before goals and policies - confirms that everyone wants to leave in a compact 

community

16 IV-12 Jeff Oravits Policy E&C.3.2 (climate change impacts) and Policy E&C.4.2 (climate change and water resources)

17 IV-13 Jeff Oravits text - addressing non-conforming lighting - is there a prop 207 issue

18 IV-15 Jeff Oravits Policy E&C.6.5 (preserving wetlands) property rights issues - what is inappropriate development

19 IV-19 Jeff Oravits Policy E&C.10.3 - language too definitive

20 V-1 Jeff Oravits Open Space Vision for the Future - review for property rights

21 V-2 Jeff Oravits 2nd paragraph - cause conflicts with development because of watershed issues

22 V-4 Jeff Oravits Flag whole page - Applying an Open Space Plan, partners, members of CAC

23 V-5 Jeff Oravits All Goals and Policies

24 V-6 Jeff Oravits Should this be in an appendix

25 Coral Evans

Instead of changing each section about property rights - do something on the first page - simple basic 

statement - take away/reduce/diminish personal or individual property rights -especially if we are trying 

to shorten the document

September 17, 2013 Council Meeting - Chapter 7 Energy
1 VII-5 Mark Woodson Policy  E.2.3 replace "develop City and County" with Promote

2 VII-3 Mark Woodson Policy E.1.7 end sentance at consumption

3 VII-3 Mark Woodson Policy E.1.6 end sentence at energy efficiency

4 Throughout Mark Woodson Most policies could be broadened as the proposed edits above do

5
VII-5

Mayor Nabours
Policy E.2.4 rewards and encourages accessory wind energy systems - but there is a potential for 

neighborhood issues.  How can we say no we won't allow one with this type of policy.

6 VII-3 Mayor Nabours Policy E.1.6, E.1.8, E.1.9 the language is too definitive - says we will do these things- not maybe

7
Throughout

Mayor Nabours
A preface could be developed that states that words like develop and promote are not directions to 

take a particular action.

8 VII-3 Jeff Oravits Policies E.1.6 - 1.9 change the language from develop/support/incorporate to encourage/consider

September 24, 2013 Council Meeting - Chapter 6 Water Resources

1
VI-16

Mayor Nabours
Review Health District information on adding policy in regards to mosquitto prevention/abatement. 

"WR.5.8 Reduce mosquito populations in residential areas by removing standing water."

2 VI-8 Mayor Nabours 12% potable water loss  - goal or policy that covers reducing water loss through leakage

3 VI-8 Jeff Oravits Add policy addressing identifying and developing and tranportation of new water supplies

4 VI-13 Jeff Oravits Water Demand should also address new supplies 

5 VI-13 Jeff Oravits WR.3.2 adjust word favor - what about business who bring resource or pay for resources

6 Jeff Oravits Address water usage by pine trees - thinning in relation to water usage

7 VI-13 Jeff Oravits WR.3.4 where appropriate and "practical"

8 VI-16 Jeff Oravits WR.5.2 add "when practical"

Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030

Council Parking Lot 

Updated 9/27/2013


	Agenda
	Item04_A  Minutes
	ATT.CCWS.09102013.Minutes
	ATT.CCRM.09172013.Minutes
	MINUTES
	REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING

	ATT.CCSM.09242013.Minutes
	ATT.CCWS.09242013.Minutes
	Item07_A  Personnel Board Appointments
	ATT.Personnel Board Roster
	ATT.Personnel Board Authority Ordinance 1116
	ATT.Personnel Board Authority Ordinance 1146
	ATT.Personnel Board Authority Ordinance 1198
	ATT.Personnel Board Applicant Roster
	ATT.Personnel Board Applications
	Item07_B  Board of Adjustment Appointments
	ATT.Board of Adjustment Roster
	ATT.Board of Adjustment Authority
	ATT.Board of Adjustment Applicant Roster
	ATT.Board of Adjustment Applications
	Item07_C  Beautification & Public Art Commission Appointments
	ATT.BPAC Roster
	ATT.BPAC Authority
	ATT.BPAC Applicant Roster
	ATT.BPAC Applicant Matrix
	ATT.BPAC Applications
	Item09_A  Cooperative Bulk Unleaded fuel bid 2014-04 to Pro Petroleum 
	ATT.Unleaded bid link 
	Item09_B  Brannen Homes Roof Replacement
	ATT.Brannen Roofs
	ATT.Building Numbers
	ATT.PO 3242
	Item09_C  457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan
	ATT.Res. No. 2013-24
	ATT.Exhibit A - Adoption Agreement
	ATT.Exhibit B - Plan Document
	Item10_A  Amendment _1 - Intergovernmental Agreement between ADOT and City of Flagstaff for Pine Knoll Drive Safe Routes to School Project 
	ATT.IGA_JPA Amendment _1
	ATT.Project Vicinity Map
	Item10_B  FAA AIP 36 Grant Agreement for Westplex Taxi Lanes Reconstruction Project
	ATT.Grant Agreement FAA AIP _36-Rehabilitate Taxiway
	ATT.Location Map
	Item10_C  FAA - Airport Sustainablity Master Plan Grant
	ATT.Airport Sustainablity Master Plan Grant Agreement
	Item10_D  Northern Arizona Public Employees Benefit Trust (NAPEBT) Wellness Incentive Program
	ATT.NAPEBT Wellness Incentive Program
	ATT.FY 2012-2013 Year End Report
	ATT.Wellness Incentive Program Information Packet
	Item14_A  Res. 2013-25 - Immigration Reform
	ATT.Res. 2013-25
	Item15_A  Discusson on the City of Flagstaff Redevelopment and Infill Policy Decision Points
	ATT.White Paper
	Item15_B  Regional Plan Discussion _5 - Ch. VIII. Community Character
	ATT.Community Character Presentation
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Guiding Principles
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Slide Number 19

	ATT.Footnotes
	ATT.Preface Statement
	ATT.Parking Lot

